MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY/
TIRZ#2
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
NOVEMBER 20, 2025



e

midtown
HOUSTON

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
and

REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS
(ALSO KNOWN AS THE MIDTOWN REINVESTMENT ZONE)

TO: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AND
THE MIDTOWN REINVESTMENT ZONE AND TO ALL OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS:

Notice is hereby given that the Board of Directors of the Midtown Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) will
hold a joint special meeting, open to the public, with the Board of Directors of the Midtown Reinvestment Zone on
Thursday, November 20, 2025, at 12:30 p.m. at 410 Pierce Street, 15t Floor Conference Room (enter at the Pierce
St. and Brazos St. door), Houston, Texas 77002.

The meeting location will be open to the public during open portions of the meeting. Members of the public may
attend and/or offer comments in person as provided on the agenda and as permitted by the presiding officer during
the meeting, or may view the meeting through the following link:

https://midtownhouston.com/event/mra-board-meeting-2511/

Click big blue button “TEAMs Meeting Link”

Meeting ID: 247 576 862 826

Passcode: GddGFQ

Or dial in by phone and enter the phone ID when prompted
Phone: +1 872-256-8243

Phone ID 355 736 852#

The Board of Directors of each of the Authority and the Midtown Reinvestment Zone will (i) consider, present and
discuss orders, resolutions or motions; (ii) adopt, approve and ratify such orders, resolutions or motions; and
(iii) take other actions as may be necessary, convenient or desirable, with respect to the following matters:
AGENDA
1. Call to Order, Introduction of Guests and Board Comments

2. Public Comment

3. Consent Agenda for the Midtown Reinvestment Zone
a. Minutes for October 23, 2025

4. Consent Agenda for the Authority
a. Minutes for October 23, 2025
b. Monthly financial reports for October 31, 2025

5. Fiscal Year 2025 Budget


https://midtownhouston.com/event/mra-board-meeting-2511/

10.

11.

In accordance with the requirements of Section 551.043(c)(1) of the Texas Government Code, as amended,
the proposed fiscal year 2025 budget is accessible on the home page of the Authority’s Internet website
through the following link: https://midtownhouston.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/11/Budget.pdf

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 551.043(c)(2) of the Texas Government Code, the
Authority hereby provides the following taxpayer impact statement:

The Midtown Redevelopment Authority is not a taxing unit as defined by Section 1.04, Texas Tax Code,
and has no authority to impose ad valorem taxes on property. For a median-valued homestead property,
adoption of the proposed budget does not have an effect on the property tax bill in dollars pertaining to the
property for the current fiscal year as compared to an estimate of the property tax bill in dollars for the same
property for the upcoming fiscal year.

MRA Board Governance and Committee Composition Discussion

Affordable Housing Program
a. Affordable Housing Operations Campus and Related Administrative Matters
b. Grant Agreement with Boynton Houston Community Development Corporation—Extension
Project Completion Date and Conveyance of 2406 Live Oak Street in exchange for 3224
Rosalie Street

Capital Improvements Program
a. Street Overlay and Sidewalk Program
b., Urban Redevelopment Plan
i. Professional Services Agreement — Arup US, Inc.
c, FIFA World Cup 2026

i. Landscape Architecture Additional Services Request - OJB

Executive Director
a. Affordable Housing
b. HueMan:Shelter

Development Agreement with Pearl Residences at Midtown Owner, LLC

With respect to the foregoing agenda items, the Authority may conduct an executive session with regards
to the following, as appropriate and necessary:

a. Consultation with attorney (Section 551.071, Texas Government Code);

b. The purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property (Section 551.072, Texas
Government Code);

c. Personnel matters (Section 551.074, Texas Government Code);

d. Security personnel or devices (Section 551.076, Texas Government Code); and

e. Economic development negotiations (Sections 551.087, Texas Government Code).

Upon entering into the executive session, the presiding officer shall announce which agenda items will be

C/\/\/\\_/\

Executive Director MT/ks

Adjourn.



https://midtownhouston.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/11/Budget.pdf

LN

midtown
HOUSTON

ZONE CONSENT AGENDA
MINUTES



MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS

October 23, 2025

A special meeting g
City of Houston

the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Reinvestment Zone Number Two,
was held at 410 Pierce Street, First Floor Conference Room, Houston,
deo conference on Thursday, October 23, 2025, at 12:30 p.m. The

Pos. # Name

Christopher M. Johnston
Chris Williams
James Gilford
Zoe Middleton

©O© oo~N®

and all of the above were prese location except Director Lewis, who
attended via video conference.

In attendance were Authority staff M ‘
Jeremy Rocha, David Thomas, Kaylée illiams ris Salinas and Madison
Walkes; Sharita Bohanna, Jaime Giraldo and C idtown Management
District; Barron Wallace and Mary Buzak of Brg on of The Morton
Accounting Services; Jessica Ortiz and Hector Ingram; Amanda
Hansen and Jay Hickman of the Amanda Hanse
Haley of CCPPI; Roberta Burroughs of Roberta F
Design Workshop; Rachel Ray of Walter P Moore;
Kamal Rasheed of Rashieyed Engineering; Jennifer Curley and Corey Glenn o
Houston; Kelly Young of the Coalition for the Homeless; Jennifer Gribble of Super
62; Bruce W. Frankel of Frankel Development Group; Lauren Avioli of NHP F
Ollison of Beulah Land Church; Anton Edwards of Houston Habitat for Hu : Malek Bohsali
of Value Realty; Mike Morris of the Houston Chronicle; and Rev. Jason

In attendance via video conference were Authority staff member Sally Adame; Chrystal Davis of
the Midtown Management District; Lorenzo Salinas and Angie Gomez of CCPPI; Lynda Guidry of
Super Neighborhood 62; Olivia Christina Bush of Houston Habitat for Humanity; LaTisha Grant of
TAS Realty Group; Gracie Padron of Padron & Co.; and Hugh Martinez.

Director Douglas called the meeting to order.

MINUTES FOR AUGUST 19, 2025




Director Middleton made a motion to approve the minutes for August 19, 2025. The motion was
seconded by Director Lewis and unanimously approved.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

a closed executive session.

The Board did

g no further busingéss to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned.

Camille Foster, Assistant Secretary




AUTHORIT
AGEN

>




MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

October 23, 2025

A special meeting of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Midtown Redevelopment
Authority (the “Authority”) was held at 410 Pierce Street, First Floor Conference Room,
Houston, Texa 02 and via video conference Thursday, October 23, 2025, at 12:30

Pos. # Name

Christopher M. Johnston
Chris Williams
James Gilford
Zoe Middleton

(6 B¢~ V)
©O© oo ~N®

and all of the above were presg
who attended via video confer

Midtown Management District; Barron Wall Bracewell LLP;
tor Maldonado
of Carr, Riggs & Ingram; Amanda Hansen & da Hansen
Group; Bob Bradford, Algenita Davis and Sean
Roberta F. Burroughs and Associates; Alex Ramirez of Design
Walter P Moore; Carol Harrison of IDS Engineering Group; Kamal Rasheed o
Engineering; Jennifer Curley and Corey Glenn of the City of Houston; Kel
Coalition for the Homeless; Jennifer Gribble of Super Neighborhood 62;
of Frankel Development Group; Lauren Avioli of NHP Foundation; R
Trinity East Village CDC; Jermaine Potter of Daggett Developmen ; Dr. Ruth Ollison
of Beulah Land Church; Anton Edwards of Houston Habitat for H nity; Malek Bohsali
of Value Realty; Mike Morris of the Houston Chronicle; and Rev. Jason Moreno.

arilyn .White of

In attendance via video conference were Authority staff member Sally Adame; Chrystal
Davis of the Midtown Management District; Lorenzo Salinas and Angie Gomez of CCPPI,
Lynda Guidry of Super Neighborhood 62; Olivia Christina Bush of Houston Habitat for
Humanity; LaTisha Grant of TAS Realty Group; Gracie Padron of Padron & Co.; and Hugh
Martinez.

Director Douglas called the meeting to order.

1



PUBLIC COMMENT

Jermaine Potter of Daggett Development LLC spoke about his request to obtain additional
funding for infrastructure costs and/or approval to restructure the Modern Palms
affordable housing development to include market-rate homes as well as income-
restricted and salgyprice-restricted homes.

MONTHLY FI OR AUGUST 31, 2025 AND SEPTEMBER
30, 2025

CONTRACTUAL REI RICE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
PURSUANT TO AND | IH DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Director Middleton requested the re 4.c., the contractual
he consent agenda

as presented. The motion was second
unanimous vote.

Marlon Marshall, Sr. Director of Engineering and Strategic Develop
an overview of the development agreement between the Authogi
noted that he will request that Rice provide an update on the
lon District to the Board.

Director Lewis made a motion to approve the contractual reimbursement to Rice
Management Company pursuant to and in accordance with development
agreement. The motion was seconded by Director Fontaine and passed by a vote
of 5-1, with Director Middleton voting no and Director Williams abstaining from the
vote.

INVESTMENT REPORT FOR QUARTER ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2025




Melissa Morton of The Morton Accounting Services presented the written investment
report for the quarter ending September 30, 2025.

Director Lewis made a motion to approve the investment report for the quarter ending
September 30, 2025. The motion was seconded by Director Robinson and carried by
unanimous vote.

Hector Mz Riggs & Ingram presented the audit for fiscal year 2025.

on to approve the audit for fiscal year 2025 audit. The motion
obinson and carried by unanimous vote.

\ BANCE AGREEMENT RELATED TO ION
PARKING GARAGE E N WILLIAM MARSH RICE UNIVERSITY,

MIDTOWN ORITY, ION DISTRICT PARKING
MANAGEMENT SE EATRE UNDER THE STARS

Mary Buzak of Bracewell LLP/pre itiom and non-disturbance agreement
relating to the lon parking garag ich_is the Authority and operated and

COALITION FOR THE HOMELESS PRESENTATION

Kelly Young of the Coalition for the Homeless made a presentati nd answered

questions from the Board.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM

AFFORDABLE HOUSING OPERATIONS CAMPUS AND RELATED
ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

Mr. Marshall reported that Honeycomb Clinic, the new first floor tenant at One
Emancipation Center, has commenced operations.



RECOMMENDATION REGARDING THE MAXIMUM SALE PRICE OF FOUR
SINGLE-FAMILY HOMES TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY EPIC HOMES. LLC

Ms. Buzak reported that due to increased development and construction costs,
Epic Homes LLC has requested an increase in the maximum sale price of four
single-family affordable homes to be constructed on Midtown lots for sale to
qualified hemebuyers. recommended that the Board approve an increase in the
maximuag price of these homes from $220,000 to $247,500.

CPPI responded to questions from the Board regarding the
price increase and the methodology by which the Authority’s
onsultants evaluate such requests from developers.

Community Development Corporation (TEVCDC) presented an overvie
East Village, a multi-family transit oriented affordable housing rental
will consist of at least 148 units, including 90 units for seniors a

constructed in
n period for each

contribute three Authority-owned lots to the project, which wi
two phases. TEVCDC has requested an extension of the
phase to facilitate the financing and construction of the proj

Director Middleton made a motion to approve extending the option period for the
Trinity East Village senior phase to June 1, 2026, and for the Trinity East Village
family phase to December 31, 2026. The motion was seconded by Director
Fontaine and carried by unanimous vote.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM



STREET OVERLAY AND SIDEWALK PROGRAM

URBAN REDEVELOPMENT PLAN

These items were tabled.

ARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER,

LLC
This item was tabled.

RETAIL REAL ESTATE UPD OPMENT GROUP

This item was tabled.
ADJOURN

There being no further business to come bef;

Camille Foster,

Date



AGENDA OF OCTOBER 23, 2025

[attached]




e

midtown
HOUSTON

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
and

TO: TORS OF THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AND

Notice is hereb
hold a joint special'mee
Thursday, October 23, 2025, a
St. and Brazos St. door) Hous

The meeting location will be*open to the |
attend and/or offer comments in person a
the meeting, or may view the meeting the

g open portions of the meeting. Members of the public may
ovided on the agenda and as permitted by the presiding officer during
gh the following links

https://midtownhouston.com/event/mra

Click big blue button “TEAMs Meeting Lin

Meeting ID: 247 576 862 826

Passcode: GddGFQ

Or dial in by phone and enter the phone ID when pro
Phone: +1 872-256-8243

Phone ID 355 736 852#

The Board of Directors of each of the Authority and the Midtown Reinvestment Zone will (i) consi

discuss orders, resolutions or motions; (ii) adopt, approve and ratify such orders, resolution
(i) take other actions as may be necessary, convenient or desirable, with respect to the follo

AGENDA

—_

Call to Order, Introduction of Guests and Board Comments
2. Public Comment

3. Consent Agenda for the Midtown Reinvestment Zone
a. Minutes for August 19, 2025

4. Consent Agenda for the Authority
a. Minutes for August 19, 2025
b. Monthly financial reports for August 31, 2025 and September 30, 2025
c. Contractual Reimbursement to Rice Management Company pursuant to and in accordance with
Development Agreement


https://midtownhouston.com/event/mra-board-meeting-2510/

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Investment Report for Quarter Ending September 30, 2025

Audit FY 2025

Recognition and Non-Disturbance Agreement related to lon District Parking Garage by and between
William Marsh Rice University, Midtown Redevelopment Authority, lon District Management Services LLC
and Theatre Under the Stars

egarding the maximum sale price of four single-family homes to be

Homes, LLC

ing conveyance of a tract of land at 2406 Live Oak Street to Boynton
ament Corporation and the reconveyance of a tract of land at 3212

constructed by
Recommendatj

Trinity East Village Community Development Corporation

Executive Director
a. Affordable Housing
b. HueMan:Shelter
c. FIFA Word Cup 2026

Development Agreement with Pearl Residences a
Retail Real Estate Update — Frankel Development
session with regards

With respect to the foregoing agenda items, the A
to the following, as appropriate and necessary:

a. Consultation with attorney (Section 551.071, Texas Government

b. The purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property
Government Code);

c. Personnel matters (Section 551.074, Texas Government Code);

d. Security personnel or devices (Section 551.076, Texas Government Co

e. Economic development negotiations (Sections 551.087, Texas Gover,

(Section Texas

Upon entering into the executive session, the presiding officer shall annou hich agenda items will be

discussed.

Adjourn

Matt Thibodeaux \_’/g

Executive Director MT/ks




FINANCIALS



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Profit & Loss
July through October 2025

Jul - Oct 25
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
400000 - Revenue & Support
400025 - Interest-Debt Service & Reserve 101,017.04
400026 - Interest-Other Bond Funds 74.44
400029 - Interest - Affordable Housing 165,188.70
400030 - Interest-Operating Funds 340,956.50
400031 - Interest Income 6,841.12
400040 - 3131 EMANCIPATION 231,588.75
- Affordable Housing Apts Units 43,182.94
- 402 & 410 Tenant Inome 73,179.27
00000 - Revenue & Support 962,028.76
271,762.16
josk Lease 15,500.00
1,249,290.92
1,249,290.92
2,347.50
123,572.35
-20,000.00

Total 504008 105,919.85

Total 500000 - BOND FUND ,919.85

510000 - INCREMENT PROJE
510008 - T-0220 Afford Housj

510019 - T-0214 Caroline S
510024 - T-0204 Infrastruc/Street Li
510040 - Developer Reimbursem
510041 - CIP Program Expenses

510043 - T-0234 Parks & Open Space & Mob 25,245.18
510045 - T-0224 HTC | - Bldg Maintenance 99,332.92
510046 - T-0221 Midtown Pk

510096 - T-0207 Opr of Zone Prj Faciliti
510102 - HMAAC Interest Expense
510400 - Kiosk at Bagby Park

510534 - T-0225 Mobility & Pedest Imprv
510700 - Municipal Services Costs

510710 - Municipal Services Supplemental 10,628.80
510700 - Municipal Services Costs - Other 9,580.00
Total 510700 - Municipal Services Costs 20,208.80
Total 510000 - INCREMENT PROJECTS/EXP... 1,677,089.81
550000 - General & Admin. Expense
550002 - Contract Labor 5,607.00
550003 - Rent Expense 3,600.00
550004 - Salaries 729,619.61

No assurance is provided on these financial statements



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Profit & Loss
July through October 2025

Jul - Oct 25

550006 - Advertising & Promotions 12,896.43

550007 - Courier Service 333.20

550008 - Office Supply & Expense 13,811.13

550010 - Telephone & Utilities 2,880.27

550012 - Postage 97.98

550022 - Bank Charges & Fees 11,224.69

550023 - Trust Expenses 3,195.00

- Professional Services 7,677.50

- Accounting Consultants 124,727.99

- Financial Audit 42,500.00

- Legal Consultants 224,770.50

- Admin Insurance 609.12

ing Consultants 63,962.07

Bldg Maintenance 87.49

ing Consultants 19,576.96

Fees/Other Consult 48,429.50

3,257.65

2,887.26

27,351.21

pairs & Maint 26,637.55

ance 4,797 .11

550045 - 10,837.75

550046 - 444,24

550058 - 1,359.72

550061 - 124.84
Total 55000 1,393,303.77

Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income

Net Income

No assurance is provided on these financial statements



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Balance Sheet
As of October 31, 2025

Oct 31, 25
ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings

101001 - Wells Fargo Ope Acctg 64040 232,821.20
101002 - Infrastructure Projects 1731 177,181.94
101003 - Texas Capital Operating x 6020 1,172,213.52
- Texas Capital MM x 6052 69,424.40
- WF Surplus Acct 63943 5,325,859.29
- WF FTA Enhanced Path 63919 61.89
ells Fargo 1094 424,186.02
pgic Operating Account 19,831,703.60
xStar Operating Acct 1111 8,094.35
lls Fargo Oper Inves 63901 307.61
Operating Saving 3215777180 46,207.46

4,638,220.85

354.59

12,467.09

693,329.34

2,345.16

9,795,572.68

398,871.33

105002 -
105003 -

105009 - Austin Park Maint. Fund 4

107000 - BOND FUNDS

Total 105000 - Trustee Investment:
Total Checking/Savings
Accounts Receivable
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

Fixed Assets
150000 - Fixed Assets

150010 - Office Furniture & Equipment
150011 - Accumluated Depreciation-Furn.
150020 - Computer Equipment
150021 - Accumulated Depreciation-Comp.
150040 - Land - JPI Park
150045 - Walgreens/Lui Park Land
150062 - Land - Houston Tech.Center |
150063 - Houston Tech Center |
150064 - Accm Deprec-Houston Tech Cntr |
150065 - Land - HTC Phase |I
150066 - Houston Tech Center I
150067 - Accum.Deprec. HTC Phase |
150069 - Land - Bagby Park
150070 - BagbyPark
150071 - Accum.Deprec. BagbyPark

15,541,161.04

2,098,765.18
6,282,614.21
,038,077.92

,257,895.
316,660.01

,129.62
-56,516.45
62,956.03
-44,073.36
736,911.00
141,000.00
798,053.89
2,676,862.62
-2,676,862.62
697,219.00
3,115,070.07
-2,704,503.91
1,318,870.15
2,453,218.83
-1,886,622.81

No assurance is provided no these financial statements



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Balance Sheet
As of October 31, 2025

Oct 31, 25

150075 - Midtown Park 2905 Travis St
150078 - Midtown Park Land-Tracts | & Il

1500783
1500784
1500785
150078A -

D781

150805

Total 150080 - Land (Resale)

150080A -
150089 -
150090 -
150091
150098 -
150099
150100 - 2
150782A -

150000 - Fixed Assets - Other
Total 150000 - Fixed Assets

Total Fixed Assets

Other Assets

150081 -
150082 -
150803 -
150804 -
- AFFORD HOUS GRA
150080 -

Land HMAAC (Land)
HMAAC Property

- Accum Depr HMAAC
Rice-lon Garage Asset
- Accum Depr - ION Parking Garage

- Accum Deprec-Works of Art
- Acc Depr Office Housng & Garage
- Accum Depreciation - Bagby Park

Midtown (Superblock) Garage

- Midtown (Superblockj) Park
- Midtown Garage - Depreciable As

- Acc Depre - Midtown Garage
- Midtown Garage - Depreciable As - Other

8C - Midtown Garage - Depreciable As

idtown Park - Depreciable Asse
pre Mldtown Park

Land (Resale) - Other

Land Held for Resale

800 MAIN
Acc Depr Midtown Park Phase 2-3

3,506,306.26
4,416,996.74
-310,838.65
-2,564,957.34
-314,936.60
13,784.20
5,299,848.40

-3,465,734.32

23,104,895.00

19,639,160.68

-4,879,719.06

19,094,553.00

14,214,833.94

1,002,054.00
5,506,202.00
1,049,784.00
27,074,672.44

-5,506,202.00
1,137,027.00

-15,946.09
5,000.00
103,280.05

180500 - Leases
180510 - Lease Receivable

180530 - Deferred Inflow

Total 180500 - Leases

159,244,354.24

6,316,207.74

-5,787,157.19

529,050.55

Total Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

529,050.55

218,349,623.32

No assurance is provided no these financial statements



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Balance Sheet
As of October 31, 2025

Oct 31, 25

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

Other Current Liabilities
200001 - Current Liablities

D006 - Property Tax Liability
)0 - Prepaid Rental Income Liab
Current Loan Liabilities

266,911.45

785,450.03

125,410.82
11,292.06
4,505,000.00

3,500.00

5,430,652.91

Total 210400 - ION Garage
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity

1110 - Retained Earnings
Net Income

5,697,564.36

32,625,000.00
2,600,121.00
1,256,000.00
6,410,000.00

19,595,000.00

62,486,121.00

1,818,908.00
1,613,773.00
329,667.00

-1.927.022.51

Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

112,403,589.

No assurance is provided no these financial statements




Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Operating Disbursements
As of November 15, 2025

Date Num Name Memo Credit
101003 - Texas Capital Operating x 6020
10/22/202 12045 Bracewell LLP 97,348.75
10/22/202 12046 Design Workshop, Inc. Houston Midtown District Work Order#1 Project 0068786.00 SEP... 9,367.50
10/22/202 12047 Flextg Financial Services CANNON/IR-C57501 OCTOBER 2025 1,204.95
10/22/202 12048 Gauge Engineering Project 2501667-0000 Work Order No. 1 Through September 26,... 5,609.76
10/22/202 12049 Kayler Williams Reimbursements September 2025 17.35
10/22/202 12050 Midtown Parks Conservancy 6,980.16
10/22/202 12051 ater Transport Services La Calle Tacos: Grease Trap Pumping & Cleaning - October 2025 292.68
10/22/202 12052 COTSMAN, INC Customer # 10460287 Rental Period 10.01.2025 - 10.31.2025 437.24

10/22/202 12053 i al Insurance Agency 4807 Caroline 3,466.00
10/22/202 12054 i VOID: Reimbursement Request for the lon District Infrastructure
10/24/202 ACH 402 PIERCE ST - 75237953-7 OCTOBER 2025 5,910.52
10/24/202 410 PIERCE STREET - 75237956-0 OCT 2025 4,987.33
10/24/202 PR 10/31/2025 103,570.37
10/29/202 Bracewell LLP Capital Improvement Project -March 31, 2025 4,293.75
10/29/202 Goode Technolog System Support September 2025 2,706.25
10/29/20. ) Kwik Kopy 791.00
10/29/202 3 Lion Heart Project 043-001 Midtown Work order 1 - 09.30.2025 6,560.94
10/29/202 Purchase E Postage OCTOBER 2025 97.98
10/29/202 Staples Office supplies 10.25.25 1,598.15
10/29/202 r : CAP Midtown October 2025 10,628.80
10/29/202 gust 2025 CPA Services 29,569.12
10/29/202 12063 ance Premium Property Insurance 4807 Caroline Street 13,863.30
10/30/202 12064 bursement Request for the lon District Infrastructure 274,524.85
11/05/202 12065 Amanda s Communications and Public Relations Retainer - October ... 15,500.00
11/05/202 12066 0 SERVICE Ste #355 to NOVEMBER 29, 2025 298.61
11/05/202 12067 VIRA Reimbursable Expenses for WF CC Charges Sept 14 - Oct ... 1,599.72
11/12/202 12068 Condor Express Delivery, | Delivery & Delivery Return October 2025 128.15
11/12/202 12069 Goode Systems & Consultj 10,307.80
11/12/202 12070 Kayler Williams 56.21
11/12/202 12071 The Goodman Corporatio] 41,886.65
11/12/202 12072 WILLIAMS SCOTSMAN, 87 Rental Period 11.01.2025 - 11.30.2025 526.07
11/12/202 12073 Wulfe & Co. 6,800.00
Total 101003 - Texas Capital Operating x 6020 660,929.96
TOTAL

660,929.96

No assurance is provided on these financial statements



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Affordable Housing Disbursements
As of November 15, 2025

Date Num Name Memo Credit
104000 - Affordable Housing Accounts
104024 - Texas Capital AH Ops x 6028
10/22/2025 5122 Bracewell LLP Third Ward Acquisitions/Affordable Housing Legal - Thr... 32,325.00
10/24/2025 ACH City of Houston - Water 155065 25.62
10/24/2025 ACH City of Houston - Water 155065 24.35
10/24/2025 ACH City of Houston - Water 155065 1.09
10/24/2025 ACH i Houston - Water 155065 7.08
10/24/2025 ACH ouston - Water 155065 26.77
10/24/2025 ACH ton - Water 155065 25.62
10/24/2025 on - Water 155065 3.69
10/24/2025 - Water 155065 8.40
10/24/2025 Water 155065 24.35
10/24/2025 Water 155065 32.82
10/24/20 155065 26.01
10/24/20 155065 25.62
10/24/202 155065 3.53
10/24/2025 155065 30.57
10/24/2025 155065 30.20
10/24/2025 City 5065 27.28
10/29/2025 Four Elevep dscape Services September 2025 26,578.12
10/29/2025 5124 ject: Midtown Affordable Housing Plan - Impl Srvs ... 8,000.00
11/05/2025 5125 1,981.00
11/12/2025 5126 3246 Beulah Street Repairs 4,286.00
Total 104024 - Texas Capital AH Ops x 6028 73,493.12
Total 104000 - Affordable Housing Accounts 73,493.12
TOTAL

No assurance is provided on these financial statements

73,493.12



FY 20235

In accordance with the requirements of Section 551.043(c)(
proposed fiscal year 2025 budget is accessible on the home page of the Authority’s Internet w
following link: https://midtownhouston.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/11/Budget.pdf

In order to comply with the requirements of Section 551.043(c)(2) of the Texas Gove thority
hereby provides the following taxpayer impact statement:
The Midtown Redevelopment Authority is not a taxing unit as defined by Sectio Texas Tax Code, and has
no authority to impose ad valorem taxes on property. For a median-valued hom
proposed budget does not have an effect on the property tax bill in dollars pertaining to the property for the current
fiscal year as compared to an estimate of the property tax bill in dollars for the same property for the upcoming
fiscal year.



CITY OF HOUSTON Fund Summary

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION Fund Name: Midtown Redevelopment Authority
FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET DETAIL TIRZ: 02
Fund Number: 7550/50
TIRZ Budget Line Items FY2024 Budget FY2024 Estimate FY2025 Budget
RESOURCES
RESTRICTED Funds - Capital Projects $ 15,401,310 | $ 9,433,385 | $ 27,288,298
RESTRICTED Funds - Affordable Housing $ 10,083,335 | $ 8,257,602 | $ 2,865,579
RESTRICTED Funds - Bond Debt Service $ 18,482,795 | $ 14,189,415 | $ 5,331,491
Beginning Balance $ 43,967,440 | $ 31,880,402 | $ 35,485,368
City tax revenue $ 13,007,982 | $ 13,007,982 | $ 12,902,159
County tax revenue $ -1$ -1$ -
ISD tax revenue $ 12,203,677 | $ 12,203,677 | $ 12,203,677
$ 6,979,916 | $ 6,979,916 | $ 6,979,916
$ 2,012,110 | $ 2,012,110 | $ 2,012,110
$ 34,203,685 34,203,685 34,097,862
$ 633,000 | $ 632,824 | $ 853,000
$ 40,000 | $ 24,327 | $ 40,000
$ -1$ 50,000 | $ 50,000
$ -8 245202 | $ 282,094
Miscellaneous $ 673,000 952,353 1,225,094
COH TIRZ interest $ 60,000 | $ 693,800 | $ -
Interest Income $ 1,645,700 | $ 984,628 | $ 1,749,000
Other Interest Income $ 1,705,700 1,678,428 1,749,000
Bloomberg Grant (MMD passthrough) 700,000 | $ 700,000 | $ -
Rice Garage Grant 570,000 | $ 58,678 | $ -
Grant Proceeds g $ 758,678 | $ -
Contract Revenue Bond Proceeds -1$ -1$ -
TOTAL AVAILABLE RESOURCES 03,819,825 69,473,546 72,557,324

Page 1 of 19



CITY OF HOUSTON
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET DETAIL

Fund Summary
Fund Name:
TIRZ:

Fund Number:

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

02
7550/50

Bond Debt Service (Series 2015)

TIRZ Budget Line Items FY2024 Budget FY2024 Estimate FY2025 BudgL
EXPENDITURES
Accounting $ 200,000 | $ 176,117 | $ 200,000
Administration Salaries & Benefits $ 530,000 | $ 526,365 | $ 620,000
Auditor $ 50,000 | $ 49,479 | $ 50,000
Bond Services/Trustee/Financial and Tax Advisor $ 43,000 | $ 23,541 $ 25,000
Insurance $ 850,000 | $ 852,588 | $ 800,000
Office Administration $ 265,000 | $ 265,589 | $ 268,398
MID CORP Reimbu $ 17,000 | $ -1$ -
€ $ 40,000 | $ 24,327 | $ 40,000
$ 1,333,000 | $ 632,824 | $ 1,333,000
TIRZ Admi $ 3,328,000 | $ 2,550,830 3,336,398
$ 95,000 | $ 36,945 | $ 95,000
$ 290,000 | $ 287,883 | $ 254,030
$ 415,000 | $ 410,557 | $ 545,000
$ 22,000 | $ 22,000 | $ -
$ -8 298,335 | $ 248,309
Program a $ 822,000 | $ 1,055,720 | $ 1,142,339
Management Const $ 4,150,000 3,606,550 4,478,737
Capital Expenditures (See CIP $ 4,085,365 | $ 4,356,680 | $ 3,699,301
Affordable Housing $ 5,038,995 | $ 5,392,023 | $ 3,661,152
TIRZ Capital Expenditures $ 9,124,360 9,748,703 7,360,453
Loss on Sale of Affordable Housing Land $ 1,170,964 | $ 3,506,329
Grant Passthrough (MMD Grants) $ 700,000
Special Projects as determined by the City 265,000 125,000
Caydon ,555,000 1,553,227 700,683
Rice ION 332,000 | $ 331,582 | $ 345,796
Pearl Market Place 565,000 693,735 | $ -
Mid Main -8 -
Developer / Project Reimbursements 1,046,479

Principal 2,645,000
Interest 132,250
Bond Debt Service (Series 2017)
Principal $ 665,000 | $ 665,000 695,000
Interest $ 1,729,374 | $ 1,729,374 696,125
Bond Debt Service (Series 2020)
Principal $ 685,000 | $ 685,000
Interest $ 387,800 | $
Cost of Issuance $ - %
Bond Debt Service (Series 2022)
Principal $ 100,000 | $ $ 100,000
Interest $ 677,093 | $ $ 674,072
Arbitrage Rebate $ -1$ -1$ 114,508
Loan debt service (HMAAC) $ -9 -1$ -
Principal $ 104,000 | $ 96,464 | $ 210,718
Interest $ 30,000 | $ 30,077 | $ 15,850
Line of Credit For MT Parking Garage
Principal $ 1,445,404 | $ 1,445,404 | $ 2,086,723
Interest $ 248,000 | $ 247,712 | $ 140,000
Convenience Fee $ - $ -1 $ -
System Debt Service $ 8,920,909 8,857,924 9,578,796
TOTAL PROJECT COSTS $ 24,772,269 26,227,685 22,589,465

Page 2 of 19



CITY OF HOUSTON
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET DETAIL

Fund Summary
Fund Name:
TIRZ:

Fund Number:

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

02
7550/50

Page 3 of 19

TIRZ Budget Line Items FY2024 Budget FY2024 Estimate FY2025 Budget

Payment/transfer to ISD - educational facilities $ 1,732,528 | $ 2,357,015 | $ 610,080

Payment/transfer to ISD - educational facilities (Pass Through) $ 4,653,278 | $ 4,004,466 | $ 5,648,388
Administration Fees:

City $ 650,399 | $ 689,508 | $ 639,613

County $ -9 -1$ -

ISD $ 25,000 | $ 25,000 | $ 25,000

HCC $ 25,000 | $ 25,000 | $ 25,000
Affordable Housing:

City $ -9 -1$ -

$ -9 -9 -

$ 729,504 | $ 659,504 | $ 730,000

$ 544,496 | $ -8 544,000

$ 8,360,205 7,760,493 8,222,081

$ 33,132,474 33,988,178 30,811,546

$ 50,195,198 | $ 27,288,298 | $ 34,404,929

$ 2,009,358 | $ 2,865,579 | $ 2,009,358

$ 18,482,795 | $ 5,331,491 $ 5,331,491

Ending Fund Balance $ 70,687,351 35,485,368 41,745,778

Total Budget & Ending Fund $ 103,819,825 | $ 69,4'-13,546 $ 72,557,324




2024 - 2028 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ No. 2 MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Fiscal Year Planned Appropriations
Council (o] . Cumulative
District No. Project Through 2023 | Projected 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 FY25 - FY29 Total Total
(To Date)

C T-0203 |Entry Portals $ - 109,806 9,311 155,000 255,000 305,000 - 724,311 834,117
C,D T-0204 |Enhanced Street Lights $ 975,078 1,064 203,667 355,300 355,300 355,300 - 1,269,567 2,245,709
D T-0206 |Southeast Neighborhood Streg $ - - - 750,300 3,825,300 7,025,300 - 11,600,900 11,600,900
C,D T-0207 |Operating of Zone & Proj $ 1,841,286 1,914,235 1,999,525 2,000,000 2,000,000 1,750,000 1,500,000 9,249,525 13,005,046
CD T-0210 |Main Street Enhang $ 2,221,159 - - 450,130 3,530,500 2,025,000 - 6,005,630 8,226,789
C,D T-0213 |Alabama Street Recol $ - - 150,000 1,440,100 8,020,100 7,020,100 16,630,300 17,362,192
D T-0214 |Caroline Street Reconstru $ 39,087 96,952 305,836 2,660,100 4,390,000 - 7,452,888 18,625,730
Cc T-0217 |Bagby Street Reconstruction - - - - - - - -
C T-0221 |Midtown Park (Superblock) 230,217 4,010,300 510,300 510,300 510,300 5,771,417 15,281,858
CD T-0222 |Street Overlay Program (Partnership with COH) 46,106 1,750,000 550,000 - - 2,346,106 3,067,359
C,D T-0223 |Safe Sidewalk Program (Partnership with City of Houstg $ - 620,100 260,100 260,100 - 1,140,300 1,140,300
C T-0224 |HX Building Maintenance $ 543,838 300,150 50,300 50,000 50,000 994,288 1,319,577
CD T-0225 |Mobility & Pedestrian Improvements $ 149,863 805,300 305,300 305,300 305,300 1,871,063 2,616,662
© T-0228 |Houston Fire Museum Plaza $ - - - - - -
D T-0229 |Glover Park $ - - - - - -
C,D T-0230 |Wheeler St. Pedestrian Enhancements $ 675,600 3,770,600 2,720,600 - 7,166,800 7,166,800
CD T-0232 |Public and Cultural Facilities*** $ 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 2,400,000 3,156,700
C T-0233 |Parking Garage - Midtown Park (Super Block) $ 97,452 1,570,500 1,020,500 520,500 520,500 3,724,511 22,508,653
C,D T-0234 |Parks & Open Spaces $ 203,383 157,812 555,30/ 305,300 305,300 1,709,698 2,070,893
C,D T-0235 |Public Art $ - - 255,300 255,300 1,021,200 1,021,200
C T-0236 |Bagby Park $ 1,793,741 112,977 355,500 355,500 1,172,000 3,078,718
D T-0237 |Baldwin Park Upgrade $ - - 250,000 250,000 1,100,000 1,100,000
C T-0238 |3300 Main $ - - - -
C T-0239 |Brazos Street Reconstruction $ 866,895 263,399 1,020,100 18,095,226 19,225,520
C,D T-0240 |Real Estate Development $ - - 2,000,000 8,048,587 8,048,587
D T-0241 |Almeda/Crawford $ - - - 140,100 890,100 7,110,400 7,110,400
C,D T-0242 |Webster Street $ - - - - 670,500 8,731,000 8,731,000
CD T-0244 [Museum District - Main Street Enhancements $ - - - 100,000 1,400,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
C,D T-0245 [Museum District - Pedestrian Enhancement $ - - - 175,000 3,400,000 3,000,000 9,575,000 9,575,000
C,D T-0246 |Museum District - Mobility Improvements $ - - - - 4,300,000 4,000,000 8,800,000 8,800,000
C,D T-0247 |159/69 CAP Park $ - - - 140,500 790,500 40,500 1,862,000 1,862,000
C T-0248 |Tuam Street $ - 736,272 300 - - - - 300 736,572
C,D T-0251 |Pierce Elevated $ - - - 100,000 100,000 100,000 - 300,000 300,000
C,D T-0299 |Concrete Panel Replacement Program $ - - - 35,000 35,000 35,000 - 105,000 105,000
_ $ 49,588,585 | $ 4,356,680 [ $ 3,699,301 | $ 19,305,316 | $ 41,375,700 | $ 54,804,800 29,792,900 | $ 148,978,017 | $ 202,923,282

*NOTE:
**NOTE:
***NOTE:

Page 4 of 19




2024 - 2028 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ No. 2 MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Source of Funds

Fiscal Year Planned Appropriations

2029 IFY25 - FY29 Total

Cumulative

Through 2023 | Projected 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 {TIOI::IQe_\_
TIRZ Funds 38,773,828 5,676,379 4,085,365 16,539,616 38,275,700 53,529,800 28,517,900 140,948,381 185,398,588
City of Houston - - - - - - - - -
Grants 5,500,000 - - 1,695,700 2,000,000 - - 3,695,700 9,195,700
Other - - - - - - -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - 5,314,757
Project Total 4,085,365 18,235,316 40,275,700 53,529,800 28,517,900 144,644,081 199,909,045

Page 5 of 19




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Entry Portals City Council District Key Map: 494
Location: o] Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0203
Served: ¢ Neighborhood 62
Description: Plgzas., public squares, and landscaping in p of-way at entry Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
points into Zone. 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Personnel = o o - - $ -
Supplies o o o o o $ -
Justification: :Improvements wi!l Provide }Jn' Sntity brapging in Midto Svcs. & Chgs. _ _ _ _ _ $ _
enhance connectivity to ne g communities. £
Capital Outlay o o o o -i$ -
$ BE -8 -8 -8 -8 -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - - - -9 50,000 | $ 50,000
2 | Acquisition - - - - -1 $ -9 -
3 Design - 24,806 50,000 - -19% 150,000 | $ 173,938
4 Construction - 80,000 200,000 300,000 -1 509,311 | $ 579,133
5 |Equipment - N -1 $ -9 -
6 Close-Out - - -s -3 -
7 Other - 5,000 -8 15,000 | $ 31,046
- - -1s -ls -
- S ey . -1s -ls -
- - -1s -ls -
- - - - -ls -ls -
Other Sub-Total: - 5,000 16,046 - 5,000 -3 15,000 | $ 31,046
Total Allocations $ -|$ 109,806 |$ 109,806 | $ 9,311 |$ 155000 | $ 255,000 | $ -|$ 724311 |$ 834,117
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds - 109,806 109,806 9,311 155,000 -1 % 724311 | $ 834,117
City of Houston - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Grants - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Other - - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Total Funds $ -1 % 109,806 | $ 109,806 | $ 9,311 [ $ 155,000 | $ 255,000 | $ 305,000 | $ -1 $ 724311 | $ 834,117
*NOTE:
Page 6 of 19 T-0203




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Enhanced Street Lights City Council District Key Map: 493
Location: c.D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0204
Served: Cc,D Neighborhood 62
Description: :Installation by CenterPoint Energy of al Midtown Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
branded decorative streetlights to ard Cobra- 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
head style streetlights. Personnel . i i i i i
Supplies o o o o o $ -
Justification: :Additional street lighitng 0 Sves. & Chgs. _ _ _ _ _ $ _
consistent Midtown b g in the Zone Capital Outiay ” - ” - i : $ i
$ -1s -1s - -1s -1s -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - -1 $ -1$ -
2 | Acquisition - -1 $ -1$ -
3 Design - -1 $ -1$ -
4 | Construction - -1s -ls -
5 | Equipment 975078 | 1,064 | 1,040 203 -|$ 1,253,667 |$ 2,229,809
6 Close-Out - -1 $ -1% -
7 Other - -19% 15,900 | $ 15,900
- s -3 -
I e ey . s -3 -
- -l -3 -
- s -3 -
Other Sub-Total: - - - - 5,300 -1$ 15,900 | $ 15,900
Total Allocations $ 975078 % 1,064 | $ 1,064 [$ 203,667 |$ 355300 | $ 355300 |$% -|$ 1,269,567 |$ 2,245,709
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 975,078 1,064 1,064 203,667 355,300 -1 $ 1,269,567 | $ 2,245,709
City of Houston - - - - - -1$ -9 -
Grants - - - - - - - -1 $ -1$ -
Other Loan - - - - - - - -1 $ -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -3 - $ -
Total Funds $ 975,078 | $ 1,064 [ $ 1,064 | $ 203,667 | $ 355,300 | $ 355,300 | $ 355,300 -|$ 1,269,567 | $ 2,245,709
*NOTE:
Page 7 of 19 T-0204




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Operating of Zone & Project Facilities City Council District Key Map: 494
Location: c.D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0207
Served: Cc,D Neighborhood 62
Description: As a dirgct conseque.nce of an expanding list , particularly park Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
and publlg space projects, the Z_o_r!e rr_wust P ation of the 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Zone's existing and planned facilities in 4 ears to come
beyond the duration of the Zone. (Op , Personnel = = = - -1 % -
restaurants and garage). Supplies ~ N i B N $ _
Justification: :In order to adequately provide Svcs. & Chgs. - - i - - $ -
expenditures are included ed hereto i
in an amount of up to 5% 6 Capital Outlay - - - - -i$ -
project cost category. $ -1 -1% -1% -1% -1% -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Bud 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning = o 5 -1$ -1$ -
2 | Acquisition - = S -1 % -1 % -
3 Design - = S -1 % -1 % -
4 Construction/Maintenance 1,841,286 1,450,000 1,200,000 950,000 | $ 6,327,525 | $ 9,406,046
5 Equipment N . -1$ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - -1$ -1$ -
7 Other - 550,000 | $ 2,922,000 | $ 3,599,000
- -1'$ -1 -
- -1'$ -1 -
- -1'$ -1 -
- - - - -1'$ -1 -
Other Sub-Total: - 550,000 677,000 722,000 50,000 550,000 | $ 2,922,000 | $ 3,599,000
Total Allocations $ 1,841,286 ($ 1,914235($ 1,914235|$ 1,999,525 |$ 2,000,000 | $ 2,000,000 |$ 17 $ 9,249,525 [ $ 13,005,046
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 1,841,286 1,914,235 1,914,235 1,999,525 2,000,000 1,500,000 | $ 9,249,525 | $ 13,005,046
City of Houston - - - - - - -19$ -19% -
Grants - - - - - - - -9 -1$ -
Other - - - S o S -1$ -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1 $ -1 $ -
Total Funds $ 1,841,286 |% 1,914235|$% 1,914235($% 1,999,525|$ 2,000,000 |$ 2,000,000 |$ 1,750,000 |$ 1,500,000 |$ 9,249,525 |$ 13,005,046
*NOTE:
Page 8 of 19 T-0207




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Caroline Street Reconstruction City Council District Key Map: 493
Location: D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0214
Served: D Neighborhood 62
Description: et oorporstes gran siomwate nastructusdl R, rondl sveststape Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
elements installed on Bagby St. Construction of the p 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
funded with a $5,500,000 TxDOT Grant. Addition,
St. planned in partnership with Houston Commy Personnel - - = o $ -
Supplies o o o o $ -
Justification:  Tbib wesinciss sndpedesiv : : : s :
pgdestrians and bicycles with Iog ses and.on—street parking. Part Capital Outlay _ _ _ -i$ _
Midtown Redevelopment Authority a is partially funded through a
$ -1 $ -1$ - $ -9 -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Bud 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning 35,000 - - $ 75,000 | $ 110,000
2 | Acquisition - - - $ -1$ -
3 Design 1,230,000 300,000 - $ 300,000 [ $ 1,530,000
4 |Construction & Mgmt 9,601,859 2,200,000 4,000,000 $ 6,460,415 |$% 16,101,361
5 |Equipment N e $ -1$ -
6 | Close-Out - $ -1$ -
7 Other - Legal 266,896 $ 617,473 | $ 884,369
- $ -ls -
T T e Yy . $ -ls -
- $ -ls -
- $ -ls -
Other Sub-Total: 266,896 - - - 67,373 160,100 $ 617,473 | $ 884,369
Total Allocations $ 11,133,755 | $ 39,807 | $ 39,087 | $ 96,952 |$ 305,836 |$ 2,660,100 | $ $ 7,452,888 |$ 18,625,730
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 1,756,362 39,807 39,087 96,952 305,836 2,327,364 $ 3,390,252 |$ 5,185,701
City of Houston - - - - - - $ -1$ -
Grants 4,062,636 - - - - 2,062,636 $ 4,062,636 | $ 8,125,272
Other - - - - - - - $ -1$ -
Bond Proceeds 5,314,757 - - - - - $ -|$ 5,314,757
Total Funds $ 11,133,755 | $ 39,807 | $ 39,087 | $ 96,952 | $ 305,836 | $ 2,660,100 [ $ 4,390,000 $ 7,452,888 |% 18,625,730

*NOTE:

Page 9 of 19

T-0214




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Midtown Park (Superblock) City Council District Key Map:
Location: c Geo. Ref.: T-0221
Served: ¢ Neighborhood
Description: SR P Operating and Maintenance Costs: (5 Thousand
park, water features, children's interactive play area 2025 2026 2029 Total
area featuring cascading fountain. Plans continug
plaza area and future renovations to the park Personnel - - o $ -
Supplies o o o $ -
Justification: sﬁglict?/s:fﬂljilfgatllf:i:;eeseﬁsgn:z:wtpv?e e te quality of life for current Sves. & Chgs. - - - $ -
and busings$ owners by providi. tdoor activity space. It will also b Capital Outlay _ _ -i$ _
to attract visitors from surroundlng
$ -1s - -1s -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
Projected Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenjses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 FYzfo't::{ 2 Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning 467,004 - $ 75,000 | $ 542,004
2 |Acquisition 3,506,306 - - $ -1 $ 3,506,306
3 Design 1,700,028 1,225,000 - $ 1,225,000 [ $ 2,994,223
4 |Construction & Mgmt 2,997,186 2,700,000 500,000 $ 4382606 (% 7,617,262
5 |Equipment - N $ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - - $ -3 -
7 | Other- 484,443 10,300 $ 88,811 | $ 622,063
- - $ -1 -
- S Yy . $ -1 -
- - $ -1 -
- - $ -1 -
Other Sub-Total: 484,443 10,300 47,611 10,300 $ 88,811 | $ 622,063
Total Allocations $ 9,154,967 | $ 4,010,300 $ 230,217 |$ 4,010,300 [ $ 510,300 5,771,417 | $ 15,281,858
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 9,154,967 4,010,300 230,217 4,010,300 $ 5771,417 | $ 15,281,858
City of Houston - - - $ -9 -
Grants = - - - $ -ls -
Other - - - - $ -8 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - $ -1$% -
Total Funds $ 9,154,967 | $ 4,010,300 $ 230,217 | $ 4,010,300 | $ 510,300 $ 5771417 |$ 15,281,858
*NOTE:
Page 10 of 19 T-0221




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Street Overlay Program (Partnership with COH) City Council District Key Map: 493
Location: c.D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0222
Served: C,D Neighborhood 62
Description: :Asphalt overlay of local streets. Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Personnel = o o o - $ -
Supplies o o o o o $ -
Justification: :Mobility improvements to e ervice life of deterio Svcs. & Chgs. i i ) - - " )
rqadwgy and provide cQ able and safe corridor i Capital Outlay i i i i i : $ i
with City of Houston Visle
$ -1s -1s -1s -1s -1s -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - - - -9 50,000 | $ 50,000
2 | Acquisition - - - - -1 $ -1$ -
3 Design - 400,000 - 3 -19% 446,106 | $ 446,106
4 Construction 721,253 1,250,000 500,000 - -{$ 1,750,000 | $ 2,471,253
5 Equipment - N -1 $ -9 -
6 | Close-Out - - -1$ -1$ -
7 Other - 50,000 -19% 100,000 | $ 100,000
- - -1s -ls -
- S ey . -1s -ls -
- - -1s -ls -
- - -ls -ls -
Other Sub-Total: - 50,000 - 50,000 -|$ 100,000 $ 100,000
Total Allocations $ 721,253 |$ 1,750,000 | $ $ 46,106 | $ 1,750,000 | $ 550,000 | $ -|$ 2,346,106 | $ 3,067,359
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 721,253 1,750,000 46,106 607,143 -|$ 1,203,249 [ $ 1,924,502
City of Houston - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Grants - - - 1,142,857 - -1 $ 1,142,857 | $ 1,142,857
Other - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Total Funds $ 721,253 | $ 1,750,000 | $ $ 46,106 | $ 1,750,000 | $ 550,000 | $ -1 % -|$ 2,346,106 | $ 3,067,359
*NOTE:
Page 11 of 19 T-0222




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: HX Building Maintenance City Council District Key Map: ?
Location: o] Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0224
Served: ¢ Neighborhood 62
Description: :Annual maintenance for 402/410 Pierce ce buildings Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
formerly managed by Houston Expong 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
holder. Property is owned and no
Midtown Redevelopment Authorj Personnel z - " - e $ -
Supplies o o o o -8 -
Justification: :Operations and maintena of the Sves. & Chgs. ) ) ) i i $ )
asset. Capital Outlay - - - - - - $ -
$ -1s -1s - -1s -1s -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Bud 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - -1 $ -1$ -
2 | Acquisition - -1 $ -1$ -
3 Design - -1 $ -1$ -
4 | Construction - -1s -ls -
5 Equipment N . -1 $ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - -1 $ -1% -
7 Other 73,579 50,000 | $ 994,288 [$ 1,319,577
- -1s -ls -
T Yy . -1s -ls -
- -1s -ls -
- - - - -ls -ls -
Other Sub-Total: 73,579 300,150 251,710 543,838 00,150 50,000 | $ 994,288 | $ 1,319,577
Total Allocations $ 73579 |$ 300,150 |$ 251,710 |$ 543,838 ($ 300,150 | $ 50,300 | $ $ 994,288 ($ 1,319,577
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 73,579 300,150 251,710 543,838 300,150 $ 994,288 [ $ 1,319,577
City of Houston - - - - - $ -19% -
Grants - - - - - - - -9 -1$ -
Other - - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1 $ -1 $ -
Total Funds $ 73,579 | $ 300,150 | $ 251,710 | $ 543,838 | $ 300,150 | $ 50,300 | $ 50,000 50,000 | $ 994,288 | $ 1,319,577
*NOTE:

Page 12 of 19

T-0224




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Mobility & Pedestrian Improvements City Council District Key Map:
Location: CcD Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0225
Served: c,D Neighborhood 62
Description: :Planning for mobility and pedestrian improvements periodic renovations Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
to streetscape enhancements.
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Personnel = o o o -9 -
Supplies - - - - - $ -
Justification: Mopility, infrastructure, and pe ien imprgvements to crez Sves. & Chgs. _ _ B _ _ $ _
maintain comfortable and idors which accommoda :
mobility and infrastructure ds. Pedestrian safety e Capital Outlay = > = > -9 -
align with COH Walkable Plat dinance and Vision $ -1$ -1$ -1'$ -1$ -1'$ -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Bud 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning 169,160 1,000,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 | $ 949,863 [$ 1,119,023
2 | Acquisition - - - - -1 $ -9 -
3 Design 50,097 350,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 | $ 400,000 | $ 534,408
4 Construction 20,323 750,000 $ 500,000 | $ 615,906
5 Equipment - N -1$ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - - -s -3 -
7 Other 188,627 15,300 5,300 | $ 21,200 | $ 347,325
- -1s -ls -
- AT Ay . -1$ -1$ -
- - -1s -ls -
- - - - -1$ -1$ -
Other Sub-Total: 188,627 15,300 137,498 - 5,300 5,300 | $ 21,200 | $ 347,325
Total Allocations $ 428207 |$ 2115300 |$ 317,392 |$ 149,863 |$  805300| $ 305300 |$ $ 1,871,063 |$ 2,616,662
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 428,207 2,115,300 317,392 149,863 805,300 $ 1,871,063 | $ 2,616,662
City of Houston - - - - - $ -9 -
Grants - - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Other - - - - - - - -8 -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1 -19% -
Total Funds $ 428,207 [ $ 2,115,300 | $ 317,392 | $ 149,863 | $ 805,300 | $ 305,300 | $ 305,300 | $ 305,300 | $ 1,871,063 | $ 2,616,662
*NOTE:

Page 13 of 19

T-0225




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Parking Garage - Midtown Park (Super Block) City Council District Key Map:
Location: o] Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0233
Served: ¢ Neighborhood 62
Description: :Underground 400 space public parking ga Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
Midtown Park project on the Superblocl 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
planned to increase efficiency of ope
Personnel = o o o - $ -
Supplies o o o o o $ -
Justification: :The garage will support mixe Sves. & Chgs. i i ) - - g )
address significant existing ng demand as well as g - :
future retail and commercia elopments with expa gpital Outlay - - - - - 8 -
Market-Based Parking Ordin3 $ -1$ -1$ -19$ -1$ -1$ -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
Projected .
Project Allocation Expenjses thru| 2024 Budge 2026 2027 2028 2029 FY2T5 -FY29 | Cumulative Total
6/30/23 otal (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - - - -9 50,000 | $ 50,000
2 | Acquisition - - - -1 $ -1$ -
3 Design 755,797 150,000 - -8 400,000 | $ 1,155,797
4 |Construction & Mngt 17,827,843 850,000 500,000 500,000 | $ 3,100,000 | $ 20,927,843
5 Equipment - 60,554 | 60,554 W 153 -1 $ 15,393 | $ 75,947
6 | Close-Out - -1$ -1$ -
7 Other - Legal 103,050 36,898 20,500 | $ 159,118 | $ 299,066
- -|s K -
- -ls s -
- -1s K -
- - - - -ls s -
Other Sub-Total: 103,050 36,898 36,898 77,118 0,500 20, $ 159,118 | $ 299,066
Total Allocations $ 18,686,690 | $ 97,452 | $ 97,452 | $ 92,511 |$ 1,570,500 | $ 1,020,500 | $ 520 $ 3724511|$ 22,508,653
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 18,686,690 97,452 97,452 92,511 1,570,500 1,020,500 : $ 3724511 $ 22,508,653
City of Houston - - - - - ' - -1% -3 -
Grants - - - - - - - -1% -3 -
Other - - - - - - - -1% -3 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -3 -1$ -
Total Funds $ 18,686,690 | $ 97,452 | $ 97,452 | $ 92,511 1% 1,570,500 | $ 1,020,500 | $ 520,500 | $ 520,500 | $ 3,724,511 | $ 22,508,653
*NOTE:

Page 14 of 19

T-0233




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM

Economic Development Division

Project: Parks & Open Spaces City Council District Key Map:
Location: c.D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0234
Served: c,D Neighborhood
Description: Plan.nin.g and development of plazas, public sg d landscaping in erating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
public right-of-way. 2025 2026 2028 2029 Total
Personnel o - - $ -
Supplies o o o $ -
Justification: Community open spaces to p, Svcs. & Chgs. _ _ _ $ _
corridors that increase com i
quality of life. The develdp Capital Outlay - - -i$ -
complement cultural arts faci $ $ - -1$ -1'$ -
Midtown. -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - 200,000 200,000 | $ 800,000 | $ 800,000
2 | Acquisition - - - -1 $ -9 -
3 Design 182,570 101,818 100,000 100,000 | $ 564,771 | $ 849,159
4 |Construction & Mngt 3,000 55,994 $ 323,727 | $ 382,721
5 |Equipment - N -1 $ -9 -
6 Close-Out - - -1$ -1$ -
7 Other 17,813 - 5,300 | $ 21,200 | $ 39,013
- - -1s -ls -
- S ey . -1s -ls -
- - -1s -ls -
- - -ls -ls -
Other Sub-Total: 17,813 - - 5,300 5,300 | $ 21,200 | $ 39,013
Total Allocations $ 203383($ 157,812 $ 238498 |$ 555300 |$% 305,300 $ 1,709,698 [ $ 2,070,893
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 203,383 157,812 238,498 555,300 $ 1,709,698 | $ 2,070,893
City of Houston - - - $ -1$ -
Grants - - - - -1 8 -1$ -
Other - - - - -1 8 -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Total Funds $ 203,383 | $ 157,812 $ 238,498 | $ 555,300 | $ 305,300 305,300 | $ 1,709,698 | $ 2,070,893
*NOTE:

Page 15 of 19

T-0234




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Brazos Street Reconstruction City Council District Key Map:
Location: o] Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0239
Served: ¢ Neighborhood 62
Description: Roadway, infrastructure, and streetscape enhanc Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
Parkway and Elgin St. Greenroads project will
Development (LID) techniques, green stor 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
environmentally friendly streetscape elel new bikeway [Personnel _ _ _ _ - % _
approved as part of the Houston Bike Supplies - - - - - $ )
Justification: :Mobility, infrqstructure, and ped Svcs. & Chgs. ) ) i i i $ )
and safe corridors that acco, i
demands. LID techniques ¥ Capital Outlay = S = S -i$ -
term maintenance needs.'lm ents will facilitate addj $ s _ _ s -1$ _
redevelopment along corridor.
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Bud 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - - - - -1 $ -9 -
2 | Acquisition - - - - -1 $ -9 -
3 Design 802,982 253,399 = 3 -1$ 1,039,926 |$ 2,106,307
4 |Construction & Mngt 53,613 - 9,000,000 8,000,000 $ 17,000,000 | $ 17,053,613
5 Equipment - N -1$ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - - -s -3 -
7 Other - Legal 10,300 10,000 -8 55,300 | $ 65,600
- - s -s -
- AT Ay . -1$ -1$ -
- - -l -3 -
- - -1$ -1$ -
Other Sub-Total: 10,300 10,000 - - 20,100 207100 -1 $ 55,300 | $ 65,600
Total Allocations $ 866,895(% 263,399 [$ 263,399 | $ 39,926 | $ 1,020,100 | $ 9,020,100 -|$ 18,095,226 | $ 19,225,520
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds 866,895 263,399 263,399 39,926 1,020,100 7,020,10 5,899,900 -1$ 13,980,026 | $ 15,110,320
City of Houston - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Grants - - - - 2,115,200 -1 $ 4,115200 | $ 4,115,200
Other - - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Total Funds $ 866,895 | $ 263,399 | $ 263,399 | $ 39,926 [ $ 1,020,100 | $ 9,020,100 8,015,100 -|$ 18,095,226 | $ 19,225,520
*NOTE:
Page 16 of 19 T-0239




2023 - 2027 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ No. 2 Midtown Redevelopment Authority

CITY OF HOUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
Economic Development Division

Project: Real Estate Development City Council District Key Map:
Location: c,D Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0240
Served: Cc,D Neighborhood: 62
Description: :Planning activities related to identificatiog Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
development or redevelopment. 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Personnel - - -1 $ -
Supplies o o -1 $ -
Justification: iElimination of blighted prog - - P i
and advance the vision and g i i Tl )
$ $ - -Is -Is -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
Projected Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenjses thru 2026 2027 2028 2029 FYszc;t:r 29 Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - -3 -1% -
2 | Acquisition - Block 442 - -1 $ -1$ -
3 Design o -1$ -$ -
4 Construction - -1 $ -1$ -
5 | Equipment - - $ -1$ -
6 |Close-Out - -s -1s -
7 Other - -1$ 48,587 | $ 48,587
- s -ls -
- s -ls -
- -l -ls -
- s -ls -
Other Sub-Total: - -1$ 48,587 | $ 48,587
Total Allocations $ - -1$ 48,587 | $ 48,587
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds - 48,587 -1$ 48,587 | $ 48,587
City of Houston - - - -1$ -1$ -
Grants - - - -1$ -1$ -
Other Bank Loan - - - -1$ -1$ -
Bond Proceeds - - - -1 $ -1 -
Total Funds $ - $ 48,587 | $ $ - -1$ 48,587 | $ 48,587

Page 17 of 19

T-0240




2025 - 2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
TIRZ NO.2 - MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

CITY OF H
Econ

OUSTON - TIRZ PROGRAM
omic Development Division

Project: Tuam Street City Council District Key Map:
Location: cD Geo. Ref.: WBS.: T-0248
Served: c,D Neighborhood 62
Description: :Roadway, infrastructure, and upgraded pe amenities along Operating and Maintenance Costs: ($ Thousands)
Midtown segment of the City of Houstg ater line project 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
on Tuam Street between Main St. g
Personnel = o o o - $ -
Supplies o o o o o $ -
Justification: :Mobility, infrastructure and Sves. & Chgs. i i ) - - " )
comfortable and safe cQ - :
and infrastructure dema Capital Outiay - ~ - - - 8 -
$ BE -8 -8 -8 -8 -
Fiscal Year Planned Expenses
. . Projected FY25 - FY29 Cumulative
Project Allocation Expenses thru| 2024 Budg 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Total
6/30/23 (To Date)
Phase
1 |Planning - -3 - -
2 | Acquisition - -1 $ -1 $ -
3 | Design - -3 -l -
4 Construction - -1 $ 300 $ 736,572
5 Equipment N . -1$ -1$ -
6 Close-Out - -1$ -1$ -
7 Other - -1 % -1 $ -
- -1 -ls -
- -1 -ls -
- -1 -ls -
- - - - -1 -ls -
Other Sub-Total: - 20,000 - - -19$ -1$% -
Total Allocations $ -|$ 736272 |$ 736,272 | $ 300 | $ -1$ 300 ($ 736,572
Source of Funds
TIRZ Funds - 736,272 736,272 300 -8 300 | $ 736,572
City of Houston - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Grants - - - - - - - -9 -1$ -
Other - - - - - - - -1 8 -9 -
Bond Proceeds - - - - - - - -1$ -1$ -
Total Funds $ -1 % 736,272 | $ 736,272 | $ 300 | $ -1$ -8 -1 -19% 300 | $ 736,572
NOTE:
Page 19 of 19 T-0248










MIDTOWN REDEVELOMENT AUTHORITY
BOARD MEMORANDUM

To: Matt Thibodeaux, Executive Director
Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Affordable Housing Consultant Advisory Group (AHCAG)

(AHDP) collaboration between the

During the permitting process, the on-Houston CDC aware that there is a
pipeline on the previously-awarded | Street. Boynton-Houston was not aware

The City of Houston has informed Boynton- Houston ‘€DE i emoving the pipeline has
to be borne by Boynton-Houston CDC. Its removal nstruction and add to
construction costs, both of which would place significz s price.

Therefore, Boynton-Houston CDC has asked that consi i i idi rnative 5,000
square foot tract of land located at 2406 Live Oak Street . es price of
$237,882 and home size and configuration (3/2/2) would be the same as that approved by th board
of directors for the 3224 Rosalie Street land tract.

ACTION FOR CONSIDERATION

The action for consideration is MRA Board of Directors approval of the BoyntoRsHouston CDC request for
a land tract located at 2406 Live Oak Street and subsequent action by MRA legal counsel to prepare new
deeds for both the 3224 Rosalie Street land tract and the 2406 Live Oak Street land tract. In addition, MRA
legal counsel will prepare an updated deed modification agreement and an updated amendment to the
grant agreement between MRA and Boynton-Houston CDC.



MIDTOWN
IM

ITAL
NTS

PROG %




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting November 20, 2025
Marlon Marshall

Capital Improvements Program

Street Overlay and Sidewalk Program

- Projects will include comprehensive mill and asphalt overlay to improve the road surface
condition and sidewalks constructed to generally 5 feet width on local streets and 6 feet width on
major thoroughfares.

- Project locations based on the City’s Pavement Condition Index (PCI) ratings and Midtown
Sidewalk Conditions Assessment.

Isabella a xillo Streets - currently in 60% design plan phase.

lighting conditions and recommendations for future lighting
> in pedestrian realm.
- experience of perceived safety at night.

asterplanning
jon Costs

sites in Midtown (Wheeler Transit Station/lon [
HCC/Ensemble Rail Station)

development for demonstration sites






Legend
2o Ilsabella

SO0 GICEall




PROJECT MAP

13 > T

Q.‘ South Main q.§ & Buffalo Soldiers

o,
: : W Main St uffale er:
Caroline St Project ¥ B‘“’“;‘ Chireh f' Netional Museum, - P,
Axelrad Beer Garden
Cleburne St Project uaa5100 coquinst— & o 8 p. oW
Gy Thalen @) %?’6}

R Foom &) @) cancente

15 projus
15 ADposn

w

¢
2] o

—

1S UoLBA WY

use

Autrey St-

Chelsea B

o/

&
s St f
Banks St gy Houslon Museum of
f Alrican American Culture é
Milford S &
vinedals

o

Elementary-School

&

!
© MacGregor p '%, ééa
Yo 3

P - # -
§ i W+ Brews & & &
7 s g %t & & gsor @
g} e S ¥y
@ % > & fe #';‘
% = @ @ % f 0 egpae Hut '9%
T e The M f ; %‘Va@ .
= £ he Museum of 4, i)
BIM Fine Arts, Houstan = Yo, v Smarn St
& 0'% F: ! Igrition 1
& ép & Muse :
2 2 &) The.Spot
“dow\; Hotel ZaZa Houston p 9
Museum District & i }
Remi - ?g &
W, &
(LG | Hous)|
o ne?¢ s Is 1°S¢]
z% ™ %“
L A
% e Houston Museum @ L The Health Museum &
¢, / of Natural Science \ h .
o a i @ Bameaby's Ca' g,

Figure 1: Caroline & Cleburne Street S

A-1



Project Map: &henevert, Jackson, Hadley mill and overlay and sidewalk improvements

Chenevert St from Pierce to Elgin St
Jackson St from Pierce to McGowen St
Hadley St from Austin to Smith St

Co:-Cg

@ the'Sa t

"
4
K03

S ¢

Project Limits on Jackson St and Chenevert St (left), and on Hadley St (right).



Ogi dtown
S TON
REDEVE% A%T

oL )\




PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Professional Services Agreement (this “Agreement’) is between MIDTOWN
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Texas not-for-profit local government corporation
(“Midtown”), and ARUP US, INC., a New York corporation (“Consultant’). Midtown and
Consultant are sometimes referred to herein collectively as the “Parties” or individually as a
“Party”.

ARTICLE 1

SCOPE OF SERVICES

engineering, design, project management, program
other services (the “Services™) as are requested from
be set forth more particularly in work orders, the
B (“Work Orders”), issued in writing from time
. Services may include design of specific projects,
onstructability studies, preparing cost estimates, and
1l compliance with plans, specifications, design, and planning

time to time by
form of which is attachg
to time by Midtown 3
performing detailed site
determination of a contractor’s gei
concepts.

to in writing by Midtown and Consultant as set forth herein.

1.3, Terms, conditions or other provisions contained in any Work O
with any terms, conditions or other provisions of this Agreement will have n
deemed stricken and severed from such Work Orders, and the balance of
remain in full force and effect.

ork Orders will

1.4.  Nothing herein obligates Midtown to issue, or Consultant to accept, any Work
Orders. Further, the Parties agree that nothing in this Agreement prohibits the Parties from
entering into separate or supplemental agreements in addition to this Agreement for services or
work (e.g., services or work may involve tasks, risks and responsibilities which the Parties may
decide should be governed by an agreement other than or different from this Agreement).



ARTICLE 2

TERM OF AGREEMENT

2.1.  This Agreement shall be effective for a term of one (1) year from the date of the
last signature set forth below and shall be automatically renewed without action by either Party for
subsequent terms of one (1) year unless terminated earlier in writing in accordance with Article
13.

anding any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 2.1, this
effect for Work Orders issued and accepted during the term of this
the Services under the Work Orders have been completed; provided
cle 13, either Party shall have the right to terminate any Work Order
ave thg right to terminate any Work Order for convenience.

AND PAYMENT

3.1. ant, and Consultant agrees to accept, as full and
performed by Consultant hereunder, the rates and

charges agreed upon for a specifig rk Order. Attachment A shall be used to negotiate the price

3. 2 On or as soon as prac iQ lay of each calendar month, Consultant
D and lien waivers in forms
acceptable to Midtown, covering all Serv1ces .
calendar month. Consultant shall separately itemi i : ach Work Order for
which payment is sought, (ii) the amount of payn
brief descriptions of Services performed during
(iv) the total payment requested by such invoice.

3.3.  Midtown may withhold and/or offset all or any part of payment
invoice to protect Midtown from loss or expected loss because of:

(a) Services that are defective or not in compliance wj
applicable Work Order or any failure of Consultant to perform Se
the provisions of this Agreement or the applicable Work Order;

1s Agreement or the
ces in accordance with

(b) third party suits, stop notices, claims or liens for which Consultant, or its
contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants or third parties under its direction and control,
is responsible pursuant to this Agreement, including pursuant to any indemnification
obligation hereunder, asserted or filed against any Indemnitee (as defined below) or any
Indemnitee’s property or any portion thereof;



(©) uninsured damage to any Indemnitee which results from Consultant’s
failure to obtain or maintain the insurance required by this Agreement or from any action
or inaction by Consultant or any of its contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants or third
parties under its direction or control which excuses any insurer from liability for any loss
or claim which would, but for such action or inaction, be covered by insurance;

(d) any failure of Consultant to pay any of its contractors, subcontractors,
subconsultaats or third parties under its direction and control;

re of Consultant to submit proper invoices with all required attachments

e that the Services cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of
e applicable Work Order;

ices will not be completed within the time set forth in
e agreed upon for such Services, and that the unpaid

balance would no damages for the anticipated delay; or
(h)
3.4. Consultant agrees
later than thirty (30) days follo § wdtown for a specific Work Order, all

contractors, subcontractors, sub,
connection with Services that are g sultant out of such payment made to
Consultant by Midtown.

3.5. If Midtown is entitled to reimbursg
pursuant to this Agreement, such payment shall |
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Ag i sultant fails to

other reason, Midtown, without waiver or limitation of any of its other rights or re
this Agreement and applicable law, shall have the right but not the obligation from tj

amounts owed by Consultant to Midtown.

3.6.  Consultant shall pay promptly all indebtedness for labor, 1als and equipment
used in performance of the Services under a Work Order. Consultant shall make, pay and
discharge all valid taxes, lienable claims, charges, payments to all vendors, suppliers, workers,
materialmen and subcontractors and take all other action necessary to keep Midtown’s property
and the Services free of liens. If a lien attaches to Midtown’s property or the Services, Consultant
shall promptly procure Midtown’s release and indemnify Midtown against all damage and expense
incident thereto, and Midtown may make any payment necessary to discharge the lien, and it may
offset the amount of the payment, including, but not limited to, court costs, expenses, and
reasonable attorneys’ fees that it incurs because of the lien or its discharge, against any payment
owing or to be owed to Consultant. Consultant shall furnish, on request by Midtown, receipts and



releases with respect to Services that show that all costs and expenses of the Services have been
paid, and that no claims, liens, or rights to liens exist against Midtown or its property.

ARTICLE 4

ACCESS TO SITES; PERMITS; AVAILABILITY OF FUNDING

ise specified in the applicable Work Order(s), Consultant will assist
sary approvals, permits, licenses, easements and consents necessary
eS.

5.1.  Consultant shall supervise and ¢ . ose of its contractors,
subcontractors, subconsultants or third parties undeg irecti using its professional
skill and attention in an expeditious and eco consistent with
furthering the interests of Midtown, and shall e and diligence in
the performance of the Services that are free from
with the industry standards for professionals regularl i rvices of
a similar nature to the Services (Consultant’s “Standard of Care”).

5.2. Consistent with its Standard of Care, Consultant will keep Midtow;
status of Services, will coordinate its activities with Midtown, and accommo
of Midtown at the sites to which the Services relate.

5.3.  Consultant confirms and agrees that Midtown has and s retain all rights, title,
and interest in and to any information, drawings, maps, field notes, statistics, computation, or other
data provided by or on behalf of Midtown, including, without limitation, any patent, trademark,
copyright or other intellectual property rights, and that by use of any thereof, Consultant shall not
acquire any right, title, or interest in any thereof, including, without limitation, any patent,
trademark, copyright or other intellectual property rights. Consultant shall promptly report to
Midtown any error, inconsistency or omission of which Consultant becomes aware in any
contractor’s work, in any of Consultant’s documents provided to Midtown, contractor or others in
connection with the Services, or in any information or documents provided to Consultant by or on
behalf of Midtown. Midtown makes no representation or warranty that any services, information,



surveys and reports provided by or on behalf of Midtown under this Agreement (“Midtown
Information”) are accurate, complete, correct, fit for their intended purpose, or can be used without
infringing any patent, copyright, trademark, or other intellectual property rights of third parties
under the intellectual property rights of the world. Nevertheless, Consultant shall be entitled to
rely upon such Midtown Information without the need to independently confirm its accuracy,
completeness, correctness, fitness for a particular purpose or likelihood of infringement; provided,
however, that Consultant may not rely upon such Midtown Information if: (i) Consultant has been
informed by Midtoyn (a) of inaccuracies, errors, omissions or other deficiencies in such Midtown
Information, or grwise not to rely upon such Midtown Information, in whole or in part; or
aware of any inaccuracy, error, omission or other deficiency in the
ii) Consultant otherwise, in accordance with the Standard of Care,
dtown Information. Consultant immediately shall inform Midtown
n w, D i nformation which Consultant considers unreliable. In the event

' upon any particular item of Midtown Information but has
ation for performance of its Services in accordance with
lidtown in writing of the problem with the particular
t’s need for reliable replacement information. The
uch information in a reliable form.

this Agree
item of the
parties shall then dete

5.4 or its own activities at sites including the safety of
its employees, and that of its cont
direction and control but shall not'as ponsibility for the overall site safety.
Construction contractors of Midtg ave sole responsibility for providing

materials, means, and methods @
safety of said areas for all parties, @
work and the safety of their employees and of otl
or services provided under contracts with Midto
Consultant of its obligation to comply with the Sta
its obligations under this Agreement and the Wo

1ate steps to ensure the quality of their
pnnection vy eir performance of work

5.5. During performance of the Services,
become involved in any relationship that presents a conflict of inter:
available to Consultant, or upon discovery thereof, allow such a conflict to continue.
believes that there is a possibility of a conflict of interest, prior to performance o

conflict. Consultant shall promptly provide to Midtown any facts o
regarding any possible conflict as Midtown may reasonably request, uding that requested
pursuant to Section 5.6 herein.

5.6.  With respect to providing Services hereunder, Consultant shall (a) promptly
disclose to Midtown any facts which might involve any reasonable possibility of a conflict of
interest during the term of this Agreement; (b) complete any forms required by state law, including
forms in accordance with Chapters 171 and 176, Texas Local Government Code; (¢) ensure that
each of Consultant’s contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants completes the required forms
provided pursuant to clause (b) of this section, and provides a copy of the required forms to
Midtown before such contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant performs any Services; (d)



comply with the “Good Faith Efforts” requirement defined and described in Midtown’s Minority
and Women-owned Business Enterprises (“M/WBE”) policy, as set forth in Section 14.4; and (e)
for projects funded in whole or in part by federal funds, comply with all federal requirements
regarding Services performed for such projects, including those set forth in Attachment C.

5.7.  Ifrequested by Midtown, Consultant shall furnish to the director of Houston Public
Works (the “Public Works Director”) copies of estimates and progress reports related to
construction and ngcessary for the performance of Services as such estimates and reports are
prepared and be

ity of Houston. Accordingly, as and when requested by Midtown,
ation and cooperate with the City of Houston to the extent necessary
ain such approval as part of the Services.

actors and subconsultants shall maintain records
aceepted accounting principles and practices. For Services
eimbursable, time _amd material or unit price Work Orders,
eafter, Consultant and its contractors,
subcontractors and subconsultar ai < of direct costs for which Midtown is

and books in accordance with gene
provided by Consultant under co,

7.1.  All drawings, specifications, other
Consultant or its contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants or third parties under its
control pursuant to this Agreement, including those in electronic form, and
furnished by any of them and the architectural works (as defined by 17 U.S.C
thereby, are and shall remain Midtown’s property upon creation (collective nstruments of
Service”) provided, however, that Instruments of Service do not include sting proprietary
information of Consultant or its contractors, subcontractors, subconsult r third parties under
its direction and control (“Consultant Proprietary Information’). Consultant agrees to and does
hereby assign, grant, transfer and convey to Midtown, its successors and assigns, Consultant’s
entire right, title, interest and ownership in and to such Instruments of Service, including the right
to secure copyright registration. Consultant confirms that Midtown and its successors and assigns
shall own Consultant’s right, title and interest in and to, including the right to use, reproduce,
distribute (whether by sale, rental, lease or lending, or by other transfer of ownership), to perform
publicly, and to display, all such Instruments of Service, whether or not such Instruments of
Service constitute a “work made for hire” as defined in 17 U.S.C. Section 201(b). In addition, the
Consultant hereby grants Midtown a fully paid-up, royalty free, perpetual, assignable, non-



exclusive license to use, copy, modify, create derivative works from and distribute to third parties
Consultant Proprietary Information in connection with Midtown’s exercise of its rights in the
Instruments of Service, operation, maintenance, repair, renovation, expansion, replacement and
modification of projects of Midtown or otherwise in connection with property or projects in which
Midtown has an interest (whether by Midtown or a third party). Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, if (a) Midtown uses the Instruments of Service for a project other than
the project for which the Instruments of Service were prepared or furnished and without
Consultant’s involyement, and (b) Consultant has not consented to such use, then Midtown agrees

direction and g [ liability arising from such use; provided, however, that the foregoing
release sh 1 event such lack of involvement is due to termination of Consultant

' tain assignments, confirmations and licenses substantially similar to
from all of its contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants and third
Instruments of Service are to be used by Consultant only

with r¢ ith which such Instruments of Service were created and
are not to B 1t Midtown’s prior written consent. For the avoidance
of doubt, Cornst itsfcon ontractors, subconsultants or third parties under its

direction and control are ohibi g public standards or details on any other project.

term of their respective agreemen
reproduce applicable portions offithe Instruments o
execution of Services. Submissignor distributie

e appropriate to and for use in the
with official regulatory requirements
> construed as publication in derogation

of Midtown’s copyright or other
Instruments of Service to Midtown upon the ear
Services in connection with which Instruments of
Agreement, except that Consultant may keep one C ents of Service for
its files.

7.2.  Consultant agrees that all informatio i i ction with
Services (“Confidential Information”) shall be considered and kept confidential, an
reproduced, transmitted, used or disclosed by Consultant without the prior writte

to any information, or portion thereof, that:

(1) was at the time of receipt by Consultant otherwis
proper means;

wn by Consultant by

(1))  has been published or is otherwise within the public domain, or is generally
known to the public at the time of its disclosure to Consultant;

(ii1))  subsequently is developed independently by Consultant by proper means,
by a person having nothing to do with the performance of this Agreement and who did not
learn about any such information as a result of Consultant being a Party to this Agreement;



(iv)  becomes known or available to Consultant from a source other than
Midtown that acquired it through proper means, which source is not under an obligation of
confidentiality to Midtown, and without breach of this Agreement by Consultant or any
other impropriety of Consultant;

(v) enters the public domain without breach of this Agreement by or other
impropriety of Consultant;

yn in writing of any proposed disclosure of
his subsection sufficiently in advance of such
proposed disg i nh may seek an appropriate protective order (and
Consultant sh ate, at Midtown’s expense, with any such effort) or
waive any applicable con equirementsdaereunder.

dvertent or accidental disclosure of

information, but in no event less than a commercie

7.4. Consultant will advise Midtown
proprietary rights and any royalties, licenses, or ¢ nows or should
know in the exercise of its Standard of Care that i onsultant in
connection with any Services, and obtain Midtown’s i ding with
such Services. Consultant shall not perform patent searches or evaluation of claims, b ill assist
Midtown in this regard if requested, on the basis set forth herein. There will be
Consultant’s existing patents.

ARTICLE 8

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATION

In the performance of Services hereunder, Consultant shall be an independent contractor
with the authority to control and direct the performance of the details of Services and its own
means and methods, subject to compliance with this Agreement. Consultant shall not be
considered a partner, joint venture, affiliate, agent or employee of Midtown and shall in no way
have any authority to bind Midtown to any obligation. As an independent contractor, as between
Consultant and Midtown, Consultant assumes full responsibility for the safety of all persons
performing and property associated with Consultant’s performance of the Services, and shall



supervise and control Consultant’s agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, subconsultants
and any third parties under its direction and control.

ARTICLE 9
CORRECTION OF SERVICES

If Consultant fails to comply with the Standard of Care, in addition to such other rights and
remedies as Midtg nay have under this Agreement, at law or in equity, Consultant shall, without

for which Consultant is responsible under this
bntaining errors or omissions in contravention of

Agreement or 3
the Standard

(©)

defective Services.

0 Midtown, if any, arising out of such

In the event that Consultan of performing the corrections or not

b

idtown’s gequirements, Midtown may

Midtown may offset such amount in accordance i ise in accordance
with applicable law.

ARTICLE

INDEMNIFICATION BY CONSULTANT

TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT ALLOWED BY LAW, CONS
DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS MIDTOWN AN
OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS, AND THE CITY OF STON AND ITS
OFFICERS, ELECTED OFFICIALS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES LLECTIVELY, THE
“INDEMNITEES”), FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LOSSES, INJURIES,
DAMAGES, DEMANDS, SUITS, CAUSES OF ACTION, SETTLEMENTS, LIABILITIES,
COSTS, PENALTIES, FINES, FEES, JUDGMENTS AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING
REASONABLE AND NECESSARY COURT COSTS, EXPERTS’ FEES AND ATTORNEYS’
FEES) (COLLECTIVELY, “LOSSES”), WHETHER ARISING IN EQUITY, AT COMMON
LAW, OR BY STATUTE, INCLUDING THE TEXAS DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT
(AS AMENDED) OR SIMILAR STATUTE OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS, OR UNDER THE
LAW OF CONTRACTS, TORTS (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY
WITHOUT REGARD TO FAULT) OR PROPERTY, ARISING IN FAVOR OF OR BROUGHT

NT SHALL
DIRECTORS,



BY ANY

OF CONSULTANT’S EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, CONTRACTORS,

SUBCONTRACTORS, SUBCONSULTANTS, OR REPRESENTATIVES, OR BY ANY
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY OR BY ANY OTHER THIRD PARTY WHICH ARE:

A.

DUE TO THE VIOLATION OF ANY ORDINANCE, REGULATION,
STATUTE, OR OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENT IN THE PERFORMANCE
OF THIS AGREEMENT, BY CONSULTANT, ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS,
TRACTORS, SUBCONTRACTORS, SUBCONSULTANTS, OR
SENTATIVES, OR ANY OTHER ENTITY OVER WHICH
TANT EXERCISES DIRECTION AND/OR CONTROL;

TENT CAUSED BY OR RESULTING FROM ANY ACT OR
VIOLATION OF CONSULTANT’S STANDARD OF CARE
NTIONAL, NEGLIGENT OR OTEHRWISE), BY
EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, CONTRACTORS,
BCONSULTANTS, OR REPRESENTATIVES, OR
OVER WHICH CONSULTANT EXERCISES

PHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
ORMATION FURNISHED BY OR

TRADEMARK,
RIGHT IN CON;

CONTRACTORS, OR
REPRESENTATIVES, WHICH
CONSULTANT EXERCISES DIRE AY ITS

CONSULTANTS, CONTRACTORS, SUBCONTRACTO
SUBCONSULTANTS AMOUNTS DUE FOR SERVICES P
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT; OR

OTHERWISE ARISING OUT OF OR RESUL
PERFORMANCE OF THE SERVICES UNDER S AGREEMENT,
INCLUDING SUCH LOSSES ATTRIBUTABLE BODILY INJURY,
SICKNESS, DISEASE, OR DEATH, OR TO INJURY TO OR DESTRUCTION
OF TANGIBLE PROPERTY, INCLUDING LOSS OF USE RESULTING
THEREFROM, BUT ONLY TO THE EXTENT SUCH LOSSES ARE CAUSED
BY, ARISE FROM OR RESULT FROM ANY ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF
CONSULTANT  (WHETHER  INTENTIONAL, NEGLIGENT OR
OTHERWISE), ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, CONTRACTORS,
SUBCONTRACTORS, SUBCONSULTANTS, OR REPRESENTATIVES, OR

FROM THE

10



ANY OTHER ENTITY OVER WHICH CONSULTANT EXERCISES
DIRECTION AND/OR CONTROL.

The indemnification obligations of Consultant under this Article 10 shall not be construed to

negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligation of indemnity which would otherwise exist as

to a party or person described in this Article 10. The presence or absence of any insurance relating

to or otherwise affecting this Agreement, the Services, the Instruments of Service, or the

Consultant’s actions or inactions shall not be construed as a limitation upon the duties and
g Itant as provided in this Article 10.

ARTICLE 11

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

1 , subconsultants, or vendors of any tier, shall be liable
i of profit, loss of revenue, loss of use or for any other
[ETHER ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON
OR OTHERWISE UNDER THE LAW OF
OUT LIMITATION, NEGLIGENCE OF EVERY
OUT REGARD TO FAULT), OR THE LAW OF
PROPERTY, OR AT COMMO] I, VIOLATION OF STATUTE, OR

(1) the other’s 8ross
misrepresentation;

(11) damages specifically conte

(ii1))  damages recoverable fro

employees and insurers.

ARTICLE 12

INSURANCE

Consultant shall, at all times during the performance of Services pursuant to Work Orders
issued under this Agreement and through the expiration of the last correction period set forth in
Article 9, provide insurance coverage, with companies lawfully authorized to do business in Texas,
in at least the amounts and types described in Attachment D. Consultant shall require its
contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants of any tier to maintain similar insurance during
this period. Such insurance is to be provided at the sole cost of Consultant and all contractors,
subcontractors and subconsultants of any tier. In the event any requirement of Attachment D or
this Article 12 is less stringent upon Consultant or its contractors, subcontractors and
subconsultants of any tier than those which are required pursuant to any agreement between the

11



City of Houston and Midtown, upon notification by Midtown to Consultant of such requirement,
then Consultant agrees to comply and to cause its contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants
of any tier to comply with and cause compliance with any more stringent requirements set forth
therein.

ARTICLE 13

HANGES; TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE;

, at any time and from time to time, make written changes to Work
ations, supplements, additions, or omissions. In the event Consultant

ifications, supplements, additions, or omissions. Such
e proposed schedule and cost adjustment for such
issions. In the event that Midtown agrees, in its sole

notifying Midtown as required
subsequently agree to an adjust
in writing, Consultant does so at 1

supplements, additions, or omissions
all not be required to pay or otherwise

be liable for any costs or expenses ag odifications, supplements, additions, or
omissions and Consultant will not be entitled iony or schedule adjustment
Furthermore, if any such modifications, suppleme ns are required due to
Consultant’s errors, omissions, failure to comply i ork Order or other

fault, Consultant shall provide such modification iti issions at its own
cost and expense and without any adjustment to t

13.2. Midtown may for convenience termina , any Work
under this Agreement, or Consultant’s right to perform Services under this Agreement Work
Order, in whole or in part, at any time by giving thirty (30) days’ written notice of's i
Upon receipt of such notice Consultant shall:

(1) stop work on the date and to the extent specified in

(i)  take such further action regarding termination of the Services as Midtown
may reasonably direct.

In the event of such termination, Midtown shall have the right but not the obligation to assume all
obligations, commitments, and claims that Consultant may have in good faith undertaken or
incurred in connection with the Services terminated, and Midtown shall pay Consultant for
Services properly performed to date of termination and for reasonable costs of closing out such
Services. Upon termination, Consultant may invoice Midtown for all Services performed by
Consultant prior to the time of termination which have not previously been compensated. Payment

12



of this final invoice is subject to the agreement of Midtown and is due and payable within thirty
(30) days after receipt by Midtown or within fifteen (15) days after the monthly meeting of the
Board of Directors where such amount is approved, whichever is later.

13.3.  This Agreement or any Work Order may be suspended by Midtown, in whole or in
part, upon notice to Consultant, specifying which portion of the Services are to be suspended and
the effective date of such suspension. Consultant shall continue to diligently perform any
remaining Services ghat are not suspended. Upon resumption of the Services, Consultant may seek
a change order p at to Section 13.1 to equitably adjust Consultant’s compensation and time
of such a suspension; provided, however, that no adjustment shall be
performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or
for which Consultant is responsible or otherwise for a delay not
t an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision

ithin ten (10) days after receipt of written notice

for cause, no compensation for s
the then ongoing Services and p
right to offset all damages and cé@

¢ Consultant until final completion of
nsation will be subject to Midtown’s

13.5. The payments due CoO
Article 13 shall be Midtown’s only obligation 3
termination or suspension. Consultant shall no
anticipated profits or unperformed Services. All
rights to offset and audit.

ARTICLE

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING

14.1. Consultant shall not assign or transfer (by operation of law or
or interest in this Agreement or any Work Order without Midtown’s pri tten consent. For
purposes of this Article 14, a merger is considered a transfer. Any pu d assignment by the
Consultant in violation of this provision shall be void. Midtown may assign its rights and
obligations under and interest in this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the consent of the
Consultant.

14.2. The Parties respectively bind themselves, their partners, successors, permitted
assigns and legal representatives to the other Party hereto and to partners, successors, permitted
assigns and legal representatives of such other Party in respect of all covenants, agreements and
obligations contained herein.

13



14.3. Consultant shall not utilize any contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant without
prior written approval by Midtown. The qualifications of Consultant’s contractors, subcontractors
and subconsultants shall be subject to Midtown’s review and approval. All agreements between
the Consultant and its contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants shall be subject to the
requirements of (and such agreements shall expressly so state) this Agreement and applicable
Work Orders. Consultant shall be fully responsible for the timely and proper performance of
Services by its contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants to the same extent as if all such
Services were perfosmed by the Consultant’s personnel. All costs of Services performed by such
contractors, subg ors and subconsultants are included in the compensation due Consultant

s policy to ensure that M/WBEs have full opportunity to compete for
Consultant will be required to comply with the City of
in Chapter 15, Article V of the City of Houston Code of

| es that it has reviewed the requirements for good
faith efforts on file wi i ffice of Business Opportunity (“OB0”), available

S Work Orders over $50,000, except
Work Orders funded in whole or al'l ess otherwise prohibited by applicable

certification by the following governmental and pr1 ies; f Houston’s OBO, the
Houston Minority Supplier Development Counci i nterprise Alliance.
Midtown has the right to revoke acceptance of i i and to conduct
certification reviews.

ARTICLE

CONSULTANT REPRESENTATIVE/CONSULTANT TEA

15.1. Consultant shall designate an individual to serve as its repre
Midtown with written notice of such individual prior to performing any ces. Any consent,
approval, decision or determination hereunder by such representati hall be binding on
Consultant. Consultant shall have the right, from time to time, to change such representative to
another equally or better qualified individual, but only with Midtown’s prior written consent, by
giving Midtown written notice of Consultant’s intent to do so.

ve and provide

15.2. Consultant is obligated to employ the personnel, contractors, subcontractors and
subconsultants for performance of the Services as originally proposed. Requests for replacements
of the original personnel, contractors, subcontractors or subconsultants shall be submitted in
writing to Midtown. Changes must be approved in writing by Midtown, who shall carefully

14


https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/yr1cCzpBQLFNKO4gU4_sUL

consider the qualifications and status of the proposed replacement personnel, contractors,
subcontractors or subconsultants.

ARTICLE 16
SEVERABILITY AND REFORMATION

, illegality, or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement or any
rrence of any event rendering any portion or provision of this Agreement

greement or any Work Order is deemed unenforceable or void, then
eof shall be deemed severed from this Agreement or such Work

stricken proWisi i i ionihat comes as close as possible to the intent of the stricken
provision. f :
from being void should i i 1e essence of this Agreement or applicable Work
Order be determined tg ble

If a term 1s defined as one%pas )
meaning when used as another part of¥§peech (st . fined in the singular have
the corresponding meanings in the plural, and vi sa. text of this Agreement
clearly requires otherwise, words importing the maseuli

neutral genders and vice versa. The terms “i i i shall mean
“including without limitation.” The words “he

or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 18

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement and Work Orders issued under it contain the full and complete
understanding of the Parties pertaining their subject matter and supersede any and all prior and
contemporaneous representations, negotiations, statements, agreements or understandings
between the parties, whether written or oral. Neither party has relied on any such representations,
negotiations, statements, agreements or understandings. This Agreement and Work Orders may
be modified only in writing, signed by both Parties.

15



ARTICLE 19
NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY

There are no third party beneficiaries of this Agreement and no third party may rely upon
any obligation herein or upon the findings of any report produced hereby. Further, this Agreement
does not create or confer any legal claim or cause of action in favor of any party not a signatory to
this Agreement and,the obligations and legal duties imposed on any party by this Agreement are
owed exclusivel ¢ other party or parties and are not owed to any party not a signatory to this
Agreement.

ARTICLE 20

GOVERNING LAW

21.1. Consultant hereby'€erti : i not delinquent in a tax owed the State
of Texas under Chapter 171, Texa§ Ta

21.2. For purposes of compliance with
amended, Consultant hereby represents and warrants
Consultant nor any wholly owned subsidiary, i idi arent company or
affiliate of Consultant, is a company listed by th
Sections 2252.153 or 2270.0201, Texas Governmeént C

21.3. Consultant will provide a completed and notarized Fo
Texas Ethics Commission’s electronic filing application in accordance with the
Section 2252.908, Texas Government Code, as amended, and the rules promulga
Ethics Commission (“Form 1295), in connection with entry into this Agree
of Consultant’s Form 1295, Midtown agrees to acknowledge Consultant’s
electronic filing application. Midtown and Consultant understand a ree that, with the
exception of information identifying Consultant and the contract identifigation number, Midtown
is not responsible for the information contained in Consultant’s Form 1295 and Midtown has not
verified such information.

ARTICLE 22

DISPUTE RESOLUTION; VENUE; JURISDICTION

22.1. In the event of any claim, dispute or controversy arising out of or relating to the
implementation of or performance of this Agreement or any Work Order (whether such claim,

16



dispute or controversy is allegedly extra-contractual in nature, whether such claim, dispute or
controversy arises under the law of tort, contract, property, or otherwise, or at law or in equity, or
under state or federal laws, or by statute or common law, for damages or any other relief) (all of
which are referred to herein as “Disputes”) which Midtown and Consultant have been unable to
resolve within thirty (30) days after such Dispute arises, a senior representative of Consultant shall
meet with the Executive Director of Midtown at a mutually agreed upon time and place not later
than forty-five (45) days after such Dispute arises to attempt to resolve such Dispute. In the event

ivegyare unable to resolve any such Dispute within fifteen (15) days after such

mediation be a2 mut agreeable mediator. If the Parties are unable to agree upon a mediator
er such written notice of submission to mediation, the American

ton, Texas. If the Partles are unable to agree upon a
¢ offices of the American Arbitration Association in
Houston, Texas® 1 i in this section shall not operate to prevent Midtown

C ] that Midtown reasonably believes such lawsuit
ny respect, including but not limited to preserving

22.2.  Subject to Consult
Section 22.1, for purposes of

ith the requirements of the foregoing
edings arising out of, relating to or
ant hereby agrees that this Agreement

hereby submits to the jurisdiction of the state coufts i rris County, Texas, and
agrees that such jurisdiction shall be exclusive proceeding filed by
Consultant. For the avoidance of doubt Consultag and unequivocally

should Midtown choose to bring any proceeding in an
fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant hereby irrevocably waives any objection
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any proceeding arising out o
connected with this Agreement in any state court in Houston, Harris Count
Consultant hereby irrevocably waives any claim which it may now or herea
proceeding brought in any state court in Houston, Harris County, Texas
inconvenient forum.

ve that any such
een brought in an

22.3. If Consultant brings any claim against Midtown and Consultant does not prevail
with respect thereto, Consultant shall be liable for all reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees
incurred by Midtown as a result thereof.

17



ARTICLE 23

RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

23.1. Duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement and the Work Order and rights
and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations,
rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law, except where a remedy is agreed to be
sole and exclusive i this Agreement or applicable Work Order.

23.2. gither Party to insist on the strict performance of any of the requirements

herein or

Any claim by the Consultant that the terms of
conditions of this Agreemn r have been changed or waived must be evidenced
by an agreement in wri i by Midtown.

23.3. Any acceptance or val'by Midtown shall not constitute nor be deemed to be a
release of responsibility or lia i
subconsultants for the accurac cteness of any Services, nor shall
acceptance or approval be dee C g
Midtown for any defect, error or omis
any Work Order, “approval,” “approve,
any implied or imputed approval or consent.

13

onsent” or sented” shall not include

ARTICI

requested, or nationally recognized overnight delivery service (with proof
following addresses (or any other address that a Party may designate by writt
Party):

If to Midtown: Midtown Redevelopment Authori
410 Pierce Street
Suite 355
Houston, TX 77002
Attention: Matthias Thibodeaux

18



If to Consultant: Arup US, Inc.
10370 Richmond Avenue, Suite 475
Houston, Texas 77042
Attention: Christoph Gisel

If delivered personally, notice will be deemed received upon delivery. If delivered by certified
mail, notice will deemed received upon the earlier of actual receipt or five (5) business days after
the date of depositgdn the United States mail. If delivered by a nationally recognized overnight
delivery service ill be deemed received the first business day after the date of deposit with
the delivery sg

ARTICLE 25

COUNTERPARTS

same agreement and sha g i en one or more counterparts have been signed by
each Party and deliverg@d to i itbeing understood that both Parties need not sign the
same counterpart.

19



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement as of the day and
year of the last signature written below.

Consultant: Midtown:

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY

By:

ed Name and Ti Printed Name and Title

Date:

Execution Page



ATTACHMENT A

Compensation terms for Services:

A.1. COMPENSATION BASED ON COST

(a) PERSONNEL COSTS

FOR SERVICES
ON TIME AND MATERIALS BASIS

Staff Cate Hourly Rate
$430-$535
$325-$455
$290-$350
$275-$310
$210-$305
$185-$240

Engineer/Consultant $175-$215

Engineer/Consultant $155-$200

BIM Manager $275

Senior BIM Technig $210
BIM Technician $175

Senior Project Controls 90
Project Controls

Project Administration

(b)  ALL OTHER EXPENSES

Reimbursable expenses will be invoiced at the actual cost, which wil
the reasonable cost for such expense, and will be limited to those costs incurred by
and its contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants of any tier in performi
follows:

1. Subject to Midtown’s approval, actual and reason avel and subsistence
expenses for out-of-town travel in the discharge of duties in connection with the Services,
provided that the daily travel rates shall not exceed those set forth above. Consultant shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the lowest available cost for such travel and
expenses, including but not limited to coach class air travel. For travel solely by
automobile, mileage will be reimbursed at the IRS Standard Mileage Rate in effect at the
time of travel for business miles.

2. Costs of postage including the cost of air express mail and delivery services
directly required by the Services.

A-1



3. Fees paid on behalf of Midtown for securing approvals of governmental
authorities having jurisdiction over a project, if directly required by the Services.

4. Costs of additional insurance coverage or limits, including professional
liability insurance, when requested by Midtown in amounts in excess of the requirements
of Attachment D of this Agreement.

5. An estimate of Consultant’s reimbursable expenses will be set forth in each
ovided, however, that Consultant shall provide notice to Midtown when the

ts contractors, subcontractors and subconsultants
a of any project.

3.
facsimile transmissions.

et services, e-mail transmissions, and

4.
communicate with contractor, Midtown, a d sub-consultants to
Midtown or the Consultant of any tier.

5. Costs of all materials, p
processing and similar expenses incurred in s

6. Any other costs in excess of the fees paid by Midtown unles din
advance and in writing by Midtown.

A.2. LUMP SUM COMPENSATION (STIPULATED SUM FEE)

Unless a particular Work Order expressly states otherwise, wn will compensate
Consultant on the basis of a mutually agreed lump sum price for the scope of work specified in the
Work Order. Midtown may ask Consultant for a cost estimate for the scope of work prior to
issuing the Work Order. The cost estimate will include a summary breakdown showing the labor
hours and cost, contractor, subcontractor and subconsultant costs, and other direct costs included
in the estimate. Rates to be used in preparing the estimate will be as specified in Section A.1(a)
above. Consultant will submit and Midtown will pay monthly invoices based on the mutually
agreed percentage of the project completed, or according to the mutually agreed schedule of
payment by design phase if such schedule is expressly included in a Work Order.



[End of Attachment A]

A-3



ATTACHMENT B

Form of Work Order

WORK ORDER NO.

This Work Qrder No.  (this “Work Order”) is issued subject to and is governed by that
certain Profession ices Agreement between Midtown and Consultant dated as of ,
20 (the “PS4

Jaterials, Firm Fixed Price, Lump Sum (Circle and

Compensation:

Location of Services:

Description of Services:

Schedule Requirements: Commencement of

Completion of Se

Midtown:
MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT ARUP US, INC.
AUTHORITY
By: By:
Printed Name and Title Printed Name and Title
Date: Date:

[End of Attachment B]

B-1



ATTACHMENT C

Federal Transit Administration Required Clauses and Related Provisions

This Attachment C shall only apply to Work Orders funded in whole or in part by federal funds.

the FT4

pmply with the statutory schemes and requirements set forth
or refe extent each applies to the Contractor or the Services or
any other O o this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of

entity under its contro ith'a ement set forth or referred to in this Attachment C,
the Contractor is itself responsibl pliance with each thereof as well as to
ensure the compliance with each : inder its control.

Further, to the extent tha 9% e Contractor notice pursuant to any of
d C, Contractor agrees that the inclusion

of the requirements contained or referred in th i
discharge any such obligation of Midtown.

Respondent/Contractor Pre-Award Certifications.
1. FLY AMERICA — Does not apply to this contract.
2. BUY AMERICA - Does not apply to this contract.

3. CHARTER BUS and SCHOOL BUS REQUIREMENTS — Does not apply to this
contract.

4. CARGO PREFERENCE REQUIREMENTS — Does not apply to this contract.



5. SEISMIC SAFETY REQUIREMENTS — Does not apply to this contract.
6. ENERGY CONSERVATION

a. As authorized by the State of Texas, the Texas State Energy Conservation Office
(SECO) has adopted the most recent edition of the International Energy
Conservation Code (IECC) without amendment for new buildings or additions
only,The Respondent/Contractor shall design the facility in accordance with 2015

Does not apply
to this contract.

10. LOBBYING

a. Respondents/Contractors who apply for an award of $100,000 or m
Certification Regarding Lobbying, required by 49 C.F.R. Part 20
on Lobbying, with the Owner. Each subcontractor shall
Regarding Lobbying with the Respondent/Contractor tha 1l not and has not
used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or or ation for influencing
or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of
Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of
Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other
award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352.

e Certification

b. The Respondent/Contractor and subcontractors shall also disclose any lobbying
with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal
award. Such disclosures are forwarded from subcontractors to
Respondent/Contractor to the Owner. The Respondent/Contractor agrees to include

C-2



11.

12.

13.

d.
FEDERAL CHANGES

a.

these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $100,000 financed in whole or in
part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.

The certification regarding Lobbying to be completed by the
Respondent/Contractor and subcontractor(s) is provided herein (See
Respondent/Contractor Pre-Award Certifications) under Certifications and Forms
Section.

RECORDS AND REPORTS

reproduce by any me? atsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as
reasonably needed

ain all books, records, accounts and
od of not less than three years after the
tract, except in the event of litigation or

settlement of claims arising from ¥
Respondent/Contractor agrees to i e Owner, the FTA
Administrator, the Comptroller duly authorized
representatives, have disposed of all’s s or exceptions
related thereto. Reference 49 C.F.R®

FTA does not require the inclusion of these requirements in subcontra

The Respondent/Contractor shall at all times comply wit
regulations, policies, procedures, and directives, includin ut limitation those
listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement@€tween the Owner and
FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term
of this contract. The Respondent/Contractor’s failure to so comply shall constitute
a material breach of this contract.

applicable FTA

The Respondent/Contractor also agrees to include any applicable requirements in
each subcontract involving a federal change financed in whole or in part with
Federal assistance provided by FTA.

BONDING REQUIREMENTS — Does not apply to this contract.

C-3



14. CLEAN AIR

a.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20. PROGRAM FRAUD and FALSE OR FRAUDULENT
RELATED ACTS

a.

The Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders
or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401
et seq. The Respondent/Contractor agrees to report each violation to the Owner and
understands and agrees that the Owner will, in turn, report each violation as
required to assure notification to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office.

exceeding $100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal
pvided by FTA.

by the Federal Government, the Fedg party to this contract
and shall not be subject to any igati iabili o the Owner, the
Respondent/Contractor, or any ot to that contract)
pertaining to any matter resulting f

The Respondent/Contractor agrees to inClude the above*clause in eac
financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FT
agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify t
who will be subject to its provisions.

EMENTS AND

The Respondent/Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud
Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT
regulations, “Program Fraud Civil Remedies,” 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its
actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of the underlying contract, the
Respondent/Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any
statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to
the underlying contract or the FTA assisted project for which this contract work is
being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be applicable, the

C-4



21.

22.

a.

GOVERNMENT-WID¥

Respondent/Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made,
a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the
Federal Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud
Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the Respondent/Contractor to the extent the Federal
Government deems appropriate.

The Respondent/Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be
e, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification

ority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves the right to
alties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on the

This contract is a co C.F.R. Part 29. As such,
the Respondent/Contractor is that none of the
Respondent/Contractor, its principa > 29.995, or affiliates,
as defined at 49 C.F.R. 29.905, are i fined at 49 C.F.R.

29.940 and 29.945.

The Respondent/Contractor is require i .F.R. 29, art C and
must include the requirement to comply with 49 C.F.R. 29, Subpart C
tier covered transaction it enters into.

The certification (See Respondent/Contractor Pre-Award
material representation of fact relied upon by the Owner. If4
that the Respondent/Contractor knowingly rendered an e us certification, in
addition to remedies available to the Owner, the Federal @Oovernment may pursue
available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. The
Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 C.F.R. 29,
Subpart C and Executive Order 12549 while this offer is valid and throughout the
period of any contract that may arise from this offer.

ater determined

The Respondent/Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each
subcontract exceeding $25,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance
provided by FTA.



23. PRIVACY ACT - Does not apply to this contract.

24. CIVIL RIGHTS REQUIREMENTS

The following requirements apply to the underlying contract:

a. Nondiscrimination - In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as

ii.

amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975,

U.S.C. § 12132, and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the
ontractor agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or
ployment because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, or
Idition, the Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply with applicable
ing, regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may

of the Civil
laws at 49

opportunity requirements of U.S.
lations, “Office of Federal Contract

. ent Executive Order No.
1 1246 “Equal Employmen ed by Executive Order

No. 11375, “Amending

policies that may in the future
the course of the Project. to take
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employe that
employees are treated during employment, without regar:
color, creed, national origin, sex, or age. Such action sha
be limited to, the following: employment, upgradmg,
recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or te on; rates of pay or
other forms of compensation; and selection training, including
apprenticeship. In addition, the Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply
with any implementing requirements FTA may issue.

10n or transfer,

Age - In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 623 and Federal transit
law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Respondent/Contractor agrees to refrain from
discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason of age.
In addition, the Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply with any
implementing requirements FTA may issue.



1il. Disabilities - In accordance with section 102 of the Americans with
Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12112, the
Respondent/Contractor agrees that it will comply with the requirements of
U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, ‘“Regulations to
Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans with
Disabilities Act,” 29 C.F.R. Part 1630, pertaining to employment of persons
with disabilities. In addition, the Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply
with any implementing requirements FTA may issue.

anced in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA,
if necessary, to identify the affected parties.

ent are provided in Article 13 hereof, and the dispute
ovided in Article 22 hereof.

a. s itle 49, Code of Federal

The agency’s
overall goal for DBE participation j goal has not been

established.

b. The Respondent/Contractor shall no imi i ce, color,
national origin, or sex in the performance
Respondent/Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49
in the award and administration of this DOT-assisted contract
Respondent/Contractor to carry out these requirements is a ma
contract, which may result in the termination of this contrac
as the Owner deems appropriate.

ch other remedy

c. Respondents are required to document sufficient DBE participation to meet these
goals or, alternatively, document adequate good faith efforts to do so, as provided
for in 49 C.F.R. 26.53 (See Respondent/Contractor Pre-Award Certifications).
Award of this contract is conditioned on submission of the following concurrent
with and accompanying an initial proposal:

1. The names and addresses of subcontractors that will participate in the
contract;



29.

il. A description of the work that each subcontractor will perform;

1ii. Whether the subcontractors are a DBE, non-DBE, or a Small Business
Enterprise (SBE);

v. The ethnic code, as described in the form,;

V. The age of the firm;

he annual gross receipts from the firm;
pllar amount of the participation of each DBE firm participating; and

h confirmation from the DBE subcontractor that it is participating in
provided in the commitment made under (8) (See
actor Pre-Award Certifications).

yment from the timeframe stated in
this paragraph may © y e, as determmed by the Owner, and

complete its work and must mak nother DBE
subcontractor to perform at rk. The
Respondent/Contractor may not terminate any DBE subContractor and rm that
work through its own forces or those of an affiliate without prior writ
the Owner.

The Respondent/Contractor shall report DBE participation
the Contractor Payment Report Form (See Respondent/
Certifications).

onthly basis on
actor Pre-Award

The Owner encourages the Respondent/Contractor on DOT-assisted contract to
make use of financial institution owned and controlled by socially and
economically disadvantaged individuals. The Federal Reserve Statistical Release
maintains a list of Minority-Owned Banks
(http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/mob/).

RESERVED


http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/mob/

30. INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS

a.

31. DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING - Does not apply to this ¢

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions
required by DOT, whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract
provisions. All contractual provisions required by DOT, as set forth in Best
Practices Procurement and Lessons Learned Manual, Appendix A Federally
Required and Other Model Contract Clauses, are hereby incorporated by reference.
The following clauses apply to this contract.

ess to Records and Reports

Air Act and Federal Water Pollution Control Act

Lobbying
viit.  No Govert
iX. Program Fra
X. Termination
xi. Violation and Breach of Cq
comply with any Owner requests wi
of the FTA terms and conditions.

The Contractor also agrees to include any applicable requi
subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistanc

32. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) ACCESSIBILITY

a.

ADA Accessibility ensures that all individuals regardless of disability are not
excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to
discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.

The Respondent/Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5301(d), which
states the Federal policy that elderly individuals and individuals with disabilities
have the same right as other individuals to use public transportation services and

C-9



facilities, and that special efforts shall be made in planning and designing those
services and facilities to implement transportation accessibility rights for elderly
individuals and individuals with disabilities.

The Respondent/Contractor also agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of
section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, with 29 U.S.C. § 794,
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability; with the Americans with

ii.

iii.

1v.

Vi.

vil.

Disahbilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., which

hat access1ble facﬂltles and serV1ces be made available to individuals with

dividuals with disabilities; and with other laws and amendments
ng to access for individuals with disabilities that may be applicable.

ion on the Basis of Disability in

Programs eral Financial Assistance, U.S. DOT

ATBCB)/U.S. DOT regulation

28 C.F.R. Part 35 — Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Dj
and Local Government Services, U.S. DOJ regulation

28 C.F.R. Part 36 — Nondiscrimination on the Basi

Accommodations and in Commercial Facilities, . DOJ regulation

41 C.F.R. Subpart 101-19 — Accommodations for the Physically
Handicapped, U.S. General Services Administration (U.S. GSA)
regulation”

29 C.F.R. Part 1630 — Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment
Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, U.S. EEOC

C-10



viii. 47 C.F.R. Part 64, Subpart F — Telecommunications Relay Services and
Related Customer Premises Equipment for the Hearing and Speech
Disabled, U.S. Federal Communications Commission regulation

iX. 36 C.F.R. Part 1194 — Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility
Standards, U.S. ATBCB regulation

49 C.F.R. Part 609 — Transportation for Elderly and Handicapped Persons,
TA regulation

al civil rights and nondiscrimination directives implementing the
g Federal laws and regulations, except to the extent the Federal
ment determines otherwise in writing.

33. — Does not apply to this contract.



RESPONDENT/CONTRACTOR PRE-AWARD CERTIFICATIONS

This checklist will be used to ensure that all required procurement certifications listed
within have been read, initialed, and signed by the Respondent/Contractor BEFORE the bid or
proposal is submitted. All certifications listed below follow this checklist.

Respondent/Contractor’s Initials:

I HEREBY ATTE A IOUS EXHIBIT TITLED, FEDERALLY
REQUIRED CO A ! VAS READ AND MY INITIALS ABOVE
INDICATE THAT EACH ITEM WA ROPERLY PREPARED AND EXECUTED.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

NAME / TITLE:

RESPONDENT/
CONTRACTOR

C-12



that:

(1)

)

3)

[Note: Pursuantto 31 U.S.C. § 1352(c)(1)-(2)(A), any person who makes,
or fails to file or amend a required certification or disclosure form s

LOBBYING CERTIFICATION FORM

To be completed by the prime contractor and all subcontractors.

The Respondent/Contractor certifies that to the best of his or her knowledge and belief,

any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or
y, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an
per of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal
any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into
and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
act, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
pngress, or an employee of a Member of Congress

Lobbying,” in accordan sglas amended by “Government-wide
Guidance for New Res b Fed. Reg. 1413 (1/19/96). Note:
Language in paragraph ( in has nodified in accordance with Section 10 of the

The undersigned shall require that the la ; ion be included in the
award documents for all sub-awards at all
contracts under grants, loans, and coopera
certify and disclose accordingly.

hibited expenditure
| be subject to a civil

penalty of not less than 310,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such expenditure or failure.]



The Respondent/Contractor/Subcontractor, ,
certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement of its certification and
disclosure, if any. In addition, the Respondent/Contractor understands and agrees that the
provisions of 31 U.S.C. A 3801, et seq., apply to this certification and disclosure, if any.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

C-14



SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION FORM

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT,
SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

To ke completed by the prime contractor and all subcontractors.

equired by the regulations implementing Executive Order 12549,
i, 13 C.F.R. Part 145. The regulations were published as Part VII of
6, 1988 Federal Register (pages 19160-19211).

(a)

dplication been convicted of or had a
on of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining;iatte ) performing a public (Federal, State, or
nsaction; vielation of Federal or State

(b)

(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwisg

(d) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application had one o
transactions (Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause or default.

of the statements
explanation to this

Where the prospective primary Respondent/Contractor is unable to certify t
in this certification, such prospective primary participant shall attac
proposal.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

NAME / TITLE:

RESPONDENT/CONTRACTOR

C-15



INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION

By signing and submitting this proposal, the Respondent/Contractor is providing the
certification set out below.

1. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily
result in denial of participation in this covered transaction. The Respondent/Contractor

shall subm1 an explanation of why it cannot provide the certification set out below. The
C explanation will be considered in connection with the Owner’s

hether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the
or to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such

2.

3. de immediate written notice to the Owner to which
this proposal 1s submitted i at¥any time the Respondent/Contractor learns that its
certification was erroneougWhen submitted or hasgsecome erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

4. The terms “bid,” “covered * “suspended,” “ineligible,” “lower tier
covered transaction,” “perso iom,” “principal,” “proposal,”
and “voluntarily excluded,” as used in eanlngs set out in the
Definitions and Coverage sections of the ru § Order 12549 You
may contact the Owner to which this prog
copy of those regulations (13 C.F.R. Part

5 The Respondent/Contractor agrees by submi
transaction with a subcontractor who is debarred, suspended, declared
voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered transaction, unl
the Owner entering into this transaction.

6. The Respondent/Contractor further agrees by submitting this pr that it will include
the clause titled “Certification Regarding Debarment, SuspenSion, Ineligibility and
Voluntary Exclusion- Lower Tier Covered Transactions,” provided by the Owner entering
into this covered transaction, without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions
and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

7. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system

of records in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The
knowledge and information of a Respondent/Contractor is not required to exceed that
which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business
dealings.

C-16



Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a
Respondent/Contractor in a covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered
transaction with a subcontractor who is suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily
excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies available to
the Federal Government, the Owner may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

The Respondent/ Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract,
or a lower tier covered transaction, exceeding $25,000 financed in whole or in part with
Federal e provided by FTA.

C-17



RESPONDENT/CONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION

Instructions: The prime Respondent/Contractor shall complete this form by listing 1) Names of
ALL proposed subcontractors, whether or not the subcontractor is a DBE or SBE. 2) Contact
information, 3) Description of work to be performed/product to be provided, 4) Status as a DBE
or non-DBE, 5) Ethnic Code of firm, 6) Gender code of owner, 7) Age of the firm, 8) Annual gross
receipts of the firm, and 9) % or § amount of Total Subcontract. Those contractors which are listed
on this form as DBEs must have current certification as a DBE with a participating TUCP
he DBE certification must be complete by the time the proposals are
allya, those (sub)contractors which are listed on this form as DBEs must
complete D ACTOR CERTIFICATION, agreeing to the information here.

CODES

E Asian-Pacific American
on-Minority Women

Black American
Hispanic America
Native American
Sub-continental

Caw»

A Male

) 2 3 (L))
Address,
Telephone # of | Description
Name of DBE Firm of Work, | DBE, SBE
subcontract | (Including name Service or non- Ethnic Gender

or of contact Provided DBE Code Code Firm

DBE % or




@ (0] 3 Q) (6)) © (0] ® (&)
Address,
Telephone # of | Description DBE % or
Name of DBE Firm of Work, | DBE, SBE Annual | $ amount of
subcontract  (Including name Service or non- Ethnic Gender Age of Gross Total
or of contact Provided DBE Code Code Firm Receipts Contract

in this sched
schedule by
CERTIFICATION, as

of this

SIGNATURE

C-19




DBE SUBCONTRACTOR CERTIFICATION

NOTE: In accordance with 49 C.F.R. (Code of Federal Regulations) Part 26 and Board policy,
DBE firms participating in the DBE Program must have “current” certification status with a
TUCP Certifying Agency by the due date established for this RFP.

1. TO: (Respondent/Contractor):

is either currently certified under the Texas Unified Certification Program
or will be at the time this solicitation is due.

and/or % of the total contract
o found on RESPONDENT/CONTRACTOR

amount (should
CERTIFICA

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

PRINT NAME:

PHONE NUMBER:

C-20



RESPONDENT/
DATE: CONTRACTOR

SIGNATURE:

PRINT NAME:

PHONE NUMB

TTACH COPY OF SUBCONTRACTOR’S
ED CERTIFICATION PROGRAM CERTIFICATE

C-21



CONTRACTOR PAYMENT REPORT FORM

This form is to be included with each pay application until final payment of the
Contract has been made. This form has been included for reference only.

CONTRACTOR PAYMENT REPORT FORM

Instructions: Contractors are required to complete and submit this report, as specified in the contract or as requested, until final

payment of the contract has been made. Failure to comply with the DBE provisions may result in contract termination, or the
contractor from doing business with the Owner in the future in accordance with the procedures set forth

suspension or debarment of th
st be submitted with each invoice. Instructions for completing this report can be found on the

in the DBE Program. This &
followina page.

i . Reporting Period
1. C.ontract Number, 3. Reporting Perio 4. C-ontractor’s 5. Contact Person|6. Address
applicable To: Business Name
10. Original 11. Current Contract |12. Total Amount |13. Total Amount
Contract Amount |Modifications Received to Date |Owed
$ $ $ $

15. Actual D

21 22 23 24
Amount of this
) inwice
Name of DBE Subcontract Dollars | AMOUN PAIAI0 | 5ot Paid to Date | allocated to
Subcontractor date DBE
oice period
subcontractor

(Add rows to the table, as needed, to complete this section)

By completing this form, the Contractor acknowledges the Owner’s prompt payment polig bcontractors within

30 days of receiving payment from the Owner.

Signature Date Signed Name and

[End of Attachment C]

C-22



ATTACHMENT D
Insurance

(a) Kinds of Claims:

(1) claims under workers’ or workmen’s compensation, disability benefit and other
similar employee benefit acts which are applicable to Consultant’s Services to be performed;

(2)
death of Cox

damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or

sustained . : ense directly or indirectly related to employment of
such person by s

()

destruction of tangib

0 Consultant’s work itself, because of injury to or

gproperty, i $S of use resulting therefrom;

(6) claims for damage ily iaaj death of a person or property damage
arising out of ownership, maintet cle; and

(7) claims for professio

(b) Policies and Minimum Limits of Liabili

Kinds of Insurance:

A. Workers” Compensation
Texas Operations

Employer’s Liability Accident $500,000 Each Accide
Disease $500,000 Each Empl
Disease $500,000 Policy Li
B. Commercial General Liability | $1,000,000 General Ag

Including, but not limited to: $1,000,000 Products/C

1. premises/operations Operations Aggregate
2. independent contractors’ $1,000,000 Each Occurrence
protective $1,000,000 Personal and Advertising
3. products and completed Injury
operations $500,000 Fire Damage Liability

4. personal injury liability
with employment exclusion
deleted

5. contractual




Kinds of Insurance: Limits of Liability*:

C. Professional Liability $1,000,000 each occurrence &
$2,000,000 aggregate on a claims made
basis covering errors and omissions of
Consultant and its contractors,
subcontractors and subconsultants

D. Busmess Automoblle $1,000,000 Combined

Single Limit Per Occurrence

$1,000,000 Per Occurrence
$4,000,000 Aggregate

Bodily Injury and Property Damage
icy period unless otherwise indicated.

(1) All re i e maintained with responsible insurance carriers
acceptable to Midtown and law authorized to issue insurance of the types and amounts set
forth in Article 12 and this Attac y Financial Strength Rating of at least
A-and a Best’s Financial Size C , according to the most current edition
of Best’s Key Rating Guide, Pro

(2) All policies shall be in a form rea
must state that, to the extent commercially availablg
materially modified or nonrenewed unless the carrig

idtown and each policy
xpire or be cancelled,

ce, due to the
attainment of a normal expiration date or renewal d prior to such

that clearly evidence the continuation of all coverage in'the same mann€r, limits of pr
scope of coverage as is required by this Agreement. Any renewal or replacement poli

carriers to give written notice to the Public Works Director and Midtown
date on which total claims by any party against any insurance provided p
this Attachment D reduce the aggregate amount of coverage below the a
12 and this Attachment D. In the alternative, a policy may contain an endorsement establishing a
policy aggregate for each Work Order, subject to approval of such endorsement by Midtown.

3) With respect to all policies required in Article 12 and this Attachment D, as soon
as practicable upon execution of this Agreement, Consultant shall deposit with Midtown true and
correct certificates thereof, accompanied by evidence satisfactory to Midtown of the payment of
premiums and of the requirements of Article 12 and this Attachment D. Thereafter, certification
of premium payments shall be deposited with Midtown not less than thirty (30) days before the
expiration dates of the expiring policies or reduction of the stated dollar coverage of the face of

D-2



the policy. Ifrequested to do so by Midtown, Consultant shall also furnish the originals or certified
copies of the insurance policies for inspection.

4) All policies of insurance and certificates issued pursuant to Article 12 and this
Attachment D, with the exception of Professional Liability, and Workers’ Compensation
Insurance, shall name the Indemnitees as additional insureds.

Inasmuch as Midtown and Consultant intend that all of Consultant’s insured losses
Consultant’s insurers, without recourse against Midtown, Consultant
plicies of insurance required pursuant to Article 12 and this Attachment D

6)

of Consultant in the event of any loss and Consultant
inst the Indemnitee

(8) Moreover, Consu ' eflndemnitees from and waives all claims
it may have against the Indemnitees_te C such claims are covered by insurance
: tractor or subconsultant
hereunder, whether or not Consultant or such sub ins such insurance, and
EVEN IF SUCH CLAIMS ARISE OUT OF, ASED UPON AN
INDEMNITEE’S OWN NEGLIGENCE OR OTj
ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS CONDUCT
CONTRACT OR OTHER FAULT, HOWEVER
WITHOUT REGARD TO FAULT.

)] Consultant shall require and cause its contractors,
subconsultants to purchase and maintain the insurance policies set forth abo
liability commensurate with the amount of each such subcontract agreeme
provide copies of insurance certificates for all such insurance to Midtow
Director.

e Public Works

(10)  If Consultant fails to procure or to maintain in force the insurance required by
Article 12 and this Attachment D, Midtown may secure such insurance and the costs thereof shall
be borne by Consultant. Consultant shall reimburse Midtown the cost of such insurance plus five
percent (5%) administrative charge within ten (10) days after billing by Midtown. Any sum
remaining unpaid fifteen (15) days after billing by Midtown shall bear interest at the rate of twelve
percent (12%) per annum until paid by Consultant. CONSULTANT SHALL DEFEND,
INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE INDEMNITEES FROM AND AGAINST ANY
AND ALL LOSSES, CLAIMS, DAMAGES AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING COURT COSTS,



COSTS OF DEFENSE AND ATTORNEYS’ FEES), THAT ANY INDEMNITEE MAY INCUR
AS A RESULT OF THE CONSULTANT’S FAILURE TO OBTAIN OR CAUSE TO BE
OBTAINED THE SPECIFIC ENDORSEMENTS OR INSURANCE REQUIRED PURSUANT
TO THIS AGREEMENT. Failure of any Indemnitee to identify any deficiency in the insurance
forms provided shall not be construed as a waiver of the Consultant’s obligation to maintain such
insurance and to cause such insurance to be maintained.

(11)  Congultant’s compliance with the provisions of Article 12 and this Attachment D
shall not be deg o constitute a limitation of Consultant’s liability with respect to claims

Twise a
pankruptcy, o ure of any insurance company carrying insurance for Consultant or
or subconsultant, or the failure of any insurance company to pay

aive any of the provisions of this Agreement.

any such oth® :
cost thereof shall be charg

D-4



ATTACHMENT B
Form of Work Order

WORK ORDER NO.

This Work Qrder No. 1 (this “Work Order”) is issued subject to and is governed by that
certain Profession ices Agreement between Midtown and Consultant dated as of October |
2025 (the “PSA

Jaterials, Firm Fixed Price, Lump Sum (Circle and

Lighting - 250828"

Completion of Se

Midtown:
MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT ARUP US, INC.
AUTHORITY
By: By:
Christoph Gisel
Printed Name and Title Printed Name and Title
Date: Date:

[End of Attachment B]

B-1



ARUP

Midtown Houston 10370 Richmond Avenue, Suite 475
410 Pierce Street, Suite 355 Houston, TX 77042
Houston, TX 77002 USA
Marlon Marshall e christoph.gisel@arup.com

e mmarshall@midtownhouston.com t +1713 7832787

arup.com/lighting

Lighting - Scope Proposal

ices for the Midtown Houston Lighting Assessment and
nagement District (MMD) and the Midtown
k you through the process we have in mind.

Nighttime Safé¢
Redevelopment Authority (4

We revised the scope 3 ay 5" discussion to allow for authorization in phases.

1.1 Project Description

We understand the key aspects of't
lighting conditions and recommend
Specifically, the lighting design will

Why design for
perceptions of
safety?

Less investment for
crime prevention
measures for
mitigation

Reduced Inclusive and
likelihood accessible
of crime atmospheres
due to to spend
onlookers longer time in

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 1 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

1.2 Project Context

We understand that the Midtown Houston urban fabric is shaped by a variety of spaces types and uses,
such as: urban streetscapes and public parks, connectivity to local transit systems, cultural sites and
institutions and a thriving residential and business community.

Parks Walkable Cultural
1.3 Project Schedule

We understand that the anticipated p We expect the following phases and
associated timelines. Arup would bg'haj R A through the initial assessment and
planning phases, through phasing, : tation of lighting improvements.

1.3.1 Existing Lighting Assessment and Night
We anticipate the NVA scope to last 3 months.

1.33 Stakeholder Engagement and Final Lighting Masterplanning (Final Masterplan)
We anticipate the Stakeholder Engagement and Final Masterplanning scope to last 3 mon

1.34 Phasing Plan and Estimate of Probable Construction Costs (Phasing)
We anticipate the Phasing Plan scope to last 2 months.

1.3.5 Detailed Design and Engineering (CD)
Anticipated start date for the CD scope is not set, we assume a need of 3 months per CD package.

1.3.6 Implementation and Construction Administration (CA)
Anticipated start date for the CA scope is not set, expecting to last 18monhts per package.

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 2 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

1.4 Proposed Lighting Scope of Work

Lighting plays an important role in defining the character of a district’s night-time identity, programming,
and activities at night.

Well-designed nighttime lighting can influence the way in which we use and enjoy a city, the way we
move around its streets, and our connection to the community.

one that starts with human experiences as a driver to provide spaces that
are inherently inclusive and perceived as spaces that people want to
lop an informed lighting strategy that promotes the individual character

context, the oV ' and users, and the fundamental role that lighting plays
in creating these experiences

From sensitive historic isti ies to ambitious new artistic interventions and urban
developments, we comb 1vi al expertise for solutions that enhance the way cities
work after dark.

We understand that we will first co 0 alysis and NV A, and work with
MDD/MRA and local stakeholders i

intersections with code and standardsqFi A pedestrian lighting masterplan strategy
for the exterior areas within the project % ] mendationggin the form of short-term,
mid-term and long-term solutions. We will then wor op a phasing plan and
cost estimates. We are also able to provide detailed desig stration services, upon

agreement of priorities.

Potential lighting improvements that will be investigdted'i i able lighting,

solutions that can be either “plug-and-play” or permanent.

1.4.1 Existing Lighting Assessment and Nighttime Vulnerability Assessment (NVA
To start the project, we will participate in a Kick-off meeting in Houston with MDD/
stakeholders to understand project goals and aspirations and to explore the neighbor
at night. We suggest combining this with an evening walking tour with local sta

character tother

As part of the scope, we will provide an assessment of the existing conditions offthe defined area through
site visits, photo documentation, and taking light level measurements along pedestrian pathways.
Measurements will be taken along each pedestrian pathway on both sides of the street, including at
crosswalks. At key areas throughout the district, we will also conduct an in-depth Nighttime Vulnerability
Assessment (NVA), which will ultimately aid in an evidence-based approach to improve the Lighting
Masterplan Strategy that provides enjoyable and lasting night-time experiences.

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 3 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

The NVA uses onsite measurements to identify site lighting and contextual characteristics that have the
potential to influence the likelihood and consequences associated with criminal/antisocial behaviors. The
result is a report that comprises of a detailed explanation of the rationale and assessment framework and
presents the findings of the NVA consisting of three components:

e Part A: Contextual Element Assessment

Existing Site

Conditions
PartC
Technical Lighting
Assessment
B B
<
N i
Color Vertical Site Escape
Temperature Illluminance Typology Route
B B & R4
: 2

; are top reasons affecting
Color Horizontal Uniformity Ambient i whether or not residents

Renderin llluminance llluminance
g feed safe in the parks.

NVA Methodology Safety & Comfort

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 4 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

The goal of the assessment is to provide MDD/MRA and stakeholders of the project area with the
additional information that allows them to engage with concepts of pedestrian safety, place-making and
equal access after dark, reflect on possible lighting vulnerabilities, assess the risks involved, and act to
mitigate and reduce risk to the public.

Arup and MDD/MRA will discuss the locations for NVA based on site observations, background

information and community and stakeholder feedback. Midtown Parks and Public Space Masterplan will
be used as resourcg pitial investigation of areas that are more perceived as unsafe. NVA shall include
a couple of areas most safety within Midtown to provide an overall context, not only limited to

ess is intended to provide a consistent, evidence-based decision- making
nted in the form of an existing conditions assessment report.

time placemaking, and
the night-time environment. Providi fety and securlty will be the main form- giver of the lighting

plan. Safety in public spaces creates i i in a place, which in turn reinforces the
night-time economy.

e For the night-time economy [aysg athigh-level night-time activation plan that

Houston Users’ Guide for Walkable Places and Transit-Oriented Development.

The deliverable of this phase will include a preliminary lighting masterplan guideline o
practices and nighttime programming improvements for evaluation by the communi
stakeholders and finalization upon feedback in the next phase of the project.

1.4.3 Stakeholder Engagement and Final Lighting Masterplanning (Final
To evaluate the Arup proposed lighting improvements, we suggest hosting an outdoor evening community
event for local residences and business stakeholder, including a presentation of the conceptual lighting
designs to this date for feedback and evaluation. As part of this event, we will provide luminaire samples
to mockup the lighting improvement design intents on site for some of the project areas and installations,
where possible. This will ensure that the design intent is communicated and understood properly.
Outcomes include prioritization of design objectives for the project site; alignment of stakeholder goals;
and education in lighting improvements. We will implement the consolidated stakeholder and community
feedback into the final lighting masterplan.

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 5 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

unity Walking Tour Mockups and Community Event

1 include a final lighting masterplan guideline of principles of best
ming iiprovements for future detailed design and capital improvement.

@proposed lighting improvements and prepare

preliminary estimate of probable invgstiment needs for each priesity area lighting design, in collaboration

with an MDD/MRA determined Cos

1.4.4 Detailed Design and Engineering (CD)
Upon determination of phasing and funding priorities D
the detailed design for any or all lighting improvements,
design services, in collaboration with a MDD/MRA determined Electrical Engineering firm
preparation of their permit and construction documents:

e Discuss the masterplan design with the Project’s Electrical Engineer of Recor
incorporation of the requirements in the electrical system engineering

e Provide sketches, where required, to clarify the design and develop li details

e Work with the Electrical Engineer, to develop potential pedestrian, site, landscape and facade
lighting design elements

e Issue progress lighting plans in AutoCad and PDF format for EEoR and MDD/MRA reviews
e Provide fixture specifications and specification sheets, which include fixture cutsheets
e Provide lighting control specifications and lighting control narrative

e Provide lighting calculations on site lighting plans for possible review by local agencies

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 6 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

o  Work with the EEoR to incorporate the lighting control system design with the facilities electrical
infrastructure. We expect the electrical engineer to produce branch circuiting, and panel schedules

e Provide final layout drawings in AutoCad and PDF format to Engineering team, and review and
annotate Engineer’s drawings to show modifications to lighting layouts and provide additional
type and control designation. The engineer (EEoR) shall use these drawings in the preparation of
their permit and final construction documents

Construction Administration (CA)

we will assist MDD/MRA to review bids by GC/EC teams and help
ill then support the implementation and construction of the

e Attend construction progress meetings by pho

e Respond to requests for information (RFIs)

punch lists, subject to the field-day limit of one (1) day / evening, per month

e Following formal notification of systems commissioning completion from the co
a site review observing system operations and to prepare punch lists

e Provide direction for onsite programming of light level scenes
e Provide direction for luminaire focusing

e Review Luminaire Owner Manuals and Warranties

e (all with contractor and commissioning agents to coordinate Owner training

e Attend Post Construction Owner Trainings

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 7 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

2. Clarifications / Additional Services

21 Value Engineering

We expect the project to be costed during Phasing Plan and Estimate of Probable Construction Costs
(Phasing).

Our scope inclug value engineering session once bidding contractors have evaluated the final
pport the VE efforts in order to meet the project budget in the event that the
yroject is over budget. The value engineering session will be one (1) day
the session will be incorporated in a subsequent conformance set

value engineering work may be requested and will be performed as an

, or project specific requirements. We have also been
engaged for expert revie ida ighting fixture manufacturers. As the design of custom
fixtures can be an exte e custom fixture design is not known at this time,

2.3

time basis at the billing rates given in this proposal, or o sum basis.

Interior Architectural Lighting
Interior emergency lighting design and exit signs
Facade and Roof Top Garden Lighting
Professional Renderings and computer visualizations
Theatrical, broadcast, or event lighting design
Daylighting design and/or analysis

Microclimate analysis

3D/BIM documentation beyond the described AutoCAD documentation
Re-design to account for unforeseen field conditions

Value engineering and redesign to reduce project costs after [IFC

Site visits above and beyond the number of visits listed in this proposal

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 8 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

24 Additional Arup Services

While this proposal and our currently requested scope of work only include lighting design services, Arup
can provide the following specialist services upon request:

2.4.1 Security Consulting Audit
Upon receipt of all available data, Arup could establish a baseline understanding of local threat context,
and security countg ures currently in place, Findings from the baseline study would inform the

and docume

Access Control Natural Surveillence

*Fences, tree lines, or other elements whic * Windows or store front faces the site
define site boundaries *Clear line of sight throughout
. e Activ ces
* Sidewalks and pathways through .
P J = andscaping rule (low vegetation should

) Gates and doors L aot excecd 2ft and tree canopy should not
*Signage and wayfinding hang 1o r than 6ft)

* Consistent use of colors or materials v
establishes site identify
Territoriality Sitc/Harde

* Defined property lines with landscaping, s pliysic?| sccutity (e.o., 2ccess control, v 1'eo
planting, pavement treatments, fencing survellanee, mtrusion dct>ction systems,
alarm .,ystem)

*Public areas are distinguished from « Protective design (e.g., forced entry
restricted areas protection, vehicle barriers, pedestrian ga*
» Well and regularly maintained fencing type and condition)

*Gardens, public art, and furniture *Security staffing or community aid~  .ce
» Signs establishing ownership and limits on

We would then develop tailored security recommendations for Midtown Houston's streetscapes and
public facilities. The measures would combine CPTED, physical, technological, and operational
approaches based on Arup’s decades of experience in building and infrastructure design, as well as our
expertise in operational mitigation of security risks. Furthermore, in addition to integrating CPTED
principles, we will prioritize site and facility recommendations which enable a quick and effective
response for first responders. Utilizing operational input from law enforcement, first responders, and other
emergency response stakeholders, our integrated approach to CPTED includes designing to accommodate
response requirements.

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 9 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

3. Fee Proposal

For the scope of work described above, we propose the following fees per phase:

Service / Phase | 1. NVA 2. Preliminary | 3. Final 4. Phasing | 5.CD | 6.CA
Masterplan Masterplan

Lighting $ 49,500 $ 48,300 $ 39,800 TBD TBD

We reserve the right to negotiate eq i aS¢€ >ct’s schedule, size, scope, or
construction budget change from t . In the event that the project design is
placed on hold for a period of 30 days'q : or mobilization payment may be

required, pending a written confirmation from the

4, Reimbursable expense

Out of pocket expenses for phases 1.-3. may include:
o Hotel, travel, transport and meal expenses related to NVA and other site visits/meeting
e Printing, plotting and reproduction of documents, Messenger service, overnight
e Lighting mockup equipment expenses for community event

e Safet equipment and security escorts as needed for nighttime site visits

We suggest holding an expenses budget of $15,000

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 10 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

5. Terms and Conditions

Our standard terms and conditions, versions AFL-01A, are appended to this proposal and form an integral
part of our agreement to provide services. The terms and conditions and this proposal shall constitute the
entire agreement unless another contract is expressly agreed to in writing by all parties concerned.

proposal, please sign below and return a copy to us as our authorization

Sign and date to authorize scope and fee per phase:

Midtown Management Distg

1. NVA

$ 29,700

2. Preliminary Masterplan
$ 49,500

3. Final Masterplan
$ 48,300

4. Phasing
$ 39,800

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 11 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

Standard Terms and Conditions

Version: AFL-01A

May Midtown Arup US, Inc.  Midtown Midtown Houston Lighting
2025 Management Redevelopment

Authority

(MRA)

Owner Entity  Project Title Exhibits
(“Owner”) (“Project”)

1 and conditions are hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement” and supplement and govern all aspects of the obligations
and liab! j nless otherwise expressly defined, the terms used in this document have the same meaning as terms
in the engi ument may supplement. This Agreement shall control and supersede all prior or simultaneous
negotiations, ding separate agreements between the Client and an Owner or other party if applicable. In the
event that this Ag tive and controlling to the parties so long as Arup has provided same to the Client.

2.

2.1. The term “Instruments of Service” , opinions, letters and or other deliverables prepared by or for Arup, in any medium,
including graphic and pictorial representati ices for the Project and shall include but not be limited to engineering designs, details,
schedules, diagrams and written descrip vhi ign i e Project. If the Instruments of Service are a report, it is understood by the Client

2.2. The term “Work” means the construction and servicej of, equipment, materials, components, or assemblies related to or required for the construction
of the Project by a contractor and other construction specig The Work may constitute the whole or a part of the Project, whether completed or partially completed.
2.3. The term “Record Documents” means documents a apletion of the construction contract, recording changes from

Construction Documents made during construction such ders and other modifications, approved shop drawings, product
data, samples, and similar submittals.
2.4. The term “Standard of Care” shall mean the st i Tvices s evaluated which shall be in accordance with current, accepted
professional engineering practice appropriate for the size, her char
3.  ARUP’S RESPONSIBILITIES: Arup shall prepare
negligent errors and omissions which fall below that standard. A
promptly corrected by Arup without charge to Client for the effort in effectuating same
of Service, while consistent with the Standard of Care as defined above, may contain ¢
provided to the Client. If the Errors do not increase the Project cost by more than five p p ility for increase in the Project cost
in connection with the Errors. This release does not limit Arup’s liability for increases ents of Service are not prepared
in a manner consistent with the Standard of Care.

4. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES: The Client shall provide the following:

er consistent with the Standard of Care and shall only be liable for
Service, whether or, in violation of the Standard of Care, shall be
lient and Arup agree that the Instruments

¢ to all requests and/or
documents submitted by Arup. (3) A periodic update to the budget for the Project with th i anged and shall not

chemical tests and tests for hazardous materials. (5) All legal, insurance and accounting services, including auditing services that Client determines
its needs and interests relating to the Project. (6) All fees necessary for securing the approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. (7)

inconsistencies in Arup’s services expeditiously after discovery.

5. ADDITIONAL SERVICES: Arup’s fee was determined based on expected time and effort to complete its scope of service,
for the Project and with the construction cost and construction schedule contemplated in the original budget and schedule.
Client and/or the Owner that Arup shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment of its fees so that the percentages of its fe struction cost remain constant if the
design or construction schedule is lengthened beyond the original schedule or if the construction cost or project budget is incréased beyond five percent (5%). Except
to the extent caused by a negligent error or omission, if the Client requests that Arup perform any of the following services (the “Additional Services”), the Client shall
provide Arup with additional compensation equal to Arup’s hours expended at Arup’s standard hourly rates. Arup’s hourly rates are subject to annual adjustment in
accordance with Arup’s standard practice. In the alternative, the Client and Arup may agree on stipulated sum fees for specific Additional Services. In no event shall
Arup be compelled or required to perform what it deems in its reasonable professional judgment to be an Additional Service unless and until the Client and/or Owner
provides the appropriate written change order.

5.1. PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS: It shall be an Additional Service if Arup is requested to make any revisions in the Instruments
of Service when such revisions are: (1) inconsistent with approvals or instructions previously given by the Client; (2) required because of changes in the Project
including, size, quality, complexity, the Client’s schedule, the Client’s budget, or the method of bidding or negotiating and contracting for construction; (3) required due
to errors or omissions in the services of any other Consultant working for the Owner; (4) required by the enactment or revisions to codes, laws or regulations subsequent
to the preparation of such documents; (5) due to changes required as a result of the Client’s failure to render decisions in a timely manner; or (6) required to reduce the
cost of the Project to comply with previous cost estimates or Project budgets, including value engineering. If this project is located outside of the United States or
Canada, any and all costs associated with corporate or personal registrations and/or business permits has been excluded and will be charged as an additional sum at cost
to the Client.

ed in the Engineering Proposal
erstood and acknowledged by the

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 12 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

5.2. AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS: All of the following activities after the issuance of construction documents shall be
considered Additional Services: (1) preparing any changes to the Instruments of Service or preparing other documentation, analysis and supporting data, evaluating
contractors’ proposals, and providing other services in connection with change orders and construction change or extra work directives; (2) providing services in
connection with evaluating substitutions or alternates proposed by a contractor, the Client or others; (3) providing services made necessary by the default or termination
of a contractor, by defects or deficiencies in the construction of the Project or by the failure of performance on the part of the Client, any contractor or others performing
services or Work in connection with the Project; (4) providing services in connection with claims submitted by any contractor or others performing services or providing
Work on the Project; (5) providing services in connection with the preparation for legal proceedings or attendance at public hearings or other meetings (6) providing
services when submittals are reviewed prior to receiving a submittal schedule, reviewing submittals out of sequence, or if more than two reviews are required of any
submittal (7) providing services in responding to unnecessary, excessive or unreasonable requests for information submitted by the Client, any contractor or others who
are performing Work or supplying materials in connection with the Project; (8) providing services in excess of one punch list compilation for each area or component
of the Project and one review of the punch list items for completion; (9) providing any services requested by the Client after the earlier of the issuance of the final
Certificate for Payment or sixty, ays after Substantial Completion was originally scheduled; (10) providing services that are not customarily provided by an engineer
as basic services on project; ize, complex1ty and scope as the PI’O_]eCt and which have not been set forth as Basic or Additional Serv1ces in thlS Agreement
(11) providing “fast tracl
Drawings (as defined i

ES EXPENSES, OR DAMAGES WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED
, FROM ANY CAUSE OR CAUSES WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
BREACH OF CONTRACT, MISREPRESENTATION, OR BREACH OF WARRANTY OF

MPENSATION RECEIVED BY ARUP FOR THE SPECIFIC WORK PERFORMED

relationship with or a cause of actio avor of a third pai
7. RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSTRUCTION OF

7.1. INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE: The Instrumen
construct the Project. Nothing in the Agreement shall crg
procedures of any contractor, subcontractor, or their emp!
or failure to properly perform of any contractor, subcont
7.2. REVIEW SERVICES: Observation or review se
to, during or after completion of construction, are performed
the design intent of contract plans and specifications. Althoug
Arup may nevertheless fail to detect non-conformances. In the a
the Client for the economic or other consequences stemming from such undetected no
services of Arup do not extend to or include the review or site observation of a contractg
any employee or agent of Client.
7.3. RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSTRUCTION COSTS: Arup is not responsib j 11 not be deemed to have a duty
of means and methods. Upon the request of the Client, Arup shall review and com i timates of construction costs
prepared by or for the Client. The Client acknowledges Arup is not responsible for i

rup shall not incur any liability as a result of the acts, omissions,
€er person or party.

eement, whether of material or work and whether performed prior
determine general conformity of the work performed by others with
practices and proc ures, as appropriate under the circumstances,
without affecting itations herein, Arup shall not be liable to
ances or their sul ection. It is agreed that the professional
esponsibility to reject or stop work of

The Client further agrees that Arup shall have no liability for actual construction costs exceeding the Project construction’budget or prior cost ¢; If the Cllent
requests that Arup provide redesign services to reduce construction costs, Arup shall be compensated for such redesign efforts as Additional Se
such redesign efforts were not required due to a negligent error, inconsistency or omission in the Instruments of Service.

7.4. RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT SCHEDULE: Arup is responsible for meeting the milestone dates set forth in a schedule of
agrees to and are incorporated in to the Client’s Project Schedule. However, if Arup is delayed or disrupted in performing its services or,
specific milestone dates is adversely affected in either case by the actions of the Client, construction manager, any contractor or other;
reasonable control (including without limitation a Force Majeure Event), then: (1) Arup’s liability for missing any milestone dates
delay is caused by the actions or failure to act of others or for reasons beyond Arup’s control, (2) the time for performance of Arup!
and (3) Arup shall be compensated for any additional resources employed as an Additional Service.

7.5. RECORD DOCUMENTS: The Client acknowledges that Arup is generally not responsible for the production or on of Record Documents as it is a
contractor's sole responsibility, who through its superintendent, is constantly present at the site, in control of operations, volved in all details of construction.
Should Arup be requested to prepare or modify Record Documents, the Client understands the limitations of the Record Documents and acknowledges and agrees that
Arup has not verified the accuracy or completeness of the information on which the Record Documents are based and agrees to indemnify and release Arup for any
liability for any errors or omissions that may be incorporated therein.

7.6. ACCELERATED PROJECT DELIVERY OR FAST TRACK: In the event the Client chooses to take advantage of the potential time and cost savings benefits
of an accelerated project delivery or fast-track process, the Client acknowledges that it has been advised that the Project will be affected. Some of the effects of either
process include the necessity of making early or premature commitments to design decisions and the issuance of incomplete and uncoordinated construction documents
for permitting, bidding, and construction purposes. The Client acknowledges that the Project, if developed on either basis, will likely require associated coordination,
design, and redesign of parts of the Project after construction documents are issued and the construction contract is executed, and may require removal of work-in-place,
all of which events may cause an increase in the Cost of the Work and/or an extension of the Project construction schedule. Therefore, the Client acknowledges the
necessity of including sufficient contingencies in the budget for the Cost of the Work to account for additional costs and construction schedule extensions arising from
either process.

7.7. ELECTRONIC FILES: If requested, Arup shall provide the Client with the Instruments of Service in electronic form. However the Client recognizes that the
use of electronic media such as CADD formats may subject them to tampering, and modifications by parties over whom Arup has no control and which may result in
discrepancies and translation errors stemming from differences in computer software, hardware and equipment-related problems, disc malfunctions and user error. The
Client releases Arup from any claims as a result of differences between Arup’s filed hard copy and the electronic form of the Instruments of Service if applicable. For

reduced to the extent the
s shall be equitably adjusted,

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 13 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

each recipient to whom the Client provides the Instruments of Service in electronic form or to whom Arup provides the Instruments of Service in electronic form at the
Client’s request or under this Agreement, the Client agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Arup from all claims, causes of action, suits, demands, and damages,
arising from any differences between the filed hard copy and the electronic form of the Instruments of Service.

7.8. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS: Arup’s services do not include services related to detection, reporting, permitting, analysis, or abatement of asbestos, hazardous
or toxic materials including molds and fungus (collectively “hazardous materials”) at the Project site. In the event Arup or any other party encounters hazardous
materials at the jobsite, or should it become known in any way that hazardous materials may be present at the jobsite or any adjacent areas that may affect the performance
of Arup’s services, Arup may, without liability for consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of services on the Project until the Client retains appropriate
specialist consultants or contractors to identify, abate and/or remove the hazardous materials and warrant that the jobsite complies with applicable laws and regulations.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Client shall defend, indemnify and Hold Harmless Arup, its officers, directors, shareholders, partners, principals, agents,
employees, consultants, successors, and assigns from and against all liability, loss, damages, costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which
any of them may at any time su: or incur by reason of any demands, claims, causes of action or legal proceedings arising out of or in connection with asbestos,
hazardous or toxic materials on gject site.

7.9. LEED: The LEED
to promote environmenta

Rating system or similar environmental guidelines (“LEED”) utilizes certain design, construction and usage criteria in order

LEED, Arup shal orming its services, in interpreting LEED and designing in accordance with LEED. However, Arup does not warrant
EED certification or realize any particular energy savings. Arup shall not be responsible for any environmental or
energy issues on of the completed Project

8.

8.1 Arup shall indemnify the Client and its officers, employees and successors from and against all third party damages
losses, d penses to the extent they result from Arup’s negligent acts or negligent omissions in the preparation
of the Instru ; 2 Opyri } infringement attributable to Arup’s services. The Client acknowledges and agrees that Arup shall
have no affi i e a party in connection with indemnified claims and that Arup’s responsibility for reimbursement
of any reasonabl® ¢ pon a finding against Arup of negligence by a court of competent jurisdiction and then only
to the extent there 1. e Client further agrees that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, no shareholder, officer.
director, partner, principa der this Indemnification provision, under any provision of the Agreement or for any
matter in connection with the professional e Project

8.2. CLIENT INDEMNIFICATION @ : iabi rand agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Arup, its consultants, and their respective

i 0 e om and against all damages, losses and judgments, including reasonable attorney’s
or omission of the Client, its agents, employees, consultants, contractors or construction
is section shall extend for all time notwithstanding the termination or expiration of the

fees and expenses, to the extent the
manager (collectively for this indem
Agreement.

9. INSURANCE COVERAGES:

9.1. All deductibles and premiums associated with the b
Arup. The use of umbrella or excess liability insurance tg
in the same type and amounts of coverage as required u
of insurance evidencing compliance with the insurance
9.2. MINIMUM AMOUNT OF COVERAGE: Arup sha

Type

Workmen's Compensation

of professional liability insurance shall be the responsibility of
ermitted, provided that such umbrella or excess insurance results
below. Arup shall upon request provide to the Client certificates

ounts of insurance during the term of this Agreement.

Statutory

Employer's Liability $ 100,000

Commercial General $ 500,000

(Bodily Injury/Property Damage)

Automobile Liability $ 500,000

Professional Liability $ 1,000,000

Umbrella Liability $ 1,000,000
9.3. PROJECT POLICIES: If the Client chooses to acquire a policy of professional lial i it will pay the cost
of the project policy and that Arup must agree on the limits of coverage, parties covered, dedu i i i ial completion

of the services.

10. OWNERSHIP AND USE OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE: Arup is the author of the Instruments of Service and shall retain all co:
other rights, including copyrights. Provided Arup is fully compensated for its services and expenses on the Project, the Instruments of Servic,
to be used for construction of the Project and for operation, modification and maintenance of the Project following its completion. In t]
digital models (collectively referred to as “Digital IP”) is created by or on behalf of Arup in relation to the Project, Arup grants to Clie
the Digital IP for the sole purpose of completing the Project provided that Arup is fully compensated for its services and expense:
agreed, Client shall not be entitled to make multiple copies of the Digital IP, permit use by multiple users of the Digital IP, and/or,
than the completion of the Project. Arup shall have a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free license to use any data or informati
Project (excluding personal data as defined under applicable data privacy legislation) for the purpose of improving its inte: esses and project delivery. Where
any data or information generated during the course of Arup’s services is held within an externally-hosted data storage ' project extranet or similar hosted or
controlled by the Client, the Client shall at any time up to 12 months from practical completion of the Project provide to Arup¥(or procure from a third party) access to
all such data and information. The Client agrees that Arup will not have any liability to the Client for any revision or addition to, alteration or deviation from the
Instruments of Service occurring subsequent to Arup’s completion of services under the Agreement or earlier termination in accordance with the Agreement. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, the Client shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Arup, its officers, directors, shareholders, partners, principals, agents, employees,
consultants, successors, and assigns from and against all liability, loss, damages, costs, and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which any of them
may at any time sustain or incur by reason of any revision or addition to, misuse of or deviation from the Instruments of Service occurring subsequent to Arup’s
completion of services under or the earlier termination of this Agreement by or on behalf of the Client. Client acknowledges Arup’s right to include photographic or
artistic representations of the design of the Project among its promotional and educational materials including Arup’s website or elsewhere. If the Client publicizes the
Project and credits other designers, it shall give Arup credit as appropriate and in accordance with industry standards.

11. TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION: Except as otherwise provided in this section, this Agreement may be terminated by either party upon not less than thirty
(30) calendar days’ written notice for convenience or should the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault
of the party initiating the termination. If the defaulting party fails to cure its default within the thirty (30) calendar day notice period or fails to commence action to cure
its default when the cure cannot reasonably be completed within thirty (30) days, the termination shall take effect without further notice. Upon a suspension of services
by the Client or termination for convenience, Arup shall be paid for all fees and expenses for services performed through the date of the suspension / termination plus
demobilization expenses. In the event of a suspension of services or a termination, Arup shall have no liability for any delay or damage caused because of such

roject. Unless otherwise
igital IP for purposes other
ied to it in connection with the

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 14 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



ARUP

suspension/termination of services. Upon the resumption of Arup’s services, Arup’s fee shall be equitably adjusted and Arup shall be reimbursed for all expenses
incurred as a result of the suspension. If the Client’s suspension of Arup’s services continues for more than ninety (90) calendar days, Arup may terminate this Agreement
upon seven (7) calendar days” written notice to the Client.

12. PAYMENT PROVISION: Invoices shall be submitted monthly and payments are due within 30 days. All monies secured by the Client by its client to pay for
Arup‘s services identified herein shall be deemed to be held in trust for Arup. Payment of Arup’s fees shall not be dependent on Client receiving funding from a third
party. In the event of a dispute pursuant to the services rendered hereunder, the Client shall not have the right to set off any payments due or owing to Arup. Payments
due Arup and which remain unpaid shall bear interest 30 days from the date of the invoice at the rate of one and a half percent (1.5%) cumulatively per month or the
maximum amount permitted by law. Arup is entitled to recover any and all legal fees and any other costs expended if it becomes necessary to pursue legal actions to
collect fees due hereunder. Client expressly acknowledges that Arup shall be entitled to a judgment for its attorney fees and court costs attributable to the collection of
its fees which are ultimately adjudicated/arbitrated to be rightfully due and owing. Failure of the Client to make payments to Arup in accordance with this Agreement
shall be considered substantial nqu#performance and grounds for Arup to terminate the Agreement or suspend its services without liability for delay. Arup’s full payment
pursuant to this section shal endition precedent for its obligation of performance. Reimbursable Expenses will be billed at cost plus ten percent (10%).
Reimbursable Expenses in al expenses incurred directly or indirectly in connection with the Project such as those for travel (including transportation and
eproduction of Project-related documents, reproduction of drawings; filing and permit fees; delivery, express and courier

onfirm that they are genuine and not a cyber attack, such as phishing, pharming, etc, failure of hardware, software,
right of set-off or credit for an incident not the fault of Arup. To assist Client in fraud prevention, we have initiated
sure the emails they receive from us originate within the Arup network.

ences associated with disputes both in terms of lost time and expense to all parties, the
Client and Arup agree to settle their disputg iati on precedent to the institution of legal proceedings by either party. The parties shall
pdiation shall be held in the state and locality of the primary Arup office performing
atter cannot be resolved through (or is not appropriate for) negotiation or mediation,
ate or territory where the primary Arup office performing the work is located and this
Agreement shall be subject to and co at state or territory. The Client shall not assert any claim against Arup more than three (3)
years after the date of the substantial completion of the Prq

15. FORCE MAJEURE: Neither the Client nor Arup shal hefferms of this Agreement for the failure to perform which is occasioned
by a Force Majeure Event, which shall mean an event or ¢ pnable control, (2) the affected Party could not have reasonably
avoided or overcome, and (3) which is not substantially a ents may include, without limitation, war, invasion, act of terror,
strike (but not strikes or disputes unique to a Party), riot o
epidemic or pandemic, or other declaration of public heals

rising there from may be assigned without
part of its rights and obligations under
this Agreement to an affiliated or related entity.

Arup Lighting Scope, Phases and Fee Proposal Page 15 of 15 Midtown Houston Lighting



2026



HOUSTGN
N

Green Corridor — Innovation
November 2025



Green Corridor Overview

e  Corridor connecting NRG Stadiu own, and EaDo as a model of sustainable infrastructure,
showcasing the best of Houstogf’and levefaging the 2026 World Cup to create lasting
environmental and social bergl

* The Green Corridor initiatives ce
resilience and innovation
 Celebrate Houston’s story!
o From parks and green spaces to energy and in
o Houston is the future — let’s show it
Connect people across key venues
o  With accessible routes and wayfinding
o Safely and securely
 Mitigate heat and enhance public spaces
o Shade, cooling features, and nature-based solutions
o Coordinated programming
. Foster environmental awareness
o Learning opportunities around Houston’s unique natural ecosystems,
o Showcasing our culture, art, and history

iversity, and innovation.




Th e M a p Map Boundaries: Red line from downtown to NRG Park,
purple/green line + pedestrian corridors to Fan Festival, and Fan
Festival to Columbia Tap Trail to Brays Bayou to TMC Transit Center HousToM

showcasing: F—

Develop an external-facing storytelli

Green Corridor Map l

*  FWC26 Sites
o Event routes, venues

Legend

@® METRO Rail Stations

Half-Mile Buffer Around
METRO Siations

o Critical healthcare, emergency, safety,
points

e Sustainable Transit
o Bike lanes and multiuse trails

Main Street Promenade
— Trails

Houston METRO Rail Lines
. METRO Red Line

s METRO Purple Line
s METRO Green Line

o Pedestrian corridors

o Metro stops and key bus lines
* Resilience Demonstrations

o Parks, green spaces, and urban farms

o Prairies, wetlands, urban forests, and other ecosystem
habitat and demonstration sites

. Innovation Demonstrations

o Energy, circularity, and other innovation sites
o University network (UHD, UH, TSU, Rice)

(i ]
Green Corridor Map-draft - Google My Maps



https://www.google.com/maps/d/edit?mid=1iUdesS6Gxq4jmlL4th6JhSVSrzEOeYs&ll=29.729062087418576%2C-95.4298867&z=12
https://www.google.com/maps/d/edit?mid=1iUdesS6Gxq4jmlL4th6JhSVSrzEOeYs&ll=29.729062087418576%2C-95.4298867&z=12
https://www.google.com/maps/d/edit?mid=1iUdesS6Gxq4jmlL4th6JhSVSrzEOeYs&ll=29.729062087418576%2C-95.4298867&z=12
https://www.google.com/maps/d/edit?mid=1iUdesS6Gxq4jmlL4th6JhSVSrzEOeYs&ll=29.729062087418576%2C-95.4298867&z=12
https://www.google.com/maps/d/edit?mid=1iUdesS6Gxq4jmlL4th6JhSVSrzEOeYs&ll=29.729062087418576%2C-95.4298867&z=12

The Experience

(@)

Elements

Cooling and Heat Mitigation: Clcarly markec arecs
offering shade, water, and cooling.

Resilient Infrastructure: Native planting, species
conservation, tree canopy, innovation, susta‘nabie
energy, and last mile waste and circularity
strategies.

Learning Moments: Engaging and accessible
information about adjacent “green” projects,
highlighting Houston’s parks, history and culture,
innovation centers, local ecosystems, and
multimodal transportation options. These moments
help tell Houston’s story.

Connectivity and Wayfinding: Clear signage and
digital map guiding visitors along the corridor, to
key venues, and to the various sustainability
features.

Example Improvements




Midtown Innovation Corridor

The Opportunity: Develop an innovg

Greentown Labs to highlight the and Midtown’s leadership on resilience.

 Cooling and Heat Mitigation
o Tree canopy improvements
o Native planting
o Potential: Water station innovations

o Potential: Startup pilots of cool coatings & shade s

e Low Carbon Energy & Transportation
o Solar towers and charging stations
o Upcycled structures (e.g. recycled wind turbine bencli/ s
o Bike rack & repair station

o Crosswalk improvements
 Learning Moments & Wayfinding

o Digital kiosk

o Mini murals, carbon absorbing paint, and art that tells Houston’s innovation story

o Innovation activation during World Cup at The lon / Greentown Labs



Collaboration Opportunities

 Stakeholders Engaged

(@)

(@)

(@)

Midtown Redevelopment A
Midtown Management Dist
Rice Real Estate Company / The
Greentown Labs

Metro

Trees for Houston

Bike Houston

/ 1. 5370
eler an5|t\ nter,.®

ﬁ 6 min

“(” 0.3 miles




Sustainability ENG ENT

World Cup HO

Elizabeth Carlson, Chair, Sustainability Sub-Coffimittee
ecarlson@fwc26houston.com




0JB

Date: 7 November 2025

Mr. Marlon Marshall Additional Services Proposal 1 — Renewal of Work Order 1A On Call Services
Midtown Redevelopment MT-HOU Work Order 1A On Call Services

Authority

410 Pierce Street, Suite 3565

Houston, TX 77002 Dear Marlon,

Per recent conversations and emails with you, OJB is submitting a request for additional
services to cover time associated with Work Order 1A On Call Services This Additional Services
Proposal request covers the following scope items:

e  General landscape architecture services for conceptual design

e  General parks and open space governance, operations, programming, activation and
revenue generation

Preparation or assistance with CIP projects as requested

Rreparation of related presentation materials for board meetings as requested

ue was $ 92900
approved Additional Services $ 92,900
prior to this Additional Service was $ 185,800
is Additional Service in the amount of ~ $ 49135
fiditional Service will be $ 234,935

This Addi i ent between The Office of James

ity (“Client”) dated 1 October 2021 (the
“Agreement”). All terms of thé ; force and effect and shall govern
the performance of and pay! i in, unless expressly stipulated
below. This authorizes OJB 1 j services in relation to the
above referenced project. i herein shall not exceed
the amounts stipulated beld

This Additional Service will be a i ully executed by
both parties.
Dallas
TEXAS
THE OFFICE OF JAMES BURNETT, INC. CLIENT
dba OJB LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
Boston
MASSACHUSETTS
San Diego
CALIFORNIA
Name Tara Green Name
Philadelphia
PENNSYLVANIA
Title Principal Title
Houston
TEXAS Date 7 November 2025 Date
Denver
COLORADO

1845 Woodall Rodgers Frwy,
Suite 1225, Dallas, TX 75201
972.414.6990



nt with
own

Development
Pearl Reside
Owner, LL

re



JENT AGREEMENT

#5157378.11



3.02
3.03
3.04
3.05

4.01
4.02

5.01
5.02
5.03
5.04
5.05
5.06

6.01
6.02
6.03
6.04

#5157378.11

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE 1
GENERAL TERMS
...................................................................................................................... 3
......................................................................................................... 8
ARTICLE 2
REPRESENTATIONS
..................................................................... 8
........................................................................................ 9
.............................................................................................. 10
Pearl Rosemont ROWERIOTEOI............coooviiiiriiiiiiiieine e ses st arsens 10
Additional Projects. . SBl........cccocoviriiininrerer s oot e 10
Midtown’s Right to DV RSO IOTPUPP R 10
Developer’s Right INALCAIRIIIT. ... B .....eeoerenreneirteicite et es e ae e araasre s 11
DUTIES AND RESPONSIE
General ReqUIrements. ......c.covcvvvveree. 00000 oo BT R e 11
Post-Construction Obligations and Lj@Bilitics . ARG .............. . ...coooovivininnnnans 14
ARTIC
PROJECT FINANCING
Developer AQVANCES .....c.oviriiiniiiiiiniiiiie et
Information to be Provided by Developer .......ccoccevimiiieniinennnnenn R
REIMbBUISEIMENT . .vivvivieerrerieirirereeseeeessesiesiesnessesnsssenserssnsessessessense ORI L Lcniniinennnns
Sale Or ASSIZNMENE ...cvevvireciiiiririeniiisereeessssnesesnssesrescnos R s
[Intentionally Deleted.] .....oooviiverirmiiveiniinnineeeinncneee SR e
Ineligible ProJect COStS....coiviivmiiiiueiirereerninesesere et o
ARTICLE 6
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Default by DEVEIOPET .....cvcvivieiiriiieiei i s 17
Remedies Upon Default by DeVEIoper ........cvveveiiiininineiies 17
Default by MIAtOWN ...cc.ccoeviririiiiiiieesse s 17
Remedies Upon Default by MidtoWn .......ooiiiiinnniniciniciniine, 18
-i-



6.05 CUMULAIVE REIMEAIES ... uvvvreeeeeeeriierieressiiisrsraeesesessirrrrsseesteesessssssirsseresssivssssnisessensasses 18

6.06 Declaratory or Injunctive Relief ..o 18
6.07 INO WEIVELS .eeveeviinieetessreeeseesseseseseseesssesssesssessessasteeseesnssssssesssensssasssssasarssossosssssesssneans 18
6.08 Effect Of TermINation...vvcveeeeeierrirreerieeseeserresessresirisnessuessnsressessnsssisessisssssssessssessusssns 18
6.09 CoUrt ProCEEAINES .cuveveireerreeererinieiiitiiniet sttt st 18
6.10 DIAIMAZES . cveverrecererieert ettt bbb s er et b et 19

....................................................................................................... 19

......................................................................... 19

.......................................................................... 19

...................................................................................................... 19

...................................................................................... 21

.................................................................................................. 21

.......................................................................................... 21

and SubSECLIONS......ccovivreerivreeieee s rnererseinneenane 21

............................................................................................... 21

TTCCITICNIT ... 0o TURRIIII - . c.vvoeveeveenrosesressesaesnssonsnostenseersessessessansresssnsensesssssss 21

. Term ANd SULVIVAL .. ot . e ivustreereererreresrreerezatereetreteerresertissiesssbsssessssrsrsnsetssessesenanenss 21

7.12 Approval by the Parfi€§......................... ettt st e 22

7.13 Waiver of Jury Trighll................ P B ..o 22

7.14 Recordation........... ...

7.15 Counterparts.............. Gr.......3

Exhibit A - Pear] Residences at Midtown Develog Depiction
Exhibit B-1 — Rosalie Street Improvements
Exhibit B-2 - ROW Improvements

Exhibit C — Insurance, Release and Indemnification
Exhibit D — Form of Final Completion Certificate
Exhibit E — Form of Certificate of Advance
Exhibit F — Form of Final Certificate of Advance

Exhibit G — Form of Maintenance Agreement

A
#5157378.11



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of the Effective Date (hereafter
defined) by and among the MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (“Midtown
Authority” or “Midtown”), a public non-profit local government corporation created and
organized under the provisions of Chapter 431, Texas Transportation Code, and authorized and
ity under Resolution No. 95-96 adopted on June 28, 1995, acting by and
g body, the Board of Directors (the “Midtown Board™) and acting on behalf
ONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS (“Midtown
einvestment zone created by the City of Houston, Texas (“City”)
he Texas Tax Code, as amended, acting by and through its governing
rs (the “Midtown Zone Board”), and PEARL RESIDENCES AT
, a Delaware limited liability company (“Developer”).

RECITALS

Council of the City created the Midtown Zone
amended, approved a preliminary Project Plan and

on June 28, 1995 by the City Council of the City, the
City authorized the creation of th€Midtown Authorifs id, assist and act on behalf of the City
in the performance of the Cit : @prictary functions with respect to the
common good and general wé and neighboring areas as described in
Ordinance No. 94-1345.

By Ordinance Nos. 95-1322, 1999-849 2
August 11, 1999 and December 29, 2009, respe
the annexation of additional property into the bo

The City, the Midtown Zone and the Mi@

Agreement dated March 15, 1996, and approved pu
by Ordinance Nos. 97-1540, 98-301 and 2000-494 (as amended, the
pursuant to which the City delegated to the Midtown Authority the power and
administer the Midtown Zone including, but not limited to, the power to eng
relating to the acquisition and development of land, the construction an
infrastructure in the Midtown Zone, entering into agreements with Develo
in the Midtown Zone, and the issuance, sale or delivery of its bonds, not
accordance with and subject to the limitations set forth in the Midtown

The Midtown Board and the Midtown Zone Board adopted a Project and Financing Plan
(as amended, the “Project Plan”) on May 2, 1997, which provides that the Midtown Authority,
on behalf of the Midtown Zone, will undertake to make improvements in the Midtown Zone.
The Midtown Board and the Midtown Zone Board submitted the Project Plan to the City Council
of the City for approval and on May 28, 1997, and the City Council approved the Project Plan by
Ordinance No. 97-600. The Midtown Board and the Midtown Zone Board previously submitted
to the City amendments, clarifications and related updates to the Project Plan, which were

-1-
#5157378.11



approved Ordinance No 97-1338 adopted on October 22, 1997, Ordinance No. 1999-850 adopted
on August 11, 1999, Ordinance No. 2009-1395 adopted on December 29, 2009, Ordinance No.
2011-534 adopted on June 22, 2011 and by Ordinance No. 2013-638 adopted on July 10, 2013
(the “Fifth Amendment”).

The Texas Tax Code provides that the Midtown Zone may enter into agreements as the
Midtown Zone Beard considers necessary or convenient to implement the Project Plan and to
achieve its p

1.89 acre tract, more or less, in the Midtown Zone located at 3120
d depicted on Exhibit A on which Developer will develop a mixed
‘Pear]l Residences at Midtown” with approximately 263 residential
hole Foods Market (hereafter defined) grocery store with 2
Whole Foods Market (“Pearl Residences at Midtown

t benefits, subject to the number of work hours,
ess of the minimum wage, store discounts, low
tock options. Additionally, Developer anticipates
e causes and organizations within the
and will generally contribute to the

individual health 118
that Whole Foods Market will
Midtown Zone as it has done

runs one block between

previously purchased from the City the portid (
the north and south of

Smith and Brazos Streets to consolidate propert
Rosalie Street into a single tract and relocated u
Street Acquisition™), and incurred acquisition, g

and with estimated costs set forth in Exhibit B-1(b)
connection with the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development, Developer (1)
incurred costs related to the planning, design and engineering of the ROW
(hereafter defined) as itemized in Exhibit B-2(a) (the “ROW Design Costs”),
construct or install certain landscaping and public improvements in the
located along Elgin, Smith and Brazos Streets immediately adjacent to t
Midtown Development as described in and with estimated costs se in Exhibit B-2(b
(“ROW Improvements). The Rosalie Street Acquisition, Rosalie et Improvements and
ROW Improvements are collectively referred to herein as the “Pearl Midtown ROW Project.”

rl Residences at

The Midtown Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the Midtown
Authority to enter into this Agreement to further the efficient and effective implementation of
certain aspects of the Project Plan to induce the development of the Pearl Residences at Midtown
Development and Pearl Midtown ROW Project and for the economic benefits expected to be
derived from the presence of Whole Foods Market within the Midtown Zone.

-
#5157378.11



AGREEMENT

For and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, obligations, and benefits of
this Agreement, Midtown, Developer contract and agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
GENERAL TERMS

to a specified Person, a Person that directly, or
controls or is controlled by, or is under common

“Affiliate(s)”

indirectly through g

& power to direct or cause the direction of the day-to-day
management and policies of a e ownership of voting securities or
membership interests, by statu der a limited partnership agreement,
by appointment as sole man C ] gfafing agreement, by fund management
contract or other similar arrangemg

possession, directly or indirectl

“Applicable Law(s)” shall mean the 1 laws, statutes, acts,
ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, licenses, izati rders, writs, rulings,
injunctions, interpretations, permits and requireg uthority that now
or hereafter may be applicable to the Project
designing, engineering, constructing, developing
the Project, including those relating to employees;
matters and accessibility of public facilities.

and using
iconmental

“4uthority Obligations” shall mean bonds, notes or other obligations n
issued by the Midtown Authority that are secured in whole or part by Contract

“Available Tax Increment” shall mean Contract Tax Increments
Midtown Authority after the year following the Completion of the Pe sidences at Midtown
Development that are attributable to Pearl Residences at Midtown Development and any and all
improvements thereon; provided, however, that the pledge of any amounts deemed to be
Available Tax Increments are subordinate to and subject to: (1) the rights of any holders of
Authority Obligations; and (2) reductions in the Contract Tax Increments received annually by
the Midtown Authority of approximately one-third (1/3) for funds dedicated to the development
of affordable housing within the City. The Available Tax Increment does not include: (a)
reductions by the City in Contract Tax Increments paid annually to the Midtown Authority for
administrative expenses of: (i) the City and the County in the amount of 5% of the annual
Contract Tax Increments; (ii) the Houston Independent School District in the amount of $25,000

-3-
#5157378.11



annually; and (iii) the Houston Community College District in the amount of $25,000 annually;
and (b) reductions in the Contract Tax Increments resulting from a Taxing Unit no longer being
obligated under its Participant Contract to pay Tax Increments to the City for the Midtown Zone.

“Certificate of Advance” shall mean a certificate(s) executed by Midtown and Developer
substantially in the form set forth as Exhibit E.

“City” ned in the preamble, is further defined as a municipal corporation and
ate of Texas principally situated in Harris County, acting by and through
iy Council.

costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and
ages, claims, actions, suits, causes of action, disputes, controversies,

shall mean, with respect to the Pearl Midtown
ons have been finalized by Developer and approved
:d all necessary Governmental Authorizations; (ii)
the General Contractor(s) and caused the General
as may be appropriate or necessary to commence
and (iv) actually commenced mobilization, site

Improvements, that the
by Midtown and that 2

Contractor(s) to en
preparation of the Constructi
groundbreaking or site grading

Improvements, the final completi®n of g onstruction, installation,
equipping and all other aspects of such improver i ordance with the Final
Plans and Specifications, all Applicable Laws ang this Agreement and
all Governmental Authorizations with respect to, d use, operation

and occupancy of the Pearl Midtown Improve i1)@With respect to the

respect to the Pearl Residences at Midtown Develo , i ificate of
occupancy issued by the City for the residential portion of the Pearl Residences atiVhi
Development and a temporary certificate of occupancy issued by the City for the re of
the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development allowing Whole Foods Market
tenant improvement work.

“Construction Contract(s)” shall mean that certain constructio act entered into by
Developer and General Contractor(s) pursuant to Section 4.01(a) provi for the construction,
equipping and installation of the Pearl Midtown Improvements, by the General Contractor under
the management and supervision of Developer in accordance with the Final Plans and
Specifications, all Applicable Laws and all other requirements of this Agreement.

“Construction Site” shall mean those portions of the Pearl Residences at Midtown
Development site, which are impacted by the construction of the Pearl Midtown Improvements
in accordance with the Construction Contract, the Final Plans and Specifications and this
Agreement.

4.
#5157378.11



“Contract Tax Increments” shall mean Tax Increments from time to time required to be
deposited by the Taxing Units into the Tax Increment Fund pursuant to the Act and payable to
and actually received by the Midtown Authority from the City pursuant to the Midtown
Agreement; provided however, for purposes of this Agreement the Tax Increment for the
Houston Independent School District shall be deemed to be in the amount of $303,333 for
calendar years 2017 — 2026 (“Deemed HISD Tax Increment”) based on a minimum ad valorem
tax valuation byghe Harris County Appraisal District of $70,000,000 for the Pearl Residences at
ot following Completion. In the event that the ad valorem tax valuation by

0,000,000 by virtue of Developer protest or otherwise, the Deemed
atically shall be reduced proportionally.

Developer pursuant to Section } i ] oject Costs.

“Development Standar®
obligations pursuant to this Agret

“Documents” shall mean notes, manua
databases, CD-Roms and diskettes, computer ag abulations, exhibits,
reports, underlying data, charts, analyses, maps, hs, all drawings
and plans and other work product that Develo reparation of, in
regard to the Work.

“Effective Date” shall mean [ . nce of
real property to Developer.]

“Event of Default” shall mean with respect to Developer those e
Section 6.01, and with respect to Midtown those events described in Sectio

“Executive Director” shall mean the then current executi irector of Midtown
Authority.

“Final Certificate of Advances” shall mean a certificate executed by Developer
substantially in the form set forth as Exhibit F.

“Final Completion Certificate” shall mean a certificate executed by Developer
substantially in the form set forth as Exhibit D.

-5-
#5157378.11



“Final Plans and Specifications” shall mean the Plans and Specifications prepared by
Developer and approved by the Midtown for the construction and installation of the Pearl
Midtown Improvements.

“General Contractor” shall mean the entity(ies) which enters into the Construction
Contract(s) with Developer for the construction of the Pearl Midtown Improvements.

gl Authority(ies)” shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign
hority or agency, court, tribunal, regulatory commission or other body,
2l or executive, or any quasi-governmental authority, agency or entity
utation thereof), and any arbitrator to whom a dispute has been

“Official Records” shalNng , ecords of Harris County, Texas.

“Outside Reimbursement Date” shall haV

idtown Zone, the
ity College and
er enacted or
isions with

“Participant Contract(s)” shall mean t
Midtown Authority, Houston Independent Schq
any other contracts, ordinances or orders heref€
entered into between the Midtown Authority an
respect to the payment by Taxing Units of Tax Incre

“Parties” or “Party” shall mean Midtown, the Zone and/or Developer, as &
“Pearl Midtown Improvements” shall have the meaning set forth in S
“Pearl Midtown ROW Project” shall have the meaning set forth

“Pearl Residences at Midtown Development” shall have the meaning set forth in the
Recitals.

“Pearl Rosemont Developer” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.02.

“Peqrl Rosemont Development Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section
3.02.
“Peqrl Rosemont ROW Project” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.02.

-6-
#5157378.11



“Person” shall mean any natural person, corporation, company, partnership, business
trust, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Plans and Specifications” shall mean the designs, plans and specifications for the
construction and installation of the Pear] Midtown Improvements.

e ROW Design Costs and certain other costs of planning, designing,
the Pearl Midtown Improvements in accordance with the Final Plans

the Pearl Midtown ROW Project and the Available
Tax Increment thr i ent Date, as further described in Section 5.03.

“Rosalie Street Imprové : ] offfcaning set forth in the Recitals and as
further described in an Excel file ation provided by Developer to Midtown
on September 21, 2016.

“ROW Design Costs” shall have the mea

“ROW Improvements” shall have the Mga
described in an Excel file and supporting inform
September 21, 2016.

“Subcontractors” shall mean the subcontractors, suppliers, professionals
engaged by General Contractor(s) as General Contractor(s) or Developer deem
design, engineering, development, construction and equipping of t
Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Contract, the Final P
and this Agreement.

nd Specifications

“Subcontracts” shall mean any and all contracts and agreements entered into by General
Contractor in connection with the performance of any of its obligations under the Construction
Contract relating to the design, engineering, development, construction and equlppmg of the
Pearl Midtown Improvements. Each of the Subcontracts shall provide for insurance and
indemnities in accordance with the Insurance, Release and Indemnification Requirements.

#5157378.11



“Tax Increments” shall mean with respect to each Taxing Unit in each year, to the extent
agreed to in each Participant Contract, the amount of funds paid to the City for the Midtown
Zone.

“Taxing Unit” shall mean the City, the County, the Houston Community College, the
Houston Independent School District and any other taxing unit that participates in the Midtown
Zone.

er” shall mean a grocery store featuring natural and organic foods
other presently existing Whole Foods markets, grocery stores and/or

as area as of the Effective Date, which is owned and operated
Corporation, or an Affiliate of Whole Foods Market, Inc.
] owner and operator of Whole Foods Market will be
hwest, L.P., a Texas limited partnership, which is an

“Work”
installations beco
Contract and the Final Plans
coordination, transportation,
obligations of Developer unde
of the Pearl Midtown Improve
the design, development and con

als, systems, equipment, appliances and other
idtown Improvements, pursuant to the Construction
a]l work, labor, services, supervision,
services required to perform the
il to the development and construction
g, design and engineering services for

where the context so
the singular herein
d vice versa.

1.02  Singular and Plural. Words use
permits, also include the plural and vice versa.
also apply to such words when used in the plura

2.01 Representation of the Midtown Authority. The Midtown Aut
represents to Developer that as of the date hereof:

(a) The Midtown Authority is duly authorized, created
standing under the laws of the State of Texas and is duly qualified and a
governmental functions and operations as contemplated by this Agree

zed to carry on the

(b) The Midtown Authority has the power, authority and legal right to enter
into and perform this Agreement and the execution, delivery and performance hereof (i) has been
duly authorized, will not violate any applicable judgment, order, law or regulation, and (ii) do
not constitute a default under, or, except, as provided in this Agreement, result in the creation of,
any lien, charge, encumbrance or security interest upon any assets of the Midtown Authority
under any agreement or instrument to which the Midtown Authority is a party or by which the
Midtown Authority or its assets may be bound or affected.

-8-
#5157378.11



(©) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Midtown Authority, and, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Midtown
Authority, enforceable in accordance with its terms except to the extent that (i) the enforceability
of such instruments may be limited by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or
other similar laws of general application in effect from time to time relating to or affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights, and (ii) certain equitable remedies, including specific
performance, ma#ike unavailable.

loper is duly authorized, created and existing and in good standing
of Delaware and is duly registered to transact business in the State of

ent, and the execution, delivery and performance
hereof (i) have beeg ill not, to the best of its knowledge, violate any
judgment, order, i applie to Developer, and (ii) do not constitute a default
under or result in { , charge, encumbrance or security interest upon any
assets of Developer under any, to which Developer is a party or by

(©) ac . dibycapital to perform its obligations under
this Agreement.

(d) This Agreement has been , i ed and delivered, and
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation g

(e) Developer is or will be the sole owner of the Pear] Residenc
Development and plans and intends to design, develop and construct the Pe
Midtown Development and the Pearl Midtown ROW Project. Developer
agrees that the foregoing representation is a material inducement for Mi
Agreement, and that Midtown’s obligation to pay the Reimbursemen
upon Completion of the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development a
Project.

to enter into this
pressly conditioned
Pearl Midtown ROW

® All improvements to Rosalie Street completed by Developer or its agents
or contractors prior to the Effective Date were completed in accordance with all Applicable
Laws, and Midtown and Midtown’s Designated Agent shall have the right to inspect such
improvements.  Accordingly, the Developer shall accommodate and cause the General
Contractor(s) to accommodate Midtown’s Designated Agent, after reasonably notice to

9.
#5157378.11



Developer, in conducting such site visits as Midtown deems necessary to inspect such
improvements.

(8) Developer is an Affiliate of the Pear]l Rosemont Developer.

ARTICLE 3
THE PROJECT

pject. The Pearl Midtown ROW Project shall be and include: (a) the
: and (b) the planning, engineering, design, construction, equipping
per of the Rosalie Street Improvements and the ROW Improvements

oper (“Pearl Rosemont Developer”), regarding a
is Street which will be developed as a

Drew Holdings, LBC, an Affili
1.038 tract located within the
153 unit residential apartme
Development Agreement”).
completion of certain right-o

elopment Agreement anticipates the
1 Rosemont ROW Project”) and the
Available Tax Increment in an amount

which shall not exceed the lesser of $1, 40 ) and the Available Tax
Increment, all as more fully described in the Pear : Agreement The total
reimbursements by Midtown to Developer for thg ct and to the Pearl

Rosemont Developer for the Pear]l Rosemont RG j i ed Five Million
Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($5,200,000.00

3.03 Additional Projects. This Agreem
development, land acquisition or other development activities not specifically de
unless this Agreement is amended to provide for such additional projects.

3.04 Midtown’s Right to Terminate. Notwithstanding any oth
Agreement Midtown, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall have the
days’ prior written notice to Developer, to terminate this Agreement if; eveloper does not
cause Completion of the Pear] Residences at Midtown Development'@nd the Pearl Midtown
ROW Project on or before forty-two (42) months from the Effective Date; or (b) Whole Foods
Market does not commence operations of a grocery store business in the retail portion of the
Pearl Residences at Midtown Development on or before twelve (12) months following
Completion of the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development; or (c) prior to the Outside
Reimbursement Date, Whole Foods Market ceases to operate a grocery store business in the
retail portion of the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development (excluding temporary cessations
for remodeling, for rebuilding or repairs following a casualty or condemnation, or by reason of a
force majeure event). Upon Midtown’s termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section,

-10-
#5157378.11



all rights and obligations of the Parties shall terminate and be of no further force or effect, except
for any applicable Insurance, Release and Indemnifications Requirements and any provisions of
this Agreement that contemplate performance after the expiration or termination of this
Agreement and the obligations of the Parties not fully performed at the expiration or termination
of this Agreement which shall not be deemed to be waived and shall survive termination of this

Agreement.

hall, in its sole and absolute discretion, have the right, upon thirty (30)
o Midtown, to terminate this Agreement if Developer does not cause
esidences at Midtown Development and the Pearl Midtown ROW
-two (42) months from the Effective Date. Upon Developer’s

ssuant to this Section, all rights and obligations of the Parties
ce or effect, except for any applicable Insurance, Release
any provisions of this Agreement that contemplate
ation of this Agreement and the obligations of the
Parties not fully perfor at th irati termination of this Agreement which shall not be
deemed to be waive ; i tion of this Agreement.

4,01 General Require < , to the planning, engineering, design,

into Construction
tallation of Pearl

(a)
Contract(s) with the General Contractor(s) provi
Midtown Improvements. The Construction Co

Midtown Improvements; (ii) insurance and inde isi ith the
Insurance, Release and Indemnification Requirements; and (iii) industry standard w, i
all Work.

(b) Construction of Pearl Midtown Improvements. In
Reimbursement of actual Project Costs, Developer agrees to cause Ge,
construct and install the Pearl Midtown Improvements in accordance he Final Plans and
Specifications, this Agreement, the Construction Contract(s) and all Applicable Laws and to
cause General Contractor(s) to provide and furnish all materials and services as and when
required in connection with Pearl Midtown Improvements. Developer shall be responsible for
obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from the City and other Governmental Authorities
having jurisdiction of the Pearl Midtown Improvements, and shall provide supervision and
construction management of all phases of construction of Pearl Midtown Improvements and
periodic reports of such construction to Midtown upon reasonable request and cause the General
Contractor(s) to perform all elements of this Agreement applicable to the construction of Pearl
Midtown Improvements.

Contractor(s) to

-11-
#5157378.11



() Compliance with Development Standard. Developer shall perform its
duties, responsibilities and obligations under this Agreement and shall cause the General
Contractor(s) to perform its duties, responsibilities and obligations in a diligent and careful
manner with the quality of services, skill, diligence, prudence and foresight at least equal to those
performed and practiced by other developers nationally recognized as developers of projects of
similar type, size and complexity to the Pearl Midtown Improvements (the “Development
Standard”).

ompliance with Applicable Laws. Developer shall comply and cause
o comply with all Applicable Laws in connection with performing its
id obligations under this Agreement, including the planning,
d construction of the Pearl Midtown Improvements.

] ents, Developer will make and cause the General
Contractor(s) to make i o comply with the City’s policy regarding the
participation of Ming S and Women Business Enterprises as such policy

: r shall maintain records and provide Midtown with
sction 4.02(d) and Section 5.02(f), showing (i) its
toglisadvantaged business enterprises, and
bly agreements, and support with and

a written report i
subcontracts, supply agreements
(ii) specific efforts to identify
to MWDBEs.

® Insurance, emni ion. Developer agrees to obtain
and maintain and/or cause the General Con ntractors to obtain and
maintain, as applicable, insurance and bonds i surance, Release and
Indemnification Requirements and to provide ) i uired coverage, in
form acceptable to Midtown in its sole disg i Work on the
Construction Site and as otherwise required by agrees to be
bound by the provisions in the Insurance, Release regarding
releases and indemnification which provisions shall of this
Agreement.

(2) Cooperation. Developer agrees that it will cooperate
will provide all necessary information to the Designated Agent of Midtown
connection with the Pear] Midtown ROW Project in order to assist the
with the Midtown Agreement, including without limitation the completj
therein.

consultants in
in complying
the audits required

h) Plans and_Specifications for the Pear] Midtown Improvements.
Developer shall prepare or cause to be prepared the Plans and Specifications for the Pearl
Midtown Improvements and submit the same to the Designated Agent of Midtown for approval.
Midtown shall approve or reject the proposed Plans and Specifications within ten (10) business
days of submission. In the event of the rejection of the Plans and Specifications, Midtown shall
include specific reasons for such rejection in writing. Midtown and Developer each agree to
exercise commercially reasonable efforts to promptly resolve any objections to the proposed

-12-
#5157378.11



Plans and Specifications. On approval of the Plans and Specifications by Midtown, the same
shall constitute the Final Plans and Specifications. Any modifications (other than corrective
changes) to the Final Plans and Specifications shall be submitted to the Designated Agent of
Midtown for approval. References in this Agreement to the Final Plans and Specifications shall
mean and include any modifications approved by Midtown. For purposes hereof, “corrective
changes” mean any necessary and reasonable changes required to correct defects or deficiencies
in constructio originally contemplated by the Plans and Specifications, or as may be
necessary to g guired permits, inspections or approvals from Governmental Authorities.

beontractors. Developer shall cause the General
Contractor(s) to solici ) e Subcontractors for all services, supplies and
equipment necessa i the Pearl Midtown Improvements in accordance
with the Construc g g Fi ans and Specifications and this Agreement.

(k) i with the demolition of any existing
improvements on Constructiog of the Construction Site and the
construction of the Pearl Developer shall cause the General

Contractor(s) and the Subcon § for the safety of workers, employees
um meets the Development

Standard and which in all cases is in compliari€
the General Contractor(s) and the Subcontractors, i equate precautions to
protect all Work in place, materials and equipmeg i
on or off the Construction Site) and all othe
against loss, damage and destruction.

)] Administrative and Financia
the General Contractor(s), as applicable, to establish and implement appropriate ad
and financial controls and procedures for the developing, constructing, installing
of the Pearl Midtown Improvements and perform management and developme
construction in accordance with the Development Standard and Cons
including the maintenance of a complete and detailed set of financi oks, records and
accounts relating to the Project Costs and the Pearl Midtown Improve . Upon at least five
(5) days prior written notice, Midtown shall have access to such finan€ial books, records and
accounts relating to the Project Costs and the Pearl Midtown Improvements at all times during
regular business hours, and Midtown and its representatives may inspect, duplicate and/or audit
such financial records at Midtown’s sole cost and expense.

(m)  Monitoring Progress of the Work. Midtown shall have the right, but not
a duty, to monitor the progress of the construction and installation of the Pearl Midtown
Improvements.  Accordingly, the Developer shall accommodate and cause the General
Contractor(s) to accommodate Midtown’s Designated Agent, after reasonably notice to

13-
#5157378.11



Developer, in conducting such site visits as may be necessary to verify that the Work is being
carried out in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications.

(n)  Records and Data. Developer shall assemble and retain for a period of
not less than two (2) years following the expiration of this Agreement or cause to be assembled
and so retained, all Construction Contracts, Subcontracts, agreements and other records, data and

e to the Work and the Pear]l Midtown ROW Project as may be necessary to
ser’s obligations hereunder, and such other records and data as are typically
pursuant to the Development Standard.

uction Obligations and Liabilities. After the Completion of the
ts in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Parties agree

e responsible for any Claims arising in connection with
ovements pursuant to the Construction Contract(s) or

Subcontracts; and

(b).
operation and maifffenance of
Midtown Improvements incl
replacements of the infrastruct
and electrical systems which ¢

esponsible for all aspects of the management,
sround Rosalie Street Improvements and the Pearl
g, without limitation: (i) all maintenance, repairs and
1mprovements g t, landscaping and related irrigation
Improvements; and (ii) the payment
poses and charges for electric utilities,

all in accordance with a mai or the Pearl Midtown Improvements
substantially in the form of Exhibit G (the nt”). The Maintenance
Agreement for the Project shall be executed B ered to Midtown for
recording in the Official Public Records of Real xas within ten (10)

days of Completion of the Pear] Midtown Imprqg . : rsement, neither
Midtown nor the City shall be responsible fo i 1
replacing any of the Pearl Midtown Improvements
with the same.

The provisions of this Section 4.02 and the covenants and agreements ¢
Maintenance Agreements shall survive the expiration or termination of the Agre

ARTICLE 5
PROJECT FINANCING AND FUNDING

5.01 Developer Advances. Prior to the Effective Date, Developer paid the Rosalie
Street Costs and ROW Design Costs as the initial Developer Advance constituting a portion of
the Project Costs. After the Effective Date, Developer shall advance, or cause to be advanced,
sufficient funds as such become due for all additional Project Costs arising in connection with
the Pearl Midtown ROW Project. Each Developer Advance shall be evidenced by Certificate of
Advance completed, executed and delivered by Developer to Midtown’s Designated Agent
within thirty (30) days of each Developer Advance with the exception of the Certificate of
Advance for the initial Developer Advance for the Rosalie Street Costs and ROW Design Costs

-14-
#5157378.11



which shall be delivered to Midtown’s Designated Agent on or before the Effective Date. In
addition to payment of the Project Costs, Developer shall pay to Midtown’s general counsel
$10,000.00 on or before the date of execution of this Agreement by Developer to compensate
Midtown for legal costs incurred in connection with the preparation and negotiation of this
Agreement.

payment;

, subcontractors, laborers, materialmen,
architects, engineef®and all othg 0 have performed work on or furnished materials to-
date have been paid in full, tog

certifying that all contractors, subg : ¢8Materialmen, architects, engineers and all
other parties who have performed Work on o ig
and

® evidence of MWDBE effg

5.03 Reimbursement. Upon Completio
Development and the Pearl Midtown ROW Pro
Maintenance Agreement, Developer shall submit the
amount of the actual Project Costs, and showing the schedule for payment of the Rei
over a period of nine (9) years. Midtown shall pay the Reimbursement fro
Increment subject to the limitations in the following sentence, beginning N,
year such Available Tax Increment is paid to Midtown following Co
Residences at Midtown Development and the Pearl Midtown ROW Proj d on November 1%
of each year thereafter for a period of nine (9) years (the “Outside Rei rsement Date™). The
total Reimbursement paid by Midtown for the Pear] Midtown ROW Project shall not exceed the
lesser of $3,800,000, the Project Costs and the Available Tax Increment for the Pear] Residences
at Midtown Development through and including the Outside Reimbursement Date. Developer
acknowledges that the Available Tax Increment for the Pearl Residences at Midtown
Development through and including the Outside Reimbursement Date may be less than the
actual Project Costs incurred by Developer. Developer further acknowledges that the total
reimbursements by Midtown to Developer for the Pear] Midtown ROW Project and to the Pearl
Rosemont Developer for the completion of and reimbursement for the Pearl Rosemont ROW
Project shall in no event exceed Five Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($5,200,000.00).

-15-

#5157378.11



5.04 Sale or Assignment. If prior to Completion of the Pear] Residences at Midtown
Development and the Pearl Midtown ROW PrOJect and the commencement of operations by
Whole Foods Market of a grocery store business in the retail portion of the Pearl Residences at
Midtown Development, Developer transfers or sells all or any portion of the Pearl Residences at
Midtown Development to any entity other than an Affiliate without Midtown’s prior written
approval, then Mldtown may terminate this Agreement, and upon such termination, Midtown
shall have no gation to pay the Reimbursement. Following Completion of the Pearl
Residences ag n Development and Pearl Midtown ROW Project and the commencement
of operatig oods Market of a grocery store business in the retail portion of the Pearl
Development, Developer (or any successor owner of the Pearl
velopment) shall have the right, without Midtown’s consent, (i) to
ion of the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development, provided that
esidential portion of the Pearl Residences at Midtown
not involve any assignment of this Agreement and/or the
gives written notice to Midtown of any such transfer or
] ame and contact information of the transferee, or (ii)
to transfer or sell the g dences at Midtown Development, or subsequent to
f i e Pearl Residences at Midtown Development, to
the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development
\ or indirect ownership interests in Developer or such
lowing conditions. J@weloper (or any successor owner of the
dtown written notice of any such sale
§ of the occurrence of the same along
sentence. In connection with any such
i this Agreement and the
Maintenance Agreement to a purchaser or trafSEEree ial portion of the Pearl

(including a sale or transfer of
successor owner), subject to the

Agreement, as applicable) unless and until Midtd
copy of the fully-executed assignment (which assi
purchaser or transferee of all obligations of Developer under this Agréement and/or
Agreement, as applicable, to the extent accruing from and after the date of such assj

n by the

of an estoppel certificate, if any, obtained from Whole Foods Markef§@’connection with such
sale or transfer. Developer (or any successor owner of the residential portion of the Pearl
Residences at Midtown Development) shall not be released from its obligations under this
Agreement and the Maintenance Agreement accruing prior to the date of any such sale or
transfer or after the date of any such sale or transfer if the foregoing conditions are not fully
satisfied. The foregoing notwithstanding, Developer shall be entitled to collaterally assign its
rights under this Agreement to a commercial bank or lender which provides financing for the
construction of the Pearl Residences at Midtown Development provided that Developer provides

-16-
#5157378.11



to Midtown a fully executed copy of any such collateral assignment and the name and contact
information of the commercial bank or lender.

5.05 [Intentionally Deleted.]

5.06 Ineligible Project Costs. Developer hereby agrees to bear the risk that any of the
Project Costs mags be determined to be ineligible under the Act by the Attorney General of the
State of Texag ourt of law with competent Jurlsdlctlon and further agrees that Midtown

osts is determined to be ineligible under the Act by the Attorney
as or a court of law with competent jurisdiction or is not included in

, or (ii) in the event there are not future repayments
to be made by Midtows SNate insufficient, Developer shall reimburse Midtown
for such amount owg i of receipt of an invoice from Midtown; provided
i arties hereto that this Section operate to deny

agreement or obligation

made or undertaken by Developer hereunder and i) is not cured within

thirty (30) days after Developer receives writte
reasonably capable of being cured within such
cure thereof within such 30-day period or fa
complete the same as soon as is reasonably possibl
after the breach or failure; or (b) Developer shall fi
Bankruptcy Code, or any similar state or federal law, or Developer shall make an assj
the benefit of creditors or be adjudged bankrupt or insolvent.

—_—

6.02 Remedies Upon Default by Developer. Upon the occurre
Default by Developer and while such remains uncured, Midtown may,
additional written notice to Developer, terminate this Agreement, or pu ny and all remedies
available to it at law or in equity including, without limitation, damages (but excluding the
remedy of specific performance, which is hereby expressly waived).

6.03 Default by Midtown. Midtown shall be in default hereunder (each an “Event of
Default”) if: (a) Midtown breaches or fails to perform any covenant, agreement or obligation
made or undertaken by Midtown hereunder and such breach or failure (i) is not cured within
thirty (30) days after Midtown receives written notice of the occurrence thereof; or (ii) if not
capable of being cured within such 30-day period, Midtown fails to commence to cure as soon as
reasonably possible after Midtown receives such written notice or so commences to cure, or fails

-17-
#5157378.11



thereafter to diligently pursue such cure and complete same as soon as is reasonably possible, but
in no event later than sixty (60) days after the breach or failure; or (b) Midtown shall file a
petition under any section of the Federal Bankruptcy Code, or any similar state or federal law, or
Midtown shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or be adjudged bankrupt or
insolvent.

nedies Upon Default by Midtown. Upon the occurrence of an Event of
and while such remains uncured, Developer may, upon thirty (30) days
> to Midtown, terminate this Agreement, or pursue any and all remedies

6.04
Default by

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each
d for in this Agreement shall be cumulative of and shall be

remedies provided for in this Agreement shall not
any Party of any or all other rights or remedies

any Party of any one o
preclude the simulta

or more instances (a) in
isting upon the strict
agreements under
shall any single

exercising any power, right or remedy under thi
performance by any other Party of such other Pa
this Agreement shall operate as a waiver, disc

strict performance, preclude any other or future exe
exercise of any other right, power or remedy. The covenants, obligations, and agre
defaulting and the rights and remedies of the other Parties upon a default shal
remain in full force and effect with respect to any subsequent breach, act or omi

6.08 [Effect of Termination. If Midtown or Developer el 0 terminate this
Agreement pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement s n the effective date
of such termination, terminate with respect to all future rights and obligations of performance
hereunder by the Parties (except for the rights and obligations herein that expressly are to survive
termination hereof). Termination of this Agreement shall not alter the then-existing Claims, if
any, of any Party for breaches of this Agreement occurring prior to such termination, and the

obligations of the Parties hereto with respect thereto shall survive termination.

6.09 Court Proceedings. Any suit, action or proceeding, which is permitted to be
brought by a Party against any other Patty arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any
transaction contemplated hereby or any judgment entered by any court in respect thereof shall be

-18-
#5157378.11



brought in any federal or state court located in the City, and each Party hereby submits to the
nonexclusive jurisdiction of such courts for the purpose of any such suit, action or proceeding.
To the extent that service of process by mail is permitted by Applicable Laws, each Party
irrevocably consents to the service of process in any such suit, action or proceeding in such
courts by the mailing of such process by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, at its
address for notice provided for pursuant to this Agreement. Each Party irrevocably agrees not to
assert any objec#ion that it may ever have to the laymg of venue of any such suit, actlon or

jon, suit or proceeding against the other Party arising out of or relating
transaction contemplated hereby except in a federal or state court

in this Agreement to “damages” means and refers to
ential, punitive or exemplary damages, and each Party
for consequential, punitive or exemplary damages

» keep such records relating to the
Project as may be reasonably i g eloper shall allow Midtown and its

: i itten notice reasonable access to the
I ompletion of construction of the Pearl
Midtown Improvements and to doCuments ar

control that Midtown deems necessary to assist i eveloper’s compliance
with this Agreement.

7.02 Developer Operations and Emp! ied or used by
Developer in the performance of this Agreement tractors of
Developer and will not be considered employees,

City for any purpose whatsoever. Developer shall be solely responsible for the comp on of

coverage of all worker’s compensation benefits.

y State law, no
agent of the City,
t of the Agreement.

7.03  Personal Liability of Public Officials. To the extent pe
director, officer, employee or agent of Midtown, and no officer, emplo
shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing

7.04 Notices. Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise expressly
required) shall be written and mailed, or sent by electronic transmission confirmed by mailing
written confirmation at substantially the same time as such electronic transmission, or personally
delivered to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses:

-19-
#5157378.11



If to Midtown:

Reinvestment Zone Number Two
City of Houston, Texas

410 Pierce Street, Suite 355
Houston, Texas 77002

irman, Board of Directors
tt@houstonmidtown.com

711 Louisiana Street, Su
Houston, Texas 77002-
EMAIL: Barron.Walla

If to Developer:

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTO
5606 South Rice Avenue

Houston, Texas 77081

Attn: J. Philip Morgan

EMAIL: philip@morgangroup.com

With copies to:

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC
5606 South Rice Avenue

Houston, Texas 77081

Attn: Rosalind M. McLeroy

EMAIL: rosalindm@morgangroup.com

Each Party may change its address by written notice in accordance with this Section. Any
communication addressed and mailed in accordance with this Section shall be deemed to be
given when so mailed, any notice so sent by electronic transmission shall be deemed to be given
when receipt of such transmission is acknowledged, and any communication so delivered in
person shall be deemed to be given when receipted for by, or actually received by, Midtown or
Developer, as applicable.

-20-
#5157378.11



7.05 Amendments and Waivers. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended
or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by Midtown and Developer.
No course of dealing on the part of Developer or Midtown, nor any failure or delay by Developer
or Midtown with respect to exercising any right, power or privilege of Developer or Midtown
under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, except as otherwise provided in this
Section.

7.06
shall be
provisig

. In the event that any of the provisions contained in this Agreement
sable in any respect, such unenforceability shall not affect any other

ir respective permitted successors and assigns) any
Aimaunder or in respect of this Agreement or any covenants,
herein or any standing or authority to enforce the terms and

legal or equitable right, remedy
conditions or provisions contaiy
provisions hereof. No Person
right to enforce this Agreemen

purposes stated herein, except that in the event o
such exhibits and the provisions of this Agreg
prevail. All titles or headings are only for t}
construed to have any effect or meaning as to e
reference herein to a Section or Subsection shall hg
Subsection of this Agreement unless otherwise stated-
be considered a reference to the applicable exhibit attached hereto unless otherwise s

of the provisions of
is Agreement shall
and shall not be

7.09 Construction. This Agreement is a contract made under and s
in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of Ameti
Texas, as such laws are now in effect.

7.10 Entire Agreement. This written agreement represents the final agreement
between the Parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or
subsequent oral agreements of the Parties. There are no unwritten oral agreements between the
Parties. All Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated herein by this reference for all purposes.

7.11 Term and Survival. Subject to earlier termination as provided herein, the term
of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall terminate as of the Outside
Reimbursement Date. Notwithstanding the expiration of the Term or earlier termination of this
Agreement, provisions of this Agreement and the Maintenance Agreements that contemplate

21-
#5157378.11



performance after the expiration or termination of this Agreement and the obligations of the
Parties not fully performed at the expiration or termination of this Agreement shall not be
deemed to be waived or merged into any documents executed prior to or on the expiration or
termination of this Agreement, but shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

7.12  Approval by the Parties. Whenever this Agreement requires or permits approval
or consent to bgghereafter given by any of the Parties, the Parties agree that such approval or

ury Trial. The Parties covenant and agree not to elect a trial by jury
ising under this Agreement triable by a jury and waiver any right to
it any such right shall not or hereafter exist.

Agreement nor any memorandum or notice hereof
arties.

t may be executed in several counterparts, each of
1 constitute one and the same instrument.

222-

#5157378.11



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this instrument to be duly
executed as of the Effective Date.

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY

By:
Name: Robert Sellingsloh
Title: Chair, Board of Directors

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN
OWNER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability

company

y:
Name: J. Philip Morgan
Title: VicggRresident

Signature Page to Development Agreement
#5157378



EXHIBIT A

Pear] Residences at Midtown Development Property Description and Depiction

Z0OS ROSALIE, a subdivision of 1.89 acres located in the Obedience Smith
ing to the plat thereof filed for record under Film Code No. 679338 of the
ounty, Texas.

All of PEARL
Survey, A-69

A-1

#5157378.11



T G L Y 1 RS e s
A R M U B FIEEC HpGrl L LI R I RO e HER l :
| f i ;;[E;' 5 {‘Hiﬂﬁlig T IR .‘_‘i.',;fl i r;g!s;j .P!kl' _a&l;:;!:;;;i; };}ii;é?;{ii
A, i SRR L K "'vl-l R LEA T : kst HATER N A S
PR :lyl: i ,s’}'l!i w0 EFII I Ly I;!J, Ilii’iilﬂﬁlﬂ’l st ‘lg“ﬂ i ii é%!;%i]hl's
AERRE i J .iH‘h LT ] :h IS TR Y i1 g [!, i :Ji;;i' h]!»’.i{f' -,"wli,' |-
BT e TR g ey
—_— L b 5 G R M) ekl 3 Bl
By il g RN g;ﬁ{; i ot !-’-5} | it ili gl'*!‘,ﬁ-iis
il2el (i 'ﬁ%‘ [l RV f ’;.:m‘ i 1 EE'; i 'l{f:,f
1 1‘(’;51," 1 .I!'“' JJ ll’; Ehb‘ ;m [} ill ”"-m v i }‘lljl vh‘:lll“}

B0 a et g 3
o we

e ngmiv g et

o=
»

AR T, T

=T
aiTin wRrid Wi way
. e Tom s

_.,.
-

LR P

i
Z3is 12

e ey i # T ) b e

rEle 123 1L

TJIVEOY SCZvyEd HY IS
e

A-2
#5157378.11



EXHIBIT B-1
Rosalie Street Improvements

Exhibit B-1(a) - Rosalie ROW / JRC - Incurred To Date |

Invoiced
Category Amount
Street Closure (demo/removal) $0.00
Relocate Utilities CP Power, Gas /Low
Voltage $0.00
Utility Abandonme $197,609.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$0.00

Exterior Landscape Light

Brazos Improvements

Rosalie ROW

Rosalie Letter of Credit

ROW Land Carry - Hold costs, taxes,
insurance

Design - Civil, Landscape, Lighting and

#5157378.11

permitting $47,073.78
Variance / Reimbursement Renderings $0.00
Bike Racks $0.00
Public Art Mural $0.00
Flood Gate $0.00
Detention $0.00
Legal (excluding fees of Midtown’s
counsel) $0.00
Move Bus Shelter & Run Power
Underground $0.00
Adjust Traffic Signa! Box $0.00
Lighting Consultant $0.00
Carry Costs (taxes, insurance, interest) $0.00
Development Fee $0.00
Genera! Conditions $0.00
Contingency $0.00
GC Fee $0.00
$1,041,591.00

| Exhibit B-1 (b) - Rosalie ROW / JRC - To Be Incurred

Estimated

Category Left to Draw
Street Closure (demo/removal) $ 87,500.00

Relocate Utilities CP Power, Gas
/Low Voltage $0.00
Utility Abandonment $ 66,355.00
Public Sanitary S -
Offsite Utilities/Storm/Water $ -
Concrete Paving $ -
Curb & Gutter $ -
Sidewalks $ -
Pavers $ -
Footings for Decorative Walls $ -
Landscaping/irrigation $ -
Masonry for decorative walls on S -

street
Bike Station Foundation and Power $ -
Exterior Landscape Lights $ -
Brazes Improvements 5 -
$15,365.00
e Letter of Credit S (602.22)
Land Carry - Hold costs, taxes,
[
e, Lighting

$10,283.71

Detention

wr | [ | |1
'

Legai (excluding fees of Midtown'’s
counse!)

Move Bus Shelter & Run Power
Underground

Adjust Traffic Signa! Box

Lighting Consultant s -
Carry Costs (taxes, insur.
interest) § -
Development Fee $42,000.00
General Conditions $20,000.00
Contingency $ -
GC Fee $23,541.08
$269,442.57



EXHIBIT B-2

ROW Improvements

Exhibit B-2(a) - Pearl Whole Foods ROW Improvements -

Incurred to Date

Exhibit B-2(b} - Pear! Whole Foods ROW Improvements -

To Be Incurred

Invoiced
Pgaie_gog Amount
Street Closure (demo/removal) $0.00
Relocate Utilities CP Pow, s /Low
Voltage $110,017.53
Utllity Abandonm $0.00
Public Sanita $0.00
Offsite Utj orm/Water $0.00
Concr, ing $0.00
Curb $0.00
Sidewalks $0.00
Pavers 0
Footings for Decorative Walls S
Landscaping/irrigation $4,546.
Masonry for decorative wall eet
Bike Station Foundation and Power 200
Exterior Landscape Lights $0.00

Brazos Improvements

Rosalie ROW

Rosalie Letter of Credit

ROW Land Carry - Hold costs, taxes,
insurance.

$0.00

Design - Civil, Landscape, Lighting and

Estimated
Category Left to Draw
Street Closure (demo/removal) $-- -
Relacate Utilities CP Power, Gas /Low

Voltage $407,351.47
Utility Abandonment G- n
Public Sanitary $70,650.00
Offsite Utilities/Storm/Water $168,097.00
Concrete Paving $50,000.00
Curb & Gutter $75,000.00
Sidewalks $85,000.00
Pavers $80,000.00
Footings for Decorative Walls $50,000.00
Landscaping/irrigation $195,453.50
Masonry for decorative walls on street $50,000.00
Bike Station Foundation and Power $14,000.00
erior Landscape Lights $85,000.00
s Improvements $263,903.20
§om

5o

old costs, taxes,

§om

$9,649.13

$0.00

$5,000.00

$20,000.00

Flood Gate

5o

permitting $150,350.88
Variance / Reimbursement Renderings $32,143.27
Bike Racks $0.00
Public Art Mural $0.00
Flood Gate $0.00
Detention $0.00
Legal (excluding fees of Midtown's counsel) $30,000.00
Move Bus Shelter & Run Power
Underground $0.00
Adjust Traffic Signal Box $0.00
Lighting Consultant $8,624.81
Carry Costs (taxes, insurance, interest) $0.00
Development Fee $42,978.15
Genera! Conditions $0.00
Contingency $0.00
GC Fee $27,353.29
$406,014.43

#5157378.11

Detention §--.m-

Lega! (excluding fees of Midtown’

counsel)

Move Bus Shelter & Run Po

Underground $25,000.00

Adjust Traffic Slgna! $7,500.00

Lighting Consultant $6,375.19

Carry Costs (taxes, Insurance, interest) G- e

Development Fee $30,249.85

Genera! Conditions $200,000.00

Contingency $100,000.00

GC Fee $84,722.66
$2,082,952.00




EXHIBIT C
Insurance, Release and Indemnification Requirements

1.01 Insurance. With no intent to limit Developer’s or General Contractor’s liability or
obligation for indemnification, insurance or bond requirements pursuant to the Construction
Contract or any other contractor’s liability or obligation for indemnification, Developer shall
provide and reqyire that each contractor providing work or service on the Pearl Midtown
ide and maintain certain insurance in full force and effect at all times during
earl Midtown Improvements and shall require that the City, the Midtown
own Zone are named as additional insureds under such insurance
ch policy shall have a certificate of authority to transact insurance
's rating of at least B+ and a Best’s Financial Size Category of Class
e most current edition Best’s Key Rating Guide, Property-Casualty

ust include the following coverages and limits of
liability:

Limit of Liability

Worker’s Compensati ry for Workers Compensation

Employer’s Liability

Comprehensive Commercial General
Liability: Including Broad Form in the
Coverage, Contractual Liability, Bodil
and Personal Injury, and Completed
Operations

Automobile Liability Insurance (for $1,000,000 combined single lj
automobiles used by the contractor inthe  occurrence
course of its performance under this

Agreement including employer’s non-

owned and hired auto coverage)

Professional Liability Coverage (for $500,000 per occurrence and
professional service contract only) $1,000,000 aggregate

Payment, Performance and Maintenance
Bonds in accordance with Section 1.01(L)
below

C-1
#5157378.11



Defense costs are excluded from the face amount of the policies. Aggregate limits are
per twelve (12) month policy periods unless otherwise indicated.

If the amount of any contract awarded by Developer to construct the Project shall exceed
$1,000,000, Developer shall contract with the contractor to maintain Commercial General
Liability coverage for at least twice the combined minimum limits specified above.

erage under this Agreement. The Midtown Authority Board’s actions
e Midtown Zone’s or Authority’s rights under this Agreement.

© y, except those for Workers’ Compensation,
Employer’s Liabilif§ga i bility, must name the Midtown Authority, the
Midtown Zone and agents, and employees) as additional insured parties
(D)  Deductibles. D, : Sible for and bear (or shall contract with

aims or losses to the extent of any
each contractor to waive) any claim it
ers, agents, or employees.

each applicable contractor ta
deductible amounts and waivesYg
may have for the same against the

(E)  Cancellation. Each policy must S i canceled, materially
modified, or nonrenewed unless the insurance g i i uthority 30 days’
advance written notice. To the extent feasik i
Developer shall (and shall contract with each cO i i i he Midtown
Authority within fifteen (15) days of the date on i y any pa inst such
person reduce the aggregate amount of coverage below the amounts réquired by this
In the alternative, the policy may contain an endorsement establishing a policy ag the
particular Project or location subject to this Agreement.

effect that the
wn Authority, its

® Subrogation. Each policy must contain an endorsement
issuer waives any claim or right of subrogation to recover against the
officers, agents, or employees.

(G)  Primary Insurance Endorsement. Each policy, except Workers’ Compensation
and Professional Liability (if any), must contain an endorsement that the policy is primary to any
other insurance available to the additional insured with respect to claims arising under this
Agreement.

#5157378.11



(H) Liability for Premium. Developer shall pay (or shall contract with contractors to
pay) all insurance premiums for coverage required by this section, and the Midtown Authority or
Zone shall not be obligated to pay any premiums.

¢9) General Contractors and Subcontractors. Notwithstanding the other provisions of
this section, the amount of coverage contracted to be provided by general contractors and
subcontractors shall be commensurate with the amount of the applicable general contract or
subcontract, but & no case less than $500,000 per occurrence. Developer shall provide (or shall
contracts wit al contractors and subcontractors to provide) copies of insurance certificates

rance. Promptly after the execution of this Agreement and from time
his Agreement at the request of the Midtown Authority, Developer

with an affidavit from Developer confirming that the
nce coverage maintained. If requested in writing by the

’s actual insurance policies. If Developer does not
comply with the requif€mc i idmyithe Midtown Authority, at its sole discretion, may
(1) suspend perfoz i uthority and begin procedures to terminate this

deduct the cost of the premiu rom amounts due to Developer under this Agreement. The
Midtown Authority shall nev o0 assert its right to terminate this
Agreement because of its acts ¢ iew of insurance documents.

(K)  Other Insurance. stee own Authority, Developer shall furnish
adequate evidence of Social Securi
applicable to Developer’s operations under this /

(L) Bonds. Developer shall provids i i mmencement of
Construction the following: (1) statutory pa

as the obligees.

1.02 Indemnification _and _ Release. DEVELOPER
INDEMNIFY, AND HOLD THE MIDTOWN AUTHORITY, T TOWN ZONE
AND THE CITY, THEIR AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, OFF S, AND LEGAL
REPRESENTATIVES (COLLECTIVELY, THE “INDEMNIFIED PERSONS”)
HARMLESS FOR ALL CLAIMS, CAUSES OF ACTION, LIABILITIES, FINES, AND
EXPENSES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ATTORNEYS’ FEES, COURT
COSTS, AND ALL OTHER DEFENSE COSTS AND INTEREST) FOR INJURY,
DEATH, DAMAGE, OR LOSS TO PERSONS OR PROPERTY SUSTAINED IN
CONNECTION WITH OR INCIDENTAL TO DEVELOPER’S PERFORMANCE
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THOSE
CAUSED BY:

DEFEND,

C-3

#5157378.11



(A) DEVELOPER’S AND/OR ITS AGENTS’, EMPLOYEES’, OFFICERS’,
DIRECTORS’, CONTRACTORS’, OR SUBCONTRACTORS’ (COLLECTIVELY,
“DEVELOPER’S”) ACTUAL OR ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE OR INTENTIONAL ACTS
OR OMISSIONS;

(B) THE INDEMNIFIED PERSONS’ AND DEVELOPER’S ACTUAL OR
ALLEGED CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE, WHETHER DEVELOPER IS IMMUNE
Y OR NOT; AND

THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT AND FOR
MENT TERMINATES.

P NIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE CITY

FOR ANY AND AL A E TO CITY PROPERTY ARISING OUT OF
: ID'ALL ACTS OR OMISSION OF DEVELOPER,

S, CONTRACTORS, SUBCONTRACTORS,

Notwithstanding any other ance, Release and Indemnification
Requirements or other provis ) Developer’s indemnification of all
Indemniﬁed Persons is limited Yo 8 egate; and (2) Developer shall not be
erson’s sole negligence;
and (3) Developer shall not be obligated to 1nde ; rsons to the extent that
any claims which might otherwise be subject to i i i esulted, in whole or

which could give rise to an indemnified loss, the receiving party shall give written
other party within 10 days. The notice must include a description of the indemnific

the indemnified loss. This notice shall not estop or prevent an Indemnified
asserting a different basis for indemnification or a different amount of inde
indicated in the initial notice. If an Indemnified Person does not provide
day period, it does not waive any right to indemnification except to th
prejudiced, suffers loss, or incurs expense because of the delay.

otice within the 10
ent that Developer is

Developer’s insurance company shall assume the defense of the claim at its own expense
with counsel chosen by it that is reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Person. Developer
shall then control the defense and any negotiations to settle the claim. Within 10 days after
receiving written notice of the indemnification request, Developer shall advise the Indemnified
Person as to whether or not it will defend the claim. If Developer does not assume the defense,

C-4

#5157378.11



the Indemnified Person shall assume and control the defense, and all defense expenses incurred
by it shall constitute an indemnification loss.

If Developer’s insurance company elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified Person may
retain separate counsel at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person to participate in
(but not control) the defense and to participate in (but not control) any settlement negotiations.
Developer may settle the claim without the consent or agreement of the Indemnified Person,
unless the settlement (i) would result in injunctive relief or other equitable remedies or otherwise
require the Ing ed Person to comply with restrictions or limitations that adversely affect the
Indemnified i) would require the Indemnified Person to pay amounts that Developer
iii) would not result in the Indemnified Person’s full and complete
the plaintiffs or claimants who are parties to or otherwise bound by

INDEMNIFIED PERSON FROM ALL LIABILITY
v OR LOSS TO PERSONS OR PROPERTY
SUSTA ITH OR INCIDENTAL TO PERFORMANCE
UNDER TE : THE INJURY, DEATH, DAMAGE, OR LOSS
IS CAUSED BY PERSON’S CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE
AND/OR THE N°S STRICT PRODUCTS LIABILITY OR
STRICT STAT A BUT NOT SUCH INDEMNIFIED PERSON’S
SOLE NEGLIGENCE OR OM ANY DAMAGE OR LOSS TO THE EXTENT
RESULTING FROM Tk NCE, RECKLESSNESS OR
INTENTIONAL ACT OR OMIS [ - IFIED PERSON.

DEVELOPER SHALL REQY ATS ACTORS ENGAGED BY IT TO
CONSTRUCT THE PEARL TS (AND THEIR
SUBCONTRACTORS) TO RELEASE A E INDEMNIFIED
PERSONS TO THE SAME EXTENT AND IN SAME FORM AS

ITS RELEASE OF AND INDEMNIT D PERSONS

HEREUNDER.

1.03 Release. DEVELOPER SHALL ALS
CONTRACTORS INDEMNIFY THE CITY, THE MIDTOWN AUTHORITY,
MIDTOWN ZONE AND THEIR RESPECTIVE OFFICIALS AND EMPLO
AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, CAUSE

ACTIVITY RELATED TO THE PEARL MIDTOWN IMPRO
SAME EXTENT AND IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FORM
AND INDEMNITY TO THE INDEMNIFIED PERSONS HEREU

S RELEASE OF

#5157378.11



EXHIBIT D

Form of Final Completion Certificate

Director of Public Works and Engineering

e meaning ascribed to the same in that certain

, 2016 by and among Midtown Redevelopment
DTOWN OWNER, LLC The final construction
as indicated in the attached

Authority and PEA
costs of the Pearl M
summary.

D-1

#5157378.11



EXHIBIT E
Form of Certificate of Advance

This Certificate is issued under that certain Development Agreement (the
“Development Agreement”) by and between the Midtown Redevelopment Authority (the
“Authority”) and PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC (“Developer”) dated
, 2016. Capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the meaning
Development Agreement.

ificate, and (ii) it has made the expenditures and completed the
of the relevant invoices and other appropriate documentation

: icate, the Authority represents that (i) the undersigned
has due corporate 3 : ificate and obligate the Authority to reimburse the

the expenditures and work describe

AGREED TO this

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTO
OWNER, LL.C
By:

By:
Name:
Title:

E-1
#5157378.11



EXHIBIT F
Form of Final Certificate of Advance

This Certificate is issued under that certain Development Agreement (the “Development
Agreement”) by and between the Midtown Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) and
CES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC (“Developer”) dated ,
| terms used in this Certificate shall have the meaning provided for in the

ences a total and final tabulation of the Developer advances under the
ent Agreement he amount of $ for the construction of the Pearl
pwn ROW Project.

ertificate, Developer represents that (i) the undersigned has the
due corp : ate, and (ii) it has made the expenditures and completed the
work desc if e relevant invoices and other appropriate documentation

has due corporate attthori ertificate and obligate the Authority to reimburse the
Developer Advances described n in accordance with _the Development Agreement, and (ii) it
approves the expenditures and is ate and the matters set forth in this
Certificate.

Both the Developer and thevA agree ytal Reimbursement shall be paid in nine (9)
Syl e Developer Advances being
the amount of the Available Tax Increment for each § itations in Section 5.03 of

the Agreement, as follows:

[Year 1 [Available Tax Increment]

Year 2 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 3 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 4 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 5 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 6 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 7 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 8 [Available Tax Increment]
Year 9 [Available Tax Increment]
F-1

#5157378.11



AGREED TO this day of ,

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY

By:
Name:
Title:

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN
OWNER, LLC

F-2

#5157378.11



EXHIBIT G
Form of Maintenance Agreement
MAINTENANCE COVENANTS

AINTENANCE COVENANTS (“Covenants”) are made by PEARL
IDTOWN OWNER, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“Owner”)
of the MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public non-
orporation created and organized under the provisions of Chapter 431,
, and authorized and approved by the City under Resolution No. 95-
(“Midtown”), acting by and through its governing body, the Board
behalf of the REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY

to and for th
profit log

rty located at 3120 Smith Street, Houston, Harris
County, Texas and ached hereto and incorporated herein (“Property”)
on which Owner has developed @ixed use project to be known as “Pearl Midtown Residences”
consisting of residential apa \
underground parking (“Projec

B. Midtown and OV
2016 regarding certai
Agreement”).

ertain Development Agreement dated
e Project (“Development

C. Pursuant to the Development
constructed, equipped and installed certain pavers,
decorative walls, public art, landscaping, lightin bike racks,

electrical and irrigation systems and related faciliti
adjacent to the Project and the adjoining public rights-of-way for Smith Street, Elgi et and
Brazos Street (‘ROW Improvements”), and Midtown has agreed to reimburs
certain costs for the ROW Improvements

D. In consideration of the covenants and agreements of Mid ursuant to the
Development Agreement, Owner has agreed to manage, operate a

Improvements for the Term (as hereinafter defined) and execute and re hese Covenants.

COVENANTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth in the
Development Agreement and these Covenants, Owner hereby agrees and declares that the
Property and each part thereof shall be subject to the following terms, covenants and restrictions.

1. Maintenance of ROW Improvements. Owner covenants and agrees, at its sole
cost and expense, to maintain in good condition and working order at all times the ROW
G-1

#5157378.11



Improvements. Owner’s maintenance obligations shall include, without limitation: (a) the
maintenance, repair, upkeep and replacement of all components of the ROW Improvements
including all (i) concrete, stone, crushed stone, gravel, brick pavers or other materials used for
sidewalks or walkways, (ii) sidewalks, walkways, driveways and curbs, (iii) ground cover, grass,
trees, shrubbery and other landscaping vegetation and materials, (iv) trash receptacles, benches,
bike racks and lamp posts, (v) irrigation and electrical, tree lighting systems and other decorative
lighting and (vij@public art; (b) the timely payment of all utility charges for irrigation and

trash and debris on or about the ROW Improvements. Owner shall
oyed or stolen components of the ROW Improvements with materials

In the event Owner does not perform its maintenance
remains uncured for a period of sixty (60) days after
ection 5 (or in the event of a casualty or other loss

reasonably necessa such maintenance obligations), Midtown, at its
the Owner’s obligations hereunder, cause such
ard recover from Owner the cost of same or pursue any

pay such costs within thirty (30) days of
panied by contractor invoices, paid

maintenance obligations to be pg
other remedy available at law o1
receipt of a written statement ¢

of, and be
signs. As
used herein, the term “Owner” shall mean the Ownet, i
holding title to the Property or any portion thereof. In the event at any time more th
holds title to the Property or any portion thereof, then, such parties shall be jointl
liable for the maintenance obligations herein set forth and such parties shall joj
rights of the Owner hereunder. Any party constituting the Owner that ceas
Property or any portion thereof shall be deemed released from the obli
under these Covenants to the extent such obligations arise from and the date such party
ceases to hold title to the Property or any portion thereof provided that an assignment and
assumption agreement (which includes an assumption by purchaser or transferee of all of
Owner’s obligations under these Covenants to the extent accruing from and after the date of such
assignment) is executed by the former Owner and successor Owner and recorded in the Official
Public Records of Harris County, Texas, and fully executed and recorded copies of such
assignment and assumption agreement and the deed to the successor Owner is provided to
Midtown with current contact information for the successor Owner. The Owner has (or may in
the future) establish a condominium board (the “Project Condominium Board”) with authority

G-2

#5157378.11



to manage, maintain and operate the ROW Improvements for the benefit of the owners and
occupants of the Project. Midtown expressly consents to the delegation of the Owner’s
obligations under this Agreement to the Project Condominium Board and agrees that
performance by the Project Condominium Board shall be deemed performance by the Owner;
provided however, in such event the Owner shall not be released from its obligations under these
Covenants.

Unless terminated earlier by Midtown or its successors or assigns, the
ts shall be the later to occur of (a) December 31, 2040; and (b) the
Zone.

y notice sent under these Covenants shall be written and mailed, or
ssion confirmed by mailing written confirmation at substantially the

Midtown Redevelopment Authority
410 Pierce Street, Suite 355
Houston, Texas 77002
Attn: Executive Director
Email: mattt@houstonmidtown.com

with copies to:

Barron F. Wallace

Bracewell LLP

711 Louisiana Street, Suite 2300
Houston, Texas 77002-2770
Email: Barron.Wallace@Bracewelllaw.com

If to Owner:

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC
5606 South Rice Avenue

Houston, Texas 77081

Attn: J. Philip Morgan

G-3

#5157378.11



Email; philip@morgangroup.com

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC
5606 South Rice Avenue

Houston, Texas 77081

Attn: Rosalind M. McLeroy

ail: rosalindm@morgangroup.com

the U.S. Postal Service, sent by certified mail, return receipt
any communication sent by nationally recognized overnight courier
inessday following deposit; and any communication delivered in

of these Covenants is held to be illegal, invalid or
unenforceable unde s, the legality, validity and enforceability of the
remaining provisie ] ot be affected thereby.

7. Governing Law hall be governed by and construed in

accordance with the laws of the

8. Construction.
have reviewed these Covenants a
ambiguities are to be resolved agamst the
interpretation of these Covenants.

9. Counterparts. These Covg
each of which shall be deemed an original.

10. No Third Party Beneficiaries.

these Covenants or of any of the right and privileges conferred herein.

11.  Amendments. These Covenants may be amended, sup
or otherwise modified only by a written instrument executed by Owner
respective successors and assigns.

idtown or their

12.  Entire Agreement. These Covenants and the Development Agreement
constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersede all prior written and oral agreements and understandings with respect to such subject
matter.

+

[Signatures on Following Page]

G-4

#5157378.11



These Covenants are executed to be effective as of the day of ,

OWNER

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN
OWNER, LLC.

By:
Name:
Title:

THE
COUNTY OF HARRI

This instr edge ore me on this day of s
, by of PEARL

RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN, ited liability company, on behalf of
said company.

3

ER, LLC, a Texa

#5157378.11



AUTHORITY
MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
By:

Name:
Title:

d before me on this day of , ,

tate of Texas
on Expires:

#5157378.11



EXHIBIT A

Description of Property

[To be inserted.]

#5157378.11



FIRST AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Development Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made as of
, 2020 by and among MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
. (“Midtown Authority” or “Midtown”), a public non-profit local government corporation created
and organized under the provisions of Chapter 431, Texas Transportation Code, and authorized
and approved by the City under Resolution No. 95-96 adopted on June 28, 1995, acting by and

Texas Tax Code, as amended, acting by and through its governing
(the “Midtown Zone Board”), and PEARL RESIDENCES AT
are limited liability company (“Developer”).

s creto and incorporated herein (the “Property”). All
ssly defined herein wibl have the meanings ascribed to them

an Affiliate of Developer, the retail portion of the particularly described on
Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein i : oper will continue

to own the remainder of the Property described g ibi o and incorporated
herein (the “Residential Unit”).

C. In connection with the conveyance of the Retail Unit, Developer an
Authority desite to amend the Agreement to clarify the rights and obligations with

the Available Tax Increment, among other things, pursuant to the terms and tions set forth

herein.

AGREEMENT

For and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, obligations, and benefits of
this Amendment, Midtown and Developer contract and agree as follows:

1. Assignment. Midtown acknowledges that Developer, pursuant to Section 5.04 of

the Agreement, has conveyed or will convey the Retail Unit to Retail Owner. The Retail Owner’s
contact information is as follows: 3000 Richmond Street, Houston, Texas 77098, Attn: Philip

First Amendment to Development Agreement — Page 1




Morgan (713-361-7241; philip@morgangroup.com) and Rosalind M. McLeroy (713-361-7227;
rosalindm@morgangroup.com).

2, Reimbursement. For purposes of clarity, despite the conveyance of the Retail Unit
from Developer to Retail Owner, Developer (and its permitted successors and assigns with respect
to the Residential Unit only) shall remain the only party entitled to receive the Reimbursement
pursuant to the Agreement. Retail Owner and any subsequent owner of the Retail Unit shall have

ertified appraised value of the Property through the Harris Cbunty
ess (the “Certified Value”). Developer may contest, in good faith
the Certified Value by filing a routine protest or lawsuit of

g of the appraised value of the Property (the “Final
ves a reimburseme
the taxes for the Property, Develg he Final Value to Midtown and the
Available Tax Increment and Reimb &) : question shall be recalculated based

Reimbursement Date (and, as such, Midtown is no i the Reimbursement),
Developer shall pay to Midtown the amount of any

Developer’s books and records pertinent
Developer which are not subject to privilege or ¢
inspection by Midtown or its representative upon reasonable notice. All such books
may be transmitted in electronic form.

4, Lender Assignment. The last sentence of Section 5.04 in the
deleted and replaced with the following: “The foregoing notwithstandi eveloper shall be
entitled to collaterally assign its rights under this Agreement to a commer ank or lender which
provides financing to Developer secured by a first lien on the Residential Unit (as defined in that
certain Condominium Declaration filed for record in Book 215, Page 975 of the Condominium
Records of Harris County, Texas and under Harris County Clerk’s File No. RP-2017-15223)
provided that Developer provides to Midtown Authority a fully-executed copy of any such
collateral assignment and the name and contact information of the commercial bank or lender.”

ment is hereby

First Amendment to Development Agreement — Page 2



5. Developer Notice Address. In the Developer’s notice addresses in Section 7.04 of
the Agreement, “5606 South Rice Avenue, Houston, Texas 77081” is hereby deleted and replaced
with “3000 Richmond Avenue, Houston, Texas 77098 in both instances.

6. Maintenance Agreement. Exhibit G attached to the Agreement is hereby deleted
in its entirety and replaced with Exhibit G attached hereto and made a part hereof.

7. i Agreement. The Agreement and this Amendment represent the final
parties hereto and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior,
ent oral agreements of the parties hereto. There are no unwritten oral
s hereto.

First Amendment to Development Agreement — Page 3




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Midtown and Developer have caused this Amendment to be
duly executed as of the date first written above.

MIDTOWN:

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY 4

Name: Al Odom
Title: Chair, Board of Directors

DEVELOPER:

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN
WNER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability

First Amendment to Development Agreement — Signature Page




EXHIBIT A
Legal Description of Property

All of Pear] Brazos Rosalie, a subdivision of 1.89 acres located in the Obedience Smith Survey A-
696, according to the plat recorded at Film Code No. 679338 of the Harris County Map Records.

Exhibit A




EXHIBIT B
Legal Description of Retail Unit

That certain Retail Unit, together with the Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the Retail
Unit, of PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN CONDOMINIUMS, a Condominium regime in
the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas, according to the Condominium Declaration filed for
record in Book 215g Page 975 of the Condominium Records of Harris County, Texas and under
Harris County ile No. RP-2017-15223,

Exhibit B



EXHIBIT C
Legal Description of Residential Unit

That certain Residential Unit, together with the Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the
Residential Unit, of PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN CONDOMINIUMS, a
Condominium regime in the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas, according to the
Condominium Declatation filed for record in Book 215, Page 975 of the Condominium Records
of Harris County, and under Harris County Clerk’s File No. RP-2017-15223.

Exhibit C




EXHIBIT G

Form of Maintenance Agreement
MAINTENANCE COVENANTS

These MAINTENANCE COVENANTS (“Covenants”) are made by PEARL
RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Owner”), to andder the benefit of the MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a
i government corporation created and organized under the provisions of

on June 28, 1995 (“Midtown”), acting by and through its governing
and acting on behalf of the REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER
» TEXAS, a tax increment investment zone created by the City of
hapte of the Texas Tax Code (“Midtown Zone”).

located at 3120 Smith Street, Houston, Harris
County, Texas and deg€ribe Fxhibi ed hereto and incorporated herein (“Property”)

consisting of residential apartmsg
underground parking (“Project”).

B. Owner has conveye ' ¢ i ‘ , LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compa: ) il portion of the Property as
more particularly described on Exhibit B attachedbi i ed herein (the “Retail

January 11, 2017, as amended, regarding certain ri
(“Development Agreement”),

D. Pursuant to the Development Agreement, Owner has pla
constructed, equipped and installed certain sidewalks, walkways, curbs, gutter 1s, decorative
walls, public art, landscaping, lighting, trash receptacles, benches, bik
irrigation systems and related facilities along the portion of the Propert ated adjacent to the
Project and the adjoining public rights-of-way for Smith Street, Elgin Street and Brazos Street
(“ROW Improvements”), and Midtown has agreed to reimburse Owner for certain costs for the
ROW Improvements.

E. In consideration of the covenants and agreements of Midtown pursuant to the
Development Agreement, Owner has agreed to manage, operate and maintain the ROW
Improvements for the Term (as hereinafter defined) and execute and record these Covenants.

COVENANTS

Exhibit G, Page 1




NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth in the
Development Agreement and these Covenants, Owner hereby agrees and declares that the Property
and each part thereof shall be subject to the following terms, covenants and restrictions.

1. Maintenance of ROW Improvements. Owner covenants and agrees, at its sole
cost and expense, to maintain in good condition and working order at all times the ROW
Improvements. Owner’s maintenance obligations shall include, without limitation: (a) the
maintenance, repaig, upkeep and replacement of all components of the ROW Improvements
including all (i) ¢, stone, crushed stone, gravel, brick pavers or other materials used for
sidewalks or i) sidewalks, walkways, driveways and curbs, (iii) ground cover, grass,
trees, shrub dscaping vegetation and materials, (iv) trash receptacles, benches,
bike rac d lamp posts, (V) irrigation and electrical, tree lighting systems and other decorative
1 (vi) public art; (B) the timely payment of all utility charges for irrigation and electrical

t the ROW Improvements. Owner shall replace any
s of the ROW Improvements with materials of
and quantity of the materials originally installed as

2. ¢
obligations hereunder and, if suc remains uncured for a period of sixty (60) days after
notice thereof is given in accord e event of a casualty or other loss
requiring restoration or replace ents such longer period as may be
reasonably necessary for Owner t

days of receipt-of a
, paid receipts, or

available at law or in equity. Owner shall pay suc
written statement of costs from Midtown, accomps
other reasonable documentation to substantiate the
of any such statement that is not timely paid by O9
percent (12%) or highest rate allowed by law.

3. ‘Covenants Run with the Land; Successors and Assigns. The terms
and agreements set forth in these Covenants shall run with the Residential Unit a
thereof (but not the Retail Unit) and shall be binding on all parties having any r1
in or to the Residential Unit or any part thereof, their heirs, successors and as
to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, Midtown or the Midtown Zo d their respective
successors and assigns. As used herein, the term “Owner” shall mean the @Wner, and the Owner’s
successors and assigns holding title to the Residential Unit or any portion thereof (but not the
Retail Unit). In the event at any time more than one party holds title to the Residential Unit or any
portion thereof, then, such parties shall be jointly and severally liable for the maintenance
obligations herein set forth and such parties shall jointly exercise any rights of the Owner
hereunder. Any party constituting the Owner that ceases to hold title to the Residential Unit or
any portion thereof shall be deemed released from the obligations of the Owner under these
Covenants to the extent such obligations arise from and after the date such party ceases to hold
title to the Property or any portion thereof provided that an assignment and assumption agreement
(which includes an assumption by purchaser or transferee of all of Owner’s obligations under these

, and shall inure

Exhibit G, Page 2




Covenants to the extent accruing from and after the date of such assignment) is executed by the
former Owner and successor Owner and recorded in the Official Public Records of Harris County,
Texas, and fully executed and recorded copies of such assignment and assumption agreement and
the deed to the successor Owner is provided to Midtown with current contact information for the
successor Owner. The Owner has (or may in the future) establish a condominium board (the
“Project Condominium Board”) with authority to manage, maintain and operate the ROW
Improvements for the benefit of the owners and occupants of the Project. Midtown expressly
consents to the delegation of the Owner’s obligations under this Agreement to the Project
Condominium Bg )

deemed perfq he Owner; provided however, in such event the Owner shall not be

5. .
sent by electronic transmi
same time as such elect
next business day de
addresses:

gr these Covenants shall be written and mailed, or
ailing written confirmation at substantially the
t by nationally recognized overnight courier for
ivered to the receiving party at the following

»If to Midtown;

" Reinvestment Zone
City of Houston, Texa
410 Pierce Street, Suite 355
Houston, Texas 77002
Attn: Chairman, Board of Directo
Email: mattt@houstonmidtown.cd

Midtown Redevelopment Authority
410 Pierce Street, Suite 355
Houston, Texas 77002

Attn: Executive Director

Email: mattt@houstonmidtown.com

with copies to:

Barron F. Wallace

Bracewell LLP

711 Louisiana Street, Suite 2300
Houston, Texas 77002-2770
Email: Barron.Wallace@Bracewelllaw.com

If to Owner:

Exhibit G, Page 3




PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC
3000 Richmond Avenue

‘Houston, Texas 77098

Attn: J. Philip Morgan

Email: philip@morgangroup.com

PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OWNER, LLC
ichmond Avenue
Texas 77098

accordance with this Section shall be deemed to be given
vice, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested,
¢ nationally recognized overnight courier shall be
deemed given osit; and any communication delivered in person
shall be deemed to be gi

the case may be.

6. Invalidity. If any provision of these Covenants is held to be illegal, invalid or
unenforceable under the present : /
remaining provisions of these Coj

7. Governing Law. a shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State 0 :

8. Construction. The parties acknow i heir counsel have
reviewed these Covenants and that the normal rule g ny ambiguities
are to be resolved against the drafting party shal
Covenants.

9. ‘Counterparts. These Covenants may be executed in multiple counte
of which shall be deemed an original.

10.  No Third Party Beneficiaries. The Owner and Midtown acl
that, except as expressly set forth herein, there are no intended third part ficiaries of these
Covenants or of any of the right and privileges conferred herein.

11.  Amendments. These Covenants may be amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified only by a written instrument executed by Owner and Midtown or their
respective successors and assigns.

12,  Entire Agreement. These Covenants and the Development Agreement constitute
the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior
written and oral agreements and understandings with respect to such subject matter.

Exhibit G, Page 4




, 2020.

These Covenants are executed to be effective as of
OWNER:
PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN

OWNER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

o

J. Philip Morgan, Vice President

ore me on thls/ D(}\day o& })AM_\ P ,

ARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN OXVNER

SEAL:
\\)\‘;g\‘\(“é;jo{/, LORI WiLLIakg
n:Notary Public, Btal

"O
ERY %ﬁ Comm. Expires €3
Notary 3 184

%, V» &
K243 £
”lnon\\\‘\

“““';;/,, LOR! WILLIAMS BANGS
o: Notary Public, State of Texas

/Y P,
":"\ \u Comm. Expires 03-24-2021
i Notary ID 1942037 _

Exhibit G, Page 5



AUTHORITY

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY,
a public npn-profit Jocal government corporation

Name:” 5] Odf D
Title: Chaar

¢fore me on this 3 o= day of Jan ,

, by . the Chaic of Midtown
Redevelopment Authori pcal government corporation created pursuant to
Chapter 431, Texas alf of said corporation. .

SEAL:

\°: My comwwoz\z EXPIRES |}
,,»~ NOVEMBE.R 17, 2021 g

Exhibit G, Page 6




EXHIBIT A
Legal Description of Property

All of Pear] Brazos Rosalie, a subdivision of 1.89 acres located in the Obedience Smith Survey A-
696, according to the plat recorded at Film Code No. 679338 of the Harris County Map Records.

Exhibit G, Page 7



EXHIBIT B
Legal Description of Retail Unit

That certain Retail Unit, together with the Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the Retail
Unit, of PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN CONDOMINIUMS, a Condominium regime in
the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas, according to the Condominium Declaration filed for
record in Book 215@Page 975 of the Condominium Records of Harris County, Texas and under
Harris County ile No. RP-2017-15223.

Exhibit G, Page 8




EXHIBIT C
Legal Description of Residential Unit

That certain Residential Unit, together with the Limited Common Elements appurtenant to the
Residential Unit, of PEARL RESIDENCES AT MIDTOWN CONDOMINIUMS, a
Condominium regime in the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas, according to the
Condominium Declaration filed for record in Book 215, Page 975 of the Condominium Records
of Harris Count and under Harris County Clerk’s File No. RP-2017-15223,

Exhibit G, Page 9



	AGENDA
	ZONE CONSENT AGENDAMINUTES
	MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OFTHE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
	FINANCIALS
	Profit & Loss
	Balance Sheet
	Operating Disbursements
	Affordable Housing Disbursements



	FY 2025 Budget
	Boynton- Houston CDC
	Capital Improvements Program
	STREET OVERLAY
	ARUP -URBAN REDEVELOPMENT PLAN
	ARUP Midtown Houston Lighting
	FIFA WORLD CUP 2026
	OJB LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
	Pearl Residences
	Draft_Zone Minutes 10.23.25(10895018.1).pdf
	MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS
	October 23, 2025

	Draft_MRA Minutes 10.23.2025(10895155.2).pdf
	MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
	October 23, 2025
	PUBLIC COMMENT
	Jermaine Potter of Daggett Development LLC spoke about his request to obtain additional funding for infrastructure costs and/or approval to restructure the Modern Palms affordable housing development to include market-rate homes as well as income-rest...
	Dr. Ruth Ollison of Beulah Land Community Church spoke about an anticipated affordable housing development in the Third Ward.
	CONSENT AGENDA FOR THE AUTHORITY
	MINUTES FOR AUGUST 19, 2025
	MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR AUGUST 31, 2025 AND SEPTEMBER 30, 2025
	CONTRACTUAL REIMBURSEMENT TO RICE MANAGEMENT COMPANY PURSUANT TO AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT





